Farmers' Guide to Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2 (CFAP 2) Second Edition

June 17, 2021

Farmer Legal Assistance Hotline 877-860-4349



Farmers' Legal Action Group

© Copyright 2021 Farmers' Legal Action Group, Inc.

Farmers' Guide to Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2 (CFAP 2)

Second Edition

June 17, 2021 Written by Stephen Carpenter and Lindsay Kuehn Copyedited by Wendy Reid

This Guide, and any update to it, is available at: http://www.flaginc.org/covid-19-guide/.

This publication was made possible, in part, with financial support from Farm Aid, the National Sustainable Agriculture Coalition, and by the support of individual contributions to Farmers' Legal Action Group. To help FLAG keep family farmers on the land and to support farmers' guides like this one, please consider making a tax-deductible donation by clicking here.

Farmer Legal Assistance Hotline 877-860-4349

Farmers' Legal Action Group 6 West Fifth Street, Suite 650 St. Paul, Minnesota 55102 (651) 223-5400 lawyers@flaginc.org www.flaginc.org



Scott W. Carlson Executive Director | Attorney

Stephen Carpenter Deputy Director | Senior Staff Attorney

Lynn A. Hayes Program Director | Senior Staff Attorney Lindsay R. Kuehn Staff Attorney

Wendy Reid Office & Grants Administrator

Dave Glenn Financial Manager | Accountant

These materials are not attorney-client legal advice and are intended to only provide general legal information. Farmers and others with specific questions should consult an attorney for advice regarding their particular situation.

With respect to any opinions, findings, conclusions, or recommendations expressed herein, Farmers' Legal Action Group, Inc., makes no warranty, express or implied, nor assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Users bear the sole responsibility for decisions affecting program participation and may want to consult other resources.

This Guide may be reprinted for educational purposes as long as Farmers' Legal Action Group is credited when reprinting. © Copyright 2021 Farmers' Legal Action Group, Inc.

Table of Contents

| | Page |
|-------|---|
| Chapt | er One: Introduction1 |
| I. | Deadline Extended |
| II. | CFAP 2 vs. CFAP 12 |
| A | CFAP 2 is Different from CFAP 12 |
| В. | Interaction of CFAP 2 and CFAP 12 |
| III. | Authority and Rules for CFAP 23 |
| A | Acts of Congress3 |
| В. | USDA Regulations4 |
| C. | Handbooks4 |
| D | Notices5 |
| E. | USDA CFAP Fact Sheets5 |
| F. | USDA Website for CFAP 25 |
| IV. | Summary of Recent Changes to CFAP 25 |
| A | CFAP 2 Application Signup Reopened April 5, 20215 |
| В. | New Commodities Now Eligible for CFAP 26 |
| | 1. Contract Farmers Now Eligible—Payments on Pause6 |
| | 2. Pullets Now Eligible6 |
| | 3. Turfgrass Sod Now Eligible |
| C. | CFAP 2 Sales Commodities Calculation Changes |
| D | CFAP 2 Price Trigger Crop Yield Calculation Change |
| E. | CFAP 2 Additional Payments for Price Trigger Crops and Flat-Rate Crops8 |
| V. | Guide Current Through May 31, 20218 |
| VI. | What This Guide Covers8 |
| Chapt | er Two: Farmer Eligibility for CFAP 29 |
| I. | Farmer Must be an Eligible Producer9 |
| A | Person or Legal Entity9 |
| | 1. Eligible Persons9 |
| | a. U.S. Citizen9 |
| | b. Resident Alien9 |
| | c. Foreign Person10 |

| 2 | 2. | Eligible Legal Entities | 11 |
|-----------|-----|--|----|
| | | a. Partnership | 12 |
| | | b. Tribe or Tribal Organization | 12 |
| | | c. Corporation and Limited Liability Company (LLC) | 12 |
| | | d. Cooperatives | 12 |
| | | e. Foreign Entity | 14 |
| В. | | Share in Risk of Producing Commodity | 15 |
| C. | | Ownership Interest—Except Contract Producers | 15 |
| D. | | Still in the Business of Farming | 15 |
| II. | Ado | ditional Farmer Eligibility Requirements | 15 |
| A. | | Conservation Compliance | 16 |
| В. | | Compliance with Adjusted Gross Income (AGI) Limitation | 16 |
| C. | | Compliance with Controlled Substance Rules | 17 |
| D. | | Not Need to Have Worked with USDA in the Past | 17 |
| Ε. | | Acreage Reports | 17 |
| F. | | Bankruptcy Does Not Affect Eligibility | 18 |
| III. | Ado | ditional Requirements for Contract Producers | 18 |
| A. | | Contract Producer Definition | 18 |
| 1 | • | Produced Under Contract | 18 |
| 2 | 2. | No Ownership of Commodity | 19 |
| 3 | 3. | Not Entitled to Share of Proceeds | 19 |
| В. | | Eligible Commodities of Contract Producers: Swine or Poultry | 19 |
| 1 | • | Swine | 19 |
| 2 | 2. | Poultry | 19 |
| C. | | Under Contract in Both 2019 and 2020 | 20 |
| D. | | Revenue from Contract | 20 |
| E. | | Had an Eligible Revenue Loss | 21 |
| 1 | • | Eligible Revenue Defined | 21 |
| 2 | 2. | Eligible Revenue Loss Defined | 21 |
| IV. | Wh | nen Farmers are Not Eligible for CFAP 2 | 21 |
| A. | | No Ownership Interest in Eligible Crop or Livestock—Except | |
| | | Contract Producers | 22 |
| В. | | Suspended, Debarred, or Excluded from Federal Programs | 22 |

| C. | Public Schools | 22 |
|-----------|--|----|
| D. | Governments | 23 |
| Chapter T | hree: Commodity Eligibility | 24 |
| I. Co | ommodity Defined | 24 |
| A. | Produced in the United States | 24 |
| В. | Intended to be Marketed for Commercial Production | 24 |
| C. | Designated by USDA as Eligible for CFAP | 25 |
| D. | USDA Decides Commodity Eligibility | 25 |
| 1. | USDA Created Lists of Eligible Commodities | 25 |
| 2. | Some Commodities for Certain Not Eligible | 25 |
| 3. | Adding Commodities | 25 |
| II. Fo | our Categories of Eligible Commodities | 25 |
| A. | Price Trigger Commodities | 26 |
| 1. | Price Trigger Livestock and Livestock Products | 26 |
| | a. Dairy | 26 |
| | (i) Eligible Dairy Operations | 27 |
| | (ii) Eligible Milk Production—Actual and Estimated | 27 |
| | (iii) Federal Dairy Programs Do Not Affect Eligibility | 28 |
| | (iv) Dissolved Dairy Operations | 28 |
| | (v) Joint Venture Dairy Operations | 28 |
| | (vi) Seasonal Dairies | 28 |
| | b. Eggs | 29 |
| | c. Broilers | 30 |
| | d. Price Trigger Livestock | 31 |
| | (i) Breeding Stock—Not Eligible | 31 |
| | (ii) Beef Cattle—Eligible | 32 |
| | (iii) Hogs and Pigs—Eligible | 32 |
| | (iv) Sheep and Lambs—Eligible | 33 |
| 2. | Price Trigger Crops | 33 |
| | a. Intended Uses of Price Trigger Crops | 33 |
| | (i) Forage | 34 |
| | (ii) Fresh | 34 |
| | (iii) Green Manure—Not Allowed | 34 |

| | (iv) Grain | 34 |
|----|---|----|
| | (v) Grazing—Not Allowed | 34 |
| | (vi) Left Standing—Not Allowed | 35 |
| | (vii) Processed | 35 |
| | (viii)Seed | 35 |
| | (ix) Silage | 35 |
| | b. Eligible Price Trigger Crops | 35 |
| | (i) Barley | 35 |
| | (ii) Corn | 36 |
| | (iii) Sorghum | 36 |
| | (iv) Dual Purpose Sorghum | 36 |
| | (v) Soybeans | 36 |
| | (vi) Sunflowers | 36 |
| | (vii) Upland Cotton | 36 |
| | (viii)Wheat | 36 |
| | c. Some Crops Not Eligible as Price Trigger Crops | 36 |
| | (i) Volunteer Crops—Not Eligible | 37 |
| | (ii) Prevented Planting—Not Eligible | 37 |
| | (iii) Experimental—Not Eligible | 37 |
| | d. Acreage Report and Eligible Acres for Price Trigger Crops | 37 |
| В. | Flat-Rate Crops | 38 |
| 1. | Eligible Flat-Rate Crops | 38 |
| 2. | Not Eligible as Flat-Rate Crops | 39 |
| | a. Prevented Planting, Experimental Acres, Volunteer Crops, | |
| | and Failed Acres | 39 |
| | (i) Prevented Planting—Not Eligible | 39 |
| | (ii) Experimental Crops—Not Eligible | 39 |
| | (iii) Volunteer Crops—Not Eligible | 40 |
| | b. Hay, Excluding Alfalfa, is Not Eligible as a Flat-Rate Crop | 40 |
| | c. Intended Uses of Crops that are Not Eligible for Flat-Rate Crops | 40 |
| | (i) Grazing | 40 |
| | (ii) Left Standing | 40 |
| | (iii) Green Manure | 41 |
| C. | Sales Commodities | 41 |
| | | |

| 1. | Sales Commodities—General Rules | 41 |
|----------|---|----|
| | a. General Eligibility of Sales Commodities | 41 |
| | b. What is Included in Eligible Sales for Sales Commodities | 42 |
| | c. Only Raw Commodities Grown by Farmer | 42 |
| | d. Documentation for Sales Commodities | 43 |
| 2. | Eligible Types of Sales Commodities | 44 |
| | a. Aquaculture | 44 |
| | b. Specialty Crops | 45 |
| | (i) Eligible Intended Uses of Sales-Based Crops | 45 |
| | (ii) Eligible Fruits | 46 |
| | (iii) Eligible Horticulture | 47 |
| | (iv) Eligible Vegetables | 47 |
| | (v) Eligible Tree Nuts | 48 |
| | (vi) Other Eligible Sales-Based Crops | 48 |
| | c. Nursery and Floriculture | 48 |
| | d. Other Livestock—Including Pullets | 49 |
| | e. Miscellaneous Commodities | 50 |
| | f. Tobacco | 51 |
| | g. Turfgrass Sod | 51 |
| D. | Contract Producer Commodities | 52 |
| 1. | Eligible Contract Grower Commodities | 52 |
| | a. Swine | 52 |
| | b. Poultry | 52 |
| 2. | Documentation for Contract Growers | 53 |
| III. Ine | ligible Commodities | 53 |
| A. | Certain Commodities Not Eligible for CFAP 2 | 53 |
| В. | Garden Production—Both Commercial and Home—NOT Eligible | 53 |
| 1. | No Definition | 54 |
| 2. | Not Required by Statute | 54 |
| 3. | No Further Explanation | 54 |
| 4. | What the Gardening Restriction Might Mean | 54 |
| | a. Up to USDA Officials | 54 |
| | b. Home Gardens Already Not Eligible | 55 |
| | c. Commercial Gardens Are at Issue | 55 |
| | | |

| | d. Who Might Be Affected | 55 |
|-----------|--|------------|
| | e. The Decision to Apply | 55 |
| | f. Appeals | 56 |
| Chapter F | Four: CFAP 2 Payments | 5 7 |
| I. Ca | alculating CFAP 2 Payments | 57 |
| A. | Payments for Price Trigger Commodities | 57 |
| 1. | Calculating Dairy Payments | 57 |
| 2. | Calculating Egg Payments | 59 |
| | a. Converting Eggs Still in the Shell to Pounds—Dried, Liquid, | |
| | and Frozen Eggs Only | 59 |
| | (i) Converting Eggs In the Shell to Pounds | 60 |
| | (ii) Converting Eggs Sold by the Case to Pounds | 60 |
| | (iii) Converting Eggs Sold by the Dozen to Pounds | 60 |
| | (iv) Converting Liquid/Frozen Eggs to Dried Eggs | 60 |
| | b. Egg Payment Calculation | 60 |
| 3. | Calculating Payments for Broilers | 61 |
| 4. | Calculating Payments for Price Trigger Livestock | 62 |
| 5. | Calculating Payments for Price Trigger Crops | 63 |
| | a. Determining APH or ARC-CO Yields | 63 |
| | (i) Farmer With a Weighted 2020 APH-Approved Yield | 64 |
| | (ii) Farmer Without a Weighted 2020 APH-Approved Yield | 64 |
| | b. Eligible Acres for Price Trigger Crops | 65 |
| | c. Minimum Payment Rate for Price Trigger Crops | 65 |
| | d. Payment Calculation for Price Trigger Crops | 65 |
| | e. Additional "Top-Up" Payment for Price Trigger Crops | 66 |
| В. | Payments for Flat-Rate Crops | 67 |
| 1. | Eligible Intended Uses for Flat-Rate Crops | 67 |
| 2. | Eligible Acres for Flat-Rate Crops | 67 |
| 3. | Minimum Payment Rate for Flat-Rate Crops | 67 |
| 4. | Calculating Payments for Flat-Rate Crops | 67 |
| 5. | Additional "Top-Up" Payment for Flat-Rate Crops | 68 |
| С. | Payments for Sales Crops | 68 |
| 1. | Based on 2019 Sales and Certain Indemnities | 68 |
| 2. | Only Sales of Raw Commodities Count | 69 |

| 3 | 3. Calculating Payments for Sales Crops | 69 |
|--------|---|----|
| D. | Payments for Contract Producers | 70 |
| II. | Payments Not Subject to USDA Offset | 71 |
| III. | Payments and Liens | 71 |
| IV. | Accepting CFAP Payments Means Authorizing Inspections | 71 |
| V. | Payment Limitations | 72 |
| Α. | General Rule—\$250,000 | 72 |
| В. | For Some Entities—\$500,000 or \$750,000 | 72 |
| C. | Attribution Rules | 73 |
| VI. | Federal Income Tax and CFAP 2 Payments | 73 |
| VII. | Heirs Property | 73 |
| Chapte | r Five: CFAP 2 Sign-Up and Application | 74 |
| I. | Sign-Up Period Reopened April 5, 2021 | 74 |
| II. | CFAP Application—Form AD-3117 | 74 |
| III. | One Application—May be Revised by Farmer and FSA | 74 |
| IV. | Farmer Self-Certification Required | 75 |
| V. | Ways to Apply—Online, Manually, Through Local FSA Office | 76 |
| VI. | USDA Assistance with Application—Call Center Available | 77 |
| VII. | Receipt for Service | 77 |
| VIII. | USDA Process for Reviewing CFAP Applications | 77 |
| Α. | Self-Certified by Farmer | 77 |
| В. | USDA Reviews to See if Application is "Reasonable" and "Accurate" | 77 |
| C. | USDA Can Ask for More Information | 78 |
| D. | Possible USDA Steps After Review of Application | 78 |
| 1 | . Approve Application | 78 |
| 2 | 2. Make "Adjustments" | 78 |
| 3 | 3. Deny Application | 79 |
| 4 | 4. Notice and Appeal Rights if Application is Adjusted or Denied | 79 |

| Chapter | Six: Required Eligibility Forms, Supporting Documentation, and | |
|----------|---|----|
| Addition | al Forms | 80 |
| I. F | Required Eligibility Forms | 80 |
| A. | CFAP 2 Application (Form AD-3117) | 80 |
| В. | Farm Operating Plan (Form CCC-902) | |
| C. | Average Adjusted Gross Income Statements (Form CCC-941 and, | |
| | if Applicable, Form CCC-942) | 81 |
| D. | Member Information Form—Legal Entities Only (Form CCC-901) | 82 |
| E. | Highly Erodible Land and Wetland Conservation Certification | |
| | (Form AD-1026) | 82 |
| 1. | Form AD-1026 | 82 |
| 2. | Farmers That Already Have a Certified Form AD-1026 on File | 83 |
| 3. | Farmers That Must Only Complete Part of Form AD-1026 | 83 |
| | a. No Interest in Agricultural Land | 83 |
| | b. Perennial Crops and No Farm Program Payments Except for CFAP 2 | 84 |
| 4. | Farmers That Must Complete the Entire Form AD-1026 | 85 |
| II. S | Supporting Documentation | 85 |
| A. | Farmer's Intent to Harvest, Transport, or Market | 85 |
| В. | Farmer's Ownership in Commodity | 86 |
| C. | Farmer's Risk in the Commodity | 86 |
| D. | Verification of Information Provided on Application | 86 |
| 1. | Dairy—Cow's Milk | 86 |
| 2. | Eggs | 86 |
| 3. | Broilers | 87 |
| 4. | Livestock | 87 |
| 5. | Sales Commodities | 87 |
| 6. | Contract Grower Commodities | 88 |
| III. A | Additional Forms | 88 |
| Α. | Customer Contact Information (Form AD-2047) | 88 |
| В. | Payment Eligibility and Payment Limitation (Form CCC-903) | 89 |
| C. | Banking and Direct Deposit Information Form (Form SF-3881)—Optional | 89 |
| D. | Socially Disadvantaged, Limited Resource, Beginning, and | |
| | Veteran Farmer or Rancher Certification (Form CCC-860)—Optional | 80 |

| IV. | Spot Checks | 89 |
|--------|---|------------|
| V. | Keep Documents for Three Years | 90 |
| VI. | Farm Numbers | 90 |
| Chapte | r Seven: Modifying Existing CFAP 2 Applications | 91 |
| I. | Farmers Who Previously Applied for Sales-Based Commodities and Received | |
| | Indemnities in 2019 | 91 |
| II. | Farmers Who Raise Pullets or Grow Turfgrass Sod | 91 |
| III. | Farmers Who Previously Applied for Price Trigger Commodities but | |
| | Did Not Have a 2020 APH Approved Yield | 92 |
| IV. | Contract Growers | 92 |
| Chapte | r Eight: CFAP 2 Appeals | 93 |
| I. | Appealable Adverse Decisions | 93 |
| II. | Non-Appealable Decisions | 94 |
| III. | Overview of Appeals Process and Options | 94 |
| A. | Request Mediation | 95 |
| В. | Request Reconsideration | |
| C. | Appeal to FSA County Committee | |
| D. | Appeal to FSA State Committee | |
| Ε. | Appeal to National Appeals Division (NAD) | |
| Chapte | r Nine: Discrimination is Illegal Filing a Complaint Against USDA | 9 7 |
| I. | The Bases of Illegal Discrimination | 97 |
| II. | Right to File a Complaint | 97 |
| III. | Discrimination Complaint Form | |
| IV. | Filing a Complaint | 98 |
| A. | Mail | - |
| В. | Fax | - |
| C. | Email—With Signed Complaint Attached | |
| V. | Help with the Discrimination Complaint Form | 90 |

| VI. | Deadline to File a Discrimination Claim: 180 Days | 99 |
|-------|---|-----|
| VII. | USDA Responses to Discrimination Complaints | 100 |
| VIII. | Mediation | 100 |
| IX. | Disability Claims Somewhat Different | 101 |
| X. | Checking the Status of a Complaint | 101 |
| XI. | Reprisals | 101 |
| XII. | USDA Reporting on Discrimination Complaints | 101 |
| XIII. | Proposed Realignment at USDA in 2018 | 102 |
| XIV. | A Realistic View of the USDA Discrimination Complaint Process | 103 |
| XV. | Lawsuit Also Possible: Beware of Statue of Limitations | 103 |

Chapter One: Introduction

On September 17, 2020, the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) announced the creation of the Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2 (CFAP 2). CFAP 2 is a direct payment program for farmers run by USDA. USDA says the purpose of CFAP 2 direct payments is to give assistance to farmers affected by the COVID-19 crisis. The original signup period for CFAP 2 began on September 21, 2020, and ended on December 11, 2020. The signup period was reopened on April 5, 2021.

This Farmers' Guide to the Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2 (CFAP 2), Second Edition, is intended to explain how CFAP 2 works.³

The introductory chapter describes very briefly the outlines of CFAP 2 and its background. Later chapters describe eligibility rules for CFAP 2 and how USDA says the program will work, including how payments will be calculated. In addition, this Second Edition of the Guide includes recent changes USDA has made to CFAP 2.4

I. Deadline Extended

Previously, the signup for CFAP 2 began on September 21, 2020, and ended on December 11, 2020.⁵ In a recent Notice, however, FSA re-opened the application period for CFAP 2 as of April 5, 2021.⁶ USDA says it will announce the end date of the signup period later, but it will remain open for at least sixty days.⁷

¹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59, 376, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7.C.F.R. § 9.4(a)(2)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.B (April 14, 2021).

FSA Notice CFAP-15, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) Policy Updates, (March 23, 2021); USDA, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program FAQ (CFAP FAQ), Frequently Asked Questions, "When does the reopening of the CFAP 2 signup start and end?" (April 22, 2021).

³ Thanks to Farm Aid, the National Sustainable Agriculture Coalition (NSAC), the Intertribal Agriculture Council (IAC), and the Indigenous Food and Agriculture Initiative (IFAI) for helpful suggestions.

⁴ USDA Press Release No. 0008.21, USDA Offers Additional Assistance for Certain Producers Through Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (April 14, 2021), at: https://www.usda.gov/media/press-releases/2021/01/15/usda-offers-additional-assistance-certain-producers-through.

⁵ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59, 376, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7.C.F.R. § 9.4(a)(2)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.B (April 14, 2021).

FSA Notice CFAP-15, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) Policy Updates, (March 23, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "When does the reopening of the CFAP 2 signup start and end?" (April 22, 2021).

FSA Notice CFAP-15, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) Policy Updates, (March 23, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "When does the reopening of the CFAP 2 signup start and end?" (April 22, 2021); USDA CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 1 (April 27, 2021); USDA, After Identifying Gaps in Previous Aid, USDA Announces 'Pandemic Assistance for Producers' to Distribute Resources More Equitably (March 24, 2021), at: https://www.fsa.usda.gov/state-offices/Minnesota/news-releases/2021/after-identifying-gaps-in-previous-aid-usda-announces-pandemic-assistance-for-producers-to-distribute-resources-more-equitably. See, as well, FSA Notice CFAP- 18, Approval of CARES Act-Funded Applications for Tobacco Only (April 19, 2021), and USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I grow tobacco on my farm. Will I receive a payment?" (April 22, 2021).

II. CFAP 2 vs. CFAP 1

This Guide describes the rules for CFAP 2, including changes made by the 2021 Appropriations Act. Earlier in 2020, USDA created a program with a similar purpose—to help farmers affected by COVID-19. That earlier program was initially called the Coronavirus Food Assistance Program, or CFAP. It is now being called CFAP 1 by USDA. This Guide will use the acronyms CFAP 1 and CFAP 2 as well.

A. CFAP 2 is Different from CFAP 1

Although both CFAP 2 and CFAP 1 are intended to help farmers facing COIVD-19, they are completely different programs.

With very limited exceptions, CFAP 1 is completed, and USDA is not accepting any new CFAP 1 applications. For information on CFAP 1, including deadlines and other details, see the FLAG publication, Farmers' Guide to the Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP), Third Edition. 9

B. Interaction of CFAP 2 and CFAP 1

As a practical matter, CFAP 2 and CFAP 1 are almost completely separate from one another. A number of the rules for the two programs are similar. The application forms look similar, but many of the most important rules are quite different, including the time period that is taken into account for payments.

The interaction of the two programs works the following way.

First, if a farmer applied for CFAP 1, and wants to participate in CFAP 2, the farmer must apply again. ¹⁰ An application for CFAP 1 does not mean the farmer is automatically signed-up for CFAP 2.

Second, if a farmer applied for CFAP 1 and was not eligible for a payment, the farmer can still apply for CFAP 2. In fact, for many farmers that found CFAP 1 not helpful, CFAP 2 could provide a significant benefit.

Recent changes to CFAP 1 have increased payments for hog and pig producers. See CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4877 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021). For additional details on these changes, see FLAG's Farmers' Guide to 2021 CFAP Changes: Contract Farmers and Others, available for download at: http://www.flaginc.org/2021/02/farmers-guide-to-2021-cfap-changes-contract-farmers-and-others-february-18-2021/. Some producers who previously applied for CFAP 1 may also be eligible for increased payments for eligible cattle. See FSA Notice CFAP-16, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP 1) Cattle Inventory Review of AD-3115's Before Cattle "Top Up" Payments (April 1, 2021), at: https://www.fsa.usda.gov/Internet/FSA Notice/cfap 16.pdf. Farmers who previously applied for CFAP 1 for hogs, pigs, or cattle do not need to take any actions in order to receive the increased payments. See CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4877 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I applied for CFAP 1 and received payments for my cattle. Do I need to do anything to receive the increased payment?" (April 22, 2021).

The Third Edition of the Farmers' Guide to the Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP), is available for download at: http://www.flaginc.org/2020/10/farmers-guide-to-the-coronavirus-food-assistance-program-cfap-3rd-edition-october-23-2020/.

USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I applied for CFAP 1. Do I need to apply for CFAP 2?" (November 2, 2020). This question no longer appears on the USDA FAQ page.

Third, if a farmer did not apply for CFAP 1, the farmer can still apply for CFAP 2. ¹¹ There is no requirement that a farmer who is interested in CFAP 2 have applied for CFAP 1. As noted above, for many farmers that found CFAP 1 not helpful, CFAP 2 could provide a significant benefit.

III. Authority and Rules for CFAP 2

CFAP 2 is carried out by the USDA Farm Service Agency (FSA). ¹² The USDA's Agricultural Marketing Service (AMS) assists FSA.

The authority and rules for CFAP 2 that are discussed in this Guide are found in several places.

A. Acts of Congress

The following Acts of Congress govern CFAP 2.

1. Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021

On December 27, 2020, the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021 (2021 Appropriations Act), became law. ¹³ The 2021 Appropriations Act gave more money to CFAP. ¹⁴ It also changed some of the rules for CFAP 1 and CFAP 2. ¹⁵

This Guide refers to this as the "2021 Appropriations Act."

2. Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (March 27, 2020)

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, which became law on March 27, 2020, first created CFAP—what is now known as CFAP 1.¹⁶ For CFAP 2, the CARES Act provides authority for the USDA to assist tobacco farmers.¹⁷

This Guide refers to this as the "CARES Act."

USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I applied for CFAP 1. Do I need to apply for CFAP 2?" (November 2, 2020). This question no longer appears on the USDA FAQ page.

¹² CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,825 (May 21, 2020) (prefatory comments).

Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021 (2021 Appropriations Act), 116 Pub. Law 260 (December 27, 2020). As a bill it was known as H.R. 133. A copy can be found here: https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/house-bill/133/text.

¹⁴ 2021 Appropriations Act § 751 (December 27, 2020).

¹⁵ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4877 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021). USDA says more changes are coming.

¹⁶ CARES Act § 1102 (March 27, 2020). The CARES Act is the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, 116 Public Law 136, 134 Stat. 281 (March 27, 2020). As a bill, it was known as H.R. 748 (March 27, 2020). A copy can be found here: https://www.congress.gov/116/bills/hr748/BILLS-116hr748enr.pdf.

Funds for tobacco farmers comes from the CARES Act. CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-1, para. 211.B (April 14, 2021). For the CARES Act, see CARES Act, Division B—Emergency Appropriations for Coronavirus Health Response and Agency Operations, Title I, Agricultural Programs, Office of the Secretary, 116 Public Law 136, 134 Stat. 281 (March 27, 2020). A copy can be found here: https://www.congress.gov/116/bills/hr748/BILLS-116hr748enr.pdf.

3. Commodity Credit Corporation (CCC) Charter

Most of the money for CFAP 2 goes through the Commodity Credit Corporation (CCC). Federal statutes governing the CCC set some limits on how the money can be used. In general, however, CCC authority is very broad. In general, broad.

B. USDA Regulations

Regulations for CFAP 2 can be found in various rules published in the Federal Register. The first rule specifically addressing CFAP 2 was published on September 22, 2020. More recent changes affecting CFAP 2 were published on January 19, 2021. Those regulations will eventually become a part of the Code of Federal Regulations.

C. Handbooks

FSA issues Handbooks that control many aspects of various FSA programs. FSA first issued a Handbook for CFAP 2 on September 17, 2020. ²⁴ On April 14, 2021, USDA revised its CFAP 2 Handbook. ²⁵ This revised CFAP-2 Handbook adopts many of the changes made in the 2021 Appropriations Act. The Handbook also includes changes by USDA based on USDA's authority to set the rules for CFAP. ²⁶ USDA says these changes were made in response to USDA's ongoing evaluation of CFAP and on USDA's understanding of farmer need.

FSA also relies on other Handbooks to set part of the CFAP 2 rules.²⁷

The breadth of CCC authority is discussed in Congressional Research Service, The Commodity Credit Corporation (CCC), Report No. 44606 (January 14, 2021), at: https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R44606.pdf.

For these limits under the CCC Charter Act, see 15 U.S.C. § 714c. The breadth of CCC authority is discussed in Congressional Research Service, The Commodity Credit Corporation (CCC), Report No. 44606 (January 14, 2021).

- USDA relies on 15 U.S.C. § 714b of the CCC charter for authority to create the CFAP program. CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,825 (May 21, 2020) (prefatory comments). USDA describes the use of CCC funds in CFAP as intended to "assist producers with the purchase of materials and facilities required in connection with the marketing of agricultural commodities and to remove surplus commodities from normal marketing channels that may be currently unavailable." CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,825 (May 21, 2020) (prefatory comments). This somewhat strange wording tracks USDA's legislative authority under the CCC Charter. See 15 U.S.C. § 714c. As is often noted, USDA believes it has a great deal of flexibility in its use of CCC funds.
- USDA, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP 2 Rule), 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. pt. 9).
- USDA, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program; Additional Assistance (CFAP Additional Assistance Rule), 86 Fed. Reg. 4877 (January 19, 2021) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. pt. 9).
- ²³ CFAP 2 regulations will be found at 7 C.F.R. Part 9.
- See FSA Handbook, 3-CFAP, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2 (September 17, 2020), at: https://www.fsa.usda.gov/Internet/FSAFile/3-cfap roo ao1.pdf.
- FSA Handbook, 3-CFAP, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2 (April 14, 2021) (CFAP 2 Handbook), at: https://www.fsa.usda.gov/Internet/FSA File/3-cfap roo ao5.pdf.
- ²⁶ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021).
- For example, some CFAP eligibility rules for foreign persons come from FSA Handbook, 5-PL (Amendment 6), Payment Eligibility, Payment Limitation, and Average Adjusted Gross Income Agricultural Act of 2014 (October 2, 2019). FSA Handbooks can be found here: https://www.fsa.usda.gov/programs-and-services/laws-and-regulations/handbooks/index.

D. Notices

FSA sometimes issues what it calls Notices. These provide additional rules that govern FSA programs. Notices have a published date, as well as a disposal, or expiration, date.²⁸ The most recent Notices impacting CFAP 2 were issued on March 23, 2021, and April 19, 2021.²⁹ This Guide includes Notices released to the public by USDA through May 31, 2021.

E. USDA CFAP Fact Sheets

USDA sometimes issues Fact Sheets on CFAP 2. The Fact Sheets can be found on the USDA website, and are sometimes updated.³⁰ The most recent general CFAP 2 Fact Sheet is dated April 27, 2021.

F. USDA Website for CFAP 2

USDA sometimes sets policy for CFAP 2 and other programs through the USDA website for CFAP 2.³¹ Among other things, the CFAP 2 website provides information on each type of eligible commodity.³² The website also has a Frequently Asked Questions page that is occasionally updated,³³ and has detailed information on how to apply for the program.³⁴ At times, the USDA website has had a CFAP 2 Eligible Commodities Finder that allows farmers to determine whether their specific crops are eligible for CFAP 2.³⁵

IV. Summary of Recent Changes to CFAP 2

The following sections briefly describe some of the recent changes to CFAP 2 discussed in this Guide.

A. CFAP 2 Application Signup Reopened April 5, 2021

The original signup period for CFAP 2 began on September 21, 2020, and ended on December 11, 2020.³⁶ USDA later extended the deadline for some farmers—including contract producers and farmers raising pullets or turfgrass sod—until February 26, 2021.³⁷

See, for example, FSA Notice CFAP-11, CFAP 2 Definition of Contract Grower, (October 5, 2020). Notices may be downloaded from the FSA website. To search for downloadable FSA Notices, visit https://www.fsa.usda.gov/FSA/notices.

FSA Notice CFAP-18, Approval of CARES Act-Funded Applications for Tobacco Only (April 19, 2021). FSA Notice CFAP-15, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) Policy Updates (March 23, 2021).

USDA, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2 Fact Sheet (April 27, 2021), at https://www.farmers.gov/sites/default/files/documents/cfap2-factsheet-04272021-english.pdf.

The main website for CFAP 2 can be found at: https://www.farmers.gov/pandemic-assistance/cfap.

³² See USDA, CFAP 2: Eligible and Ineligible Commodities (May 31, 2021), at https://www.farmers.gov/cfap2/commodities.

See USDA, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program FAQ (CFAP FAQ), Frequently Asked Questions (May 31, 2021), at: https://www.farmers.gov/cfap/faq.

See USDA, Apply for Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2 (May 31, 2021), at: https://www.farmers.gov/cfap/apply.

³⁵ At present, the USDA CFAP 2 Eligible Commodities Finder is not on the USDA website.

³⁶ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59, 376, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7.C.F.R. § 9.4(a)(2)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "When does the reopening of the CFAP 2 signup start and end?" (April 22, 2021); CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 1 (April 27, 2021).

³⁷ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.B (April 14, 2021).

Most recently, the CFAP 2 signup period was reopened on April 5, 2021 for all eligible farmers.³⁸ USDA says the new deadline to apply for CFAP 2 will be announced at a later date, but it will remain open for at least sixty days.³⁹

B. New Commodities Now Eligible for CFAP 2

For CFAP 2, new rules have added the following eligible commodities.⁴⁰

1. Contract Farmers Now Eligible—Payments on Pause

Contract producers of swine and poultry are now eligible for CFAP 2.41 This means that contract producers of hogs, pigs, broilers, pullets, layers, chicken eggs, and turkeys may now apply for CFAP 2 assistance. However, USDA has put a pause on payments for contract producers "while the CFAP Program is under review." 42 USDA says it will still accept CFAP 2 applications from contract producers, and that once a decision has been reached by USDA it will provide at least an additional thirty days for contract producers to sign up for the program.

2. Pullets Now Eligible

Pullets are now eligible for CFAP 2 as a sales commodity and farmers can apply for CFAP 2 for pullets just as they would for any other eligible commodity.⁴³ They are considered "other livestock" by USDA.⁴⁴

Because pullets were not an eligible commodity until recently, farmers who previously applied to CFAP 2 may modify their applications to include pullets.⁴⁵ To do so, USDA says farmers should contact their local USDA Service Center. Chapter Seven of this Guide describes modifying an existing application.

³⁸ FSA Notice CFAP-15, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) Policy Updates, (March 23, 2021).

FSA Notice CFAP-15, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) Policy Updates, (March 23, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "When does the reopening of the CFAP 2 signup start and end?" (April 22, 2021); USDA, After Identifying Gaps in Previous Aid, USDA Announces 'Pandemic Assistance for Producers' to Distribute Resources More Equitably (March 24, 2021), at: https://www.fsa.usda.gov/state-offices/Minnesota/news-releases/2021/after-identifying-gaps-in-previous-aid-usda-announces-pandemic-assistance-for-producers-to-distribute-resources-more-equitably.

⁴⁰ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021).

⁴¹ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.A, page 9-1, para. 300.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Are contract livestock producers eligible for CFAP?" (April 22, 2021); USDA, CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 1-2 (April 27, 2021).

⁴² USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Are contract livestock producers eligible for CFAP?" (April 22, 2021).

⁴³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.B, page 2-15, para. 22.A, page 3-3, para. 50.C, page 3-7, para. 51.E, page 7-21, para. 221.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What commodities and livestock are eligible for CFAP 2?" (April 22, 2021).

⁴⁴ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7. C.F.R. § 9.201) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-21, para. 221.A (April 14, 2021).

USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I applied for CFAP 2, but I also raise pullets or grow turfgrass sod. Do I submit a new application or modify an existing one for payments on those newly eligible commodities?" (April 22, 2021).

3. Turfgrass Sod Now Eligible

Turfgrass sod is now eligible for CFAP 2 as a sales commodity and farmers can apply for CFAP 2 for turfgrass sod just as they would for any other eligible commodity.⁴⁶

Because turfgrass sod was not an eligible commodity until recently, farmers who previously applied to CFAP 2 may modify their applications to include turfgrass sod.⁴⁷ To do so, USDA says farmers should contact their local USDA Service Center. Chapter Seven of this Guide describes modifying an existing application.

C. CFAP 2 Sales Commodities Calculation Changes

The calculation for CFAP 2 benefits for sales crops has changed in a way that likely benefits a number of farmers.⁴⁸ This is helpful because benefits are based in part on the amount of those sales. Income can now be added to 2019 crop sales from: (1) federal crop insurance indemnities; (2) Noninsured Crop Disaster Assistance Program (NAP) payments, and (3) Wildfire and Hurricanes Indemnity Program Plus (WHIP+) payments.⁴⁹ Farmers can amend already submitted CFAP 2 applications to include additional income in their listed 2019 crop year sales.⁵⁰ Chapter Seven of this Guide describes modifying an existing application.

D. CFAP 2 Price Trigger Crop Yield Calculation Change

For price trigger crops, the rules have been changed for yield calculations, which are part of the basis for calculating price trigger crop benefits.⁵¹ This change applies to the calculation of approved yields for farmers who had crop insurance but did not have an available 2020 APH approved yield.⁵² Now, some farmers without a 2020 APH-approved yield can use 100 percent of the weighted 2019 Agriculture Risk Coverage-County Option

CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7. C.F.R. § 9.201) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, page 3-7, para. 51.E, page 7-22, para. 221.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What commodities and livestock are eligible for CFAP 2?" (April 22, 2021).

USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I applied for CFAP 2, but I also raise pullets or grow turfgrass sod. Do I submit a new application or modify an existing one for payments on those newly eligible commodities?" (April 22, 2021).

⁴⁸ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021). USDA says this was done to implement the 2021 Appropriations Act.

⁴⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21B, page 2-16, para. 22.A, page 3-8, para. 52.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I grow or raise a CFAP 2 sales-based commodity that suffered a loss covered by crop insurance indemnity, NAP, or WHIP+ in crop year 2019. I applied for CFAP 2, and my payment calculation only included eligible sales. Can I revise my application to update how the payment is calculated?" (April 22, 2021).

⁵⁰ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4883 (to be codified at 7. C.F.R. § 9.203(i)(1) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.B, page 3-8, para. 52.B (April 14, 2021).

⁵¹ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4877 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021).

FSA Notice CFAP-15, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) Policy Updates, page 3 (March 23, 2021); USDA, Apply for CFAP 2, Modify Existing CFAP 2 Application (May 31, 2021).

(ARC-CO) benchmark yield, instead of 85 percent, when calculating their CFAP payment.⁵³ These changes are discussed in more detail in Chapter Four of this Guide.

Farmers can amend already-submitted applications to include these changes. Chapter Seven of this Guide describes modifying an existing application.

E. CFAP 2 Additional Payments for Price Trigger Crops and Flat-Rate Crops

In accordance with the 2021 Appropriations Act, USDA is providing additional payments of twenty dollars per acre for farmers who raise eligible price trigger or flat-rate crops. ⁵⁴ USDA sometimes calls these payments "top-up" payments. ⁵⁵ The payments are based on the farmer's eligible 2020 acres.

Any farmer who applies for CFAP 2 for the first time will receive the top-up payments for price trigger crops and flat-rate crops in addition to the standard CFAP 2 payment.⁵⁶

USDA says that any farmers who previously applied for and received a CFAP 2 payment for flat-rate crops or price trigger crops do not need to do anything in order to receive the top-up payment—those payments should be automatically made to eligible farmers.⁵⁷

V. Guide Current Through May 31, 2021

This Guide to CFAP 2, Second Edition, is current through May 31, 2021. If USDA makes changes to the program, FLAG may issue a new edition of this Guide.

VI. What This Guide Covers

The following chapters explain the eligibility rules for CFAP 2, both for farmers and for the commodities. It then looks at how farmers apply for CFAP 2, how payments are made, the rules for farmer documentation for a CFAP 2 application, appeal rights, addressing discrimination, and other issues.

⁵³ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.203(a)(3)) (January 19, 2021). For an explanation of the logic of this change, see CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021). For the previous rule, see CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(a)(3)).

⁵⁴ 2021 Appropriations Act § 751 (December 27, 2020).

FSA Notice CFAP-15, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) Policy Updates, page 2 (March 23, 2021).

USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I did not apply for CFAP 2, but I raise row crops that fall under the price-trigger or flat-rate crop category. Am I now eligible and do I get the additional payment?" (April 22, 2021).

USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I applied for CFAP 2 and received payments for my flat-rate and price-trigger crops. Do I need to do anything to receive the \$20/acre payment?" (April 22, 2021).

Chapter Two: Farmer Eligibility for CFAP 2

To receive CFAP 2 funds a farmer must meet USDA eligibility requirements. The following sections explain these requirements.

I. Farmer Must be an Eligible Producer

To be eligible for CFAP 2, the farmer must be what USDA calls an eligible producer.⁵⁸ In order for a farmer to be considered an eligible producer, the following rules must be followed.

A. Person or Legal Entity

An eligible producer can be a natural person.⁵⁹ An eligible producer can also be a legal entity.

1. Eligible Persons

An individual farmer must have a certain immigration or citizenship status to qualify as an eligible producer for CFAP 2. An eligible person can be a United States citizen, a resident alien, or what USDA calls a foreign person.

a. U.S. Citizen

An individual farmer can be an eligible producer if the farmer is a United States citizen. 60

b. Resident Alien

If the farmer is a person, the farmer can be an eligible producer if the farmer is a resident alien. ⁶¹ In general, that means a person must have a valid Form I-551

⁵⁸ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.3); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para. 15.A, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Producer" (April 14, 2021).

⁶⁰ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.3); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-2, para. 15.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Who is eligible to participate in the Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2?" (April 22, 2021).

⁵⁹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Producer"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para. 15.A (April 14, 2021). For the purposes of CFAP 2, USDA seems to consider a "person" to be a natural person, and not an entity such as a corporation or partnership.

⁶¹ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59, 380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.3); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-2, para. 15.A (April 14, 2021). For the purposes of CFAP 2, a resident alien is a "lawful alien," as defined in 7 C.F.R. § 1400.3(b) (2020). See CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.3(b)(2)).

card. 62 These are commonly called Green Cards, though officially they are called Permanent Resident Cards. 63

c. Foreign Person

A foreign person may be an eligible producer under CFAP rules.⁶⁴

For the purposes of CFAP 2, a foreign person is defined in USDA rules and has two parts. ⁶⁵ First, a foreign person is not a citizen the United States. Second, a person that that has a valid Form I-551 Card is not a foreign person. ⁶⁶ Anyone else is a foreign person. In other words, a wide variety of immigrants can qualify as foreign persons under USDA rules.

In order to be eligible for CFAP as a foreign person, the farmer must be actively engaged in the farm.⁶⁷ Actively engaged, for this purpose, means three things, all of which must be true in order for a foreign person to qualify for CFAP 2.

First, a farmer that is a foreign person under FSA rules must provide a substantial amount of active personal labor for the farm. ⁶⁸ Active personal labor is defined by FSA, and means to personally provide physical activities needed for a farming operation. ⁶⁹ The rules that define what it means to meet the heightened requirement of providing a substantial amount of active personal labor are confusing. On one hand, USDA says—in the prefatory comments to the CFAP 1 regulation—that a foreign person must provide at least 400 hours in a calendar year of active personal labor or active personal management in order to satisfy

USDA rules sometimes refer to Form I-551 as a Resident Alien Card. CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-2, para. 15.A (April 14, 2021). Officially, it is known as the Permanent Resident Card. For general information regarding Form I-551, see U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services, Green Card, at: https://www.uscis.gov/green-card.

⁶² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-2, para. 15.A (April 14, 2021).

⁶⁴ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 308,31 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.3(b)(6)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-2, para. 15.A (April 14, 2021); Rules found in 7 C.F.R. part 1400 apply to foreign person eligibility for CFAP, as do the rules in the FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL (October 2, 2019).

⁶⁵ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.2, "Foreign person"); FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, page 3-2, para. 154.A, Exhibit 2, page 5, "Foreign Person" (October 2, 2019); 7 C.F.R. § 1400.401(a) (2020).

Sometimes the Form I-551 is referred to as a Resident Alien Card. Officially, it is known as the Permanent Resident Card. For general information regarding the Form I-551, see U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services, Green Card, at: https://www.uscis.gov/green-card.

⁶⁷ FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, page 3-6.5, para. 155.5.A, page 3-7, para. 156.B (October 2, 2019); 7 C.F.R. § 1400.401(b) (2020).

⁶⁸ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,827 (May 21, 2020) (prefatory comments); FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, page 3-6.5, para. 155.5.A (October 2, 2019); 7 C.F.R. § 1400.401(b) (2020); USDA, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2, Fact Sheet, at 1 (April 27, 2021).

⁶⁹ 7 C.F.R. § 1400.3(b), "Active personal labor" (2020); FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, Exhibit 2, page 1, "Active Personal Labor" (October 2, 2019). This includes land preparation, cultivating, harvesting, and marketing the commodities from the farm. Active personal labor also includes physical activity needed in a livestock operation.

this rule.⁷⁰ The official regulations, however, do not include this 400-hour rule and instead provide a different standard for what it means to provide a substantial amount of active personal labor.⁷¹ As of now, it is unclear which standard USDA will apply to foreign persons seeking eligibility for CFAP 2.

Second, a farmer that is a foreign person under FSA rules must provide capital for the farm.⁷² Capital, for this purpose, is defined by FSA.⁷³ In general, capital means the funding provided to the farming operation in order to conduct farming activities.⁷⁴ Capital does not include labor or management or spending for land and equipment.

Third, a farmer that is a foreign person must provide land for the farm.⁷⁵ The land can be leased by the foreign person.⁷⁶

When filling out forms for CFAP 2, the farmer will be asked about immigration status and for a tax identification number. 77 There seems to be no legal barrier to participating in CFAP 2 based solely on immigration status.

2. Eligible Legal Entities

A number of legal entities can be eligible producers for CFAP 2.

See CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,827 (May 21, 2020) (prefatory comments). The definition of active personal management can be found at 7 C.F.R. § 1400.3(b), "Active personal management" (2020).

The existing regulations state that a substantial amount of active personal labor can be met by working the lesser of either 1000 hours in a calendar year or 50 percent of the total hours needed to conduct a farming operation that is comparable in size to the person's share in the farming operation. See 7 C.F.R. § 1400.3(b), "Substantial amount of active personal labor" (2020).

CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,827 (May 21, 2020) (prefatory comments); FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, page 3-7, para. 156.B (October 2, 2019); 7 C.F.R. § 1400.401(a) (2020); USDA, CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 1 (April 27, 2021); USDA, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2, About Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2, Eligible Producers (May 31, 2021).

^{73 7} C.F.R. § 1400.3(b), "Capital" (2020); FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, Exhibit 2, page 1, "Capital" (October 2, 2019).

⁷⁴ 7 C.F.R. § 1400.3(b), "Capital" (2020). Capital must be a direct out of pocket or borrowed input for the farm. The capital must come from a fund or account that is separate from anyone else involved in the operation. The input may not include advance program payments.

CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,827 (May 21, 2020) (prefatory comments); FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, page 3-7, para. 156.B (October 2, 2019); 7 C.F.R. § 1400.401(a) (2020); USDA, CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 1 (April 27, 2021).

⁷⁶ 7 C.F.R. § 1400.3(b), "Land" (2020). The land can be leased from another person with a legal interest in the farm if it is leased at fair market value.

⁷⁷ For example, Form CCC-902 (a required form when applying for CFAP 2), asks for tax identification number and citizenship status. See CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-12, para. 19.A (April 14, 2021). Tax identification numbers do not require a certain immigration status. See IRS, Understanding Individual Identification Number (ITIN), at 5 (2019), at https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/p1915.pdf.

a. Partnership

A partnership can be an eligible producer.⁷⁸ All of the partners in the partnership must be citizens of the United States. A joint venture may also be eligible for CFAP.⁷⁹

b. Tribe or Tribal Organization

An eligible producer can be an Indian Tribe or a Tribal organization.⁸⁰

c. Corporation and Limited Liability Company (LLC)

An eligible producer can be a corporation as well as a limited liability company (LLC).⁸¹

d. Cooperatives

An eligible producer, according to FSA, can include some other organizational structures that are organized under state law.⁸² This raises the question of whether a cooperative be an eligible producer.

It seems possible that a cooperative could qualify as an eligible producer under CFAP 2. The rules do not say directly that a cooperative could be eligible. In general, it will be the farmer member of an agricultural cooperative that will be eligible for CFAP 2.83

⁷⁸ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.3(b)(3)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-2, para, 15.A (April 14, 2021).

⁷⁹ See CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,834 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.7(e)(1)).

⁸⁰ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by 85 CFAP 2 Rule, Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.3(b)(5)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-2, para. 15.A (January 15, 2021). Indian tribe and a tribal organization, for this purpose, are defined in the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act. See 25 U.S.C. § 5304(e), (l). In general, an Indian tribe is any Indian tribe, band, nation, or other organized group or community, including any Alaska Native village or regional or village corporation which is recognized as eligible for the special programs and services provided by the United States to Indians because of their status as Indians. A tribal organization is generally defined as: (1) the recognized governing body of an Indian tribe; and (2) any legally established organization of which is controlled, sanctioned, or chartered by a tribe or which is democratically elected by the adult members of the Indian community to be served by the organization.

⁸¹ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.3(b)(4)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-2, para. 15.A (April 14, 2021).

⁸² CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.3(b)(4)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-2, para. 15.A (April 14, 2021).

⁸³ USDA says that a farmer member of a marketing cooperative should apply as the producer, and the marketing cooperatives should not apply. USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Should a marketing cooperative apply, or should each grower apply separately?" (April 22, 2021).

In some cases, however, cooperatives might be eligible. The rules do say that "other organizational structures" can be eligible as long as they are organized under state law.⁸⁴ The vast majority of farm cooperatives are organized under state law.⁸⁵

The challenge for a cooperative that wants to apply for CFAP 2 as an organization is meeting other parts of the definition of eligible producer. Most farm cooperatives are either what are often called marketing cooperatives or supply cooperatives. So In general, marketing cooperatives assist member farmers in the marketing of the farmer member commodities. Some cooperatives buy the farm product, others negotiate a price for the sale for the farmer's product. Supply cooperatives, on the other hand, buy inputs—such as seed, fertilizer, and so forth—at a discount, and then sell it to the farmer members. Some cooperatives do both.

Three requirements will make many cooperatives not eligible for CFAP 2. First, many cooperatives do not meet the requirement, discussed below, that an eligible producer must share in the risk of producing a commodity and must be entitled to a share in the commodity available for marketing. Second, the cooperative must have an ownership interest in the commodity. Third, many cooperatives will not meet the Adjusted Gross Income (AGI) requirements that are also discussed below.

In sum, as far as the entity eligibility requirements for CFAP 2 are concerned, nothing outright stops a cooperative from being eligible for CFAP 2. Other eligibility rules, however, will limit cooperative eligibility. Cooperatives, in the end, come in many shapes and sizes, and operate under a wide variety of structures for their members. Some of these cooperatives, especially relatively small cooperatives that farm collectively, could well be eligible for CFAP 2.87 Others will not be eligible.

But even if a cooperative, as an entity, is not eligible for CFAP 2, it is worth noting that the farmer members of the cooperative can be eligible for CFAP 2 no matter what the character of the cooperative. ⁸⁸

⁸⁴ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.3(b)(4)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-2, para. 15.A (April 14, 2021).

⁸⁵ See, for example, Roger A. McEowen, Agricultural Law in a Nutshell, 343-344 (2017).

For a brief legal summary, see McEowen, at 343-346.

⁸⁷ Smaller cooperatives that are experimenting in various and interesting ways are discussed in Annalise Jolley, The Co-op Farming Model Might Help Save America's Small Farmers, Civil Eats (October 3, 2018), at https://civileats.com/2018/10/03/co-op-farming-models-might-help-save-americas-small-farms/.

See, for example, USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Should a marketing cooperative apply, or should each grower apply separately?" (April 22, 2021).

e. Foreign Entity

A foreign entity can be an eligible producer for CFAP 2.89

For the purpose of CFAP 2 producer eligibility, a foreign entity is a corporation, trust, estate, or other similar organization that has more than 10 percent of its beneficial interest held by foreign persons. ⁹⁰ As stated above, foreign persons means people who are not citizens of the United States and who do not have a valid Form I-551 Card.

FSA rules explain how to calculate the percentage of beneficial interest held by a foreign person. ⁹¹ In general, if there is only one class of stock, or some similar unit of ownership, FSA looks to the percentage of shares that are owned by a foreign person. If there is more than one class of stock or other similar unit, FSA will look to the percentage of the fair market value of the stock that is owned by a foreign person.

In order to be eligible for CFAP 2 as a foreign entity, it appears that each foreign person who is a stockholder, partner, or some other type of member of the entity must provide active personal labor for the farm. 92 To provide active personal labor means to provide physical activities needed for a farming operation. 93

⁸⁹ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.3(b)(6)); USDA, CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 1 (April 27, 2021); USDA, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2, About Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2, Eligible Producers, CFAP Eligibility (May 31, 2021). Foreign entity eligibility is controlled by FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL (October 2, 2019) and 7 C.F.R. part 1400 (2020).

OFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.2, "Foreign entity"); FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, page 3-5, para. 155.A, Exhibit 2, page 5 "Foreign Entity"; 7 C.F.R. § 1400.401(b)(1) (2020).

FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, pages 3-5 through 3-8, 4-155 through 4-156, paras. 155.B-E, 157.A, 228 (October 2, 2019); 7 C.F.R. 1400.401(b)(1)-(5) (2020). The calculation is based on the higher of either the percent of beneficial interest at the time the CFAP agreement is signed or executed, or the beginning harvest date for the commodity. 7 C.F.R. 1400.401(b)(1)-(5) (2020). FSA notes that all interest in an entity, including an interest in an embedded entity, are taken into account. FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, page 3-5, para. 155.B (October 2, 2019). An embedded entity is defined in FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Embedded legal entity" (October 2, 2019). FSA rules also say that in some cases FSA may decide that an ownership interest of 10 percent or less may still count as a beneficial interest. FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, page 3-6, para. 155.D (October 2, 2019). The rules do not say how or why that determination might be made. If the entity later increases in foreign ownership percentage, the entity must inform FSA. FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, page 3-6, para. 155.E (October 2, 2019). General FSA rules say that in this case the entity may be required to refund the payment. If an entity does not meet the requirements of the foreign entity rule, payment may be reduced and not completely denied.

⁹² CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,827 (May 21, 2020) (prefatory comments); FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, pages 3-6.5, 3-7, paras. 155.5.A, 156.B (October 2, 2019); 7 C.F.R. § 1400.401(b)(2) (2020).

⁹³ 7 C.F.R. § 1400.3(b), "Active personal labor" (2020); FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, Exhibit 2, page 1, "Active Personal Labor" (October 2, 2019). This includes land preparation,

If an entity is owned in whole or in part by a foreign person, it appears the entity will only be eligible for a CFAP 2 payment that reflects the foreign person's interest in the entity if the foreign person provides a substantial amount of active personal labor for the farm. 94 As explained above, it is unclear what exactly it means for a foreign person to provide a substantial amount of active personal labor for a farm.

B. Share in Risk of Producing Commodity

In order to be an eligible producer a farmer must share in the risk of producing the commodity.⁹⁵

C. Ownership Interest—Except Contract Producers

In general, the farmer must have an ownership interest in the commodity that is eligible.⁹⁶ Ownership, for this purpose does, not mean that the farmer owns farmland where the commodity is produced.⁹⁷ It means, instead, that the farmer owns the commodity, and has both control of the commodity and title to the commodity.

To be eligible as a contract producer, however, the farmer must not have an ownership interest in the commodity. 98

D. Still in the Business of Farming

In order to be an eligible producer for CFAP 2, the applicant must still be in the business of farming at the time the farmer applies for CFAP 2.99

II. Additional Farmer Eligibility Requirements

In order to be considered eligible producers under CFAP 2, farmers must also comply with the following rules.

cultivating, harvesting, and marketing the commodities from the farm. Active personal labor also includes physical activity needed in a livestock operation.

⁹⁴ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,827 (May 21, 2020) (prefatory comments).

⁹⁵ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,384, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Producer"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para. 15.A, page 5-31, para. 136.A, page 6-21, para. 176.A, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Producer" (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Who is eligible to participate in the Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2?" (April 22, 2021). This aspect of eligibility is quite different from CFAP 1 eligibility.

⁹⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 2-13 and 2-14, para. 21.A-B (April 14, 2021).

⁹⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-51, para. 36.A (April 14, 2021).

⁹⁸ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Contract producer") (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para. 15.A, page 9-21, para. 311.A (April 14, 2021).

⁹⁹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,389, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Producer"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para. 15.A, page 3-2, para. 50.B, page 5-31, para. 136.A, page 6-21, para. 176.A, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Producer" (April 14, 2021); CFAP 2 Application, AD-3117, Part A(2) (January 19, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Who is eligible to participate in the Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2?" (April 22, 2021).

A. Conservation Compliance

A farmer applying for CFAP 2 must meet what are known as conservation compliance requirements. ¹⁰⁰ In general, this means that the farmer will not produce an agricultural commodity on highly erodible soil without a conservation plan, will not plant an agricultural crop on a converted wetland, and will not convert a wetland in order to produce an agricultural commodity. ¹⁰¹

The farmer will need to certify conservation compliance when applying for CFAP 2.¹⁰² This requirement, which will be new for farmers that have not worked with USDA in the past, is discussed in more detail below.

B. Compliance with Adjusted Gross Income (AGI) Limitation

USDA programs sometimes condition eligibility on what are known as adjusted gross income (AGI) limitations. ¹⁰³ These AGI limits seem to apply to CFAP 2. ¹⁰⁴

USDA provides an explanation of how the AGI rule works. ¹⁰⁵ In general, no person or legal entity, other than a joint venture or partnership, may receive CFAP payments if their average AGI is more than 900,000 dollars. ¹⁰⁶ For joint ventures and partnerships, the average AGI limitation is applied to each member of the business.

CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,389, 59,382 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory comments); CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,827 (May 21, 2020) (prefatory comments); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-2, para. 15.B, pages 2-10 and 2-11, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Do the Farm Bill's conservation compliance requirements apply to CFAP?" (April 22, 2021); Additional rules for conservation compliance that eligible producers must follow can be found at 7 C.F.R. part 12 (2020).
 7 C.F.R. § 12.1(a) (2020).

¹⁰² CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,827 (May 21, 2020) (prefatory comments); CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,832 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(b)(5)); CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 2-10 and 2-11, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021).

For general AGI rules see, 7 C.F.R. pt. 1400 (2020); FSA Handbook, 5-PL (Amendment 6), Payment Eligibility, Payment Limitation, and Average Adjusted Gross Income—Agricultural Act of 2014, pages 6-1 to 6-62, paras. 291-312 (October 2, 2019); see, as well, FSA Notice PL-289, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) 75 percent Farm AGI Certifications (June 1, 2020), at: https://www.fsa.usda.gov/Internet/FSA Notice/pl 289.pdf.

¹⁰⁴ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,835 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.7(d)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-2, para. 15.B, page 2-9, para. 17.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Is there an Adjusted Gross Income (AGI) limit to receive CFAP assistance?," "Who must fill out forms to certify average AGI and Farm AGI?" (April 22, 2021). For additional information on the CFAP AGI rules as they relate to farm income, see FSA Notice PL-289, CFAP AGI Certifications (June 1, 2020).

¹⁰⁵ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,827 (May 21, 2020) (prefatory comments); see also CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-9, para. 17.A (April 14, 2021).

This number is for the 2020 program year. The average to be used comes from tax years 2016, 2017, and 2018. CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,834 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.7(d)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-9, para. 17.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Is there an Adjusted Gross Income (AGI) limit to receive CFAP assistance?" (April 22, 2021).

The AGI limitation does not apply if at least 75 percent of the eligible producer's average AGI is from farming, ranching, or forestry-related activities.¹⁰⁷

C. Compliance with Controlled Substance Rules

To be eligible for a CFAP 2 payment, a farmer must comply with certain controlled substance rules. ¹⁰⁸ This means that a person that is convicted of a controlled substance violation will be ineligible, at least for a time, for CFAP 2. ¹⁰⁹ In particular, the conviction cannot be for planting, cultivating, growing, producing, harvesting, or storing a controlled substance. ¹¹⁰ As of 2018, with the passing of the Agriculture Improvement Act of 2018 (commonly known as the 2018 Farm Bill), some hemp production will not trigger this restriction because hemp is no longer classified as a Schedule I controlled substance. ¹¹¹

D. Not Need to Have Worked with USDA in the Past

There is no requirement for a farmer to have worked with USDA in any way in the past. 112

E. Acreage Reports

Some farmers—but not all—will need to file what USDA calls an acreage report (Form FSA-578). Acreage reports must be filed by farmers who apply for CFAP 2 benefits for a price trigger crop or flat-rate crop. 113 Somewhat confusingly, USDA sometimes calls these commodities acreage-based crops.

Farmers who apply for sales commodities, or those who apply for a price trigger commodity that is not a price trigger crop, do not need to complete the acreage report.

¹⁰⁷ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,834 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.7(d)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-9, para. 17.A (April 14, 2021); Notice PL-289, CFAP AGI Certifications, page 1, para. 1.A (June 1, 2020)

¹⁰⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-11, para. 18.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 1 (April 27, 2021).

The rules found in FSA Handbook, Common Management and Operating Provisions, 1-CM (Revision 3), pages 30-1 and 30-2, para. 871 (January 2, 2020) and in 7 C.F.R. § 718.2, "Controlled substances," 718.6 (2020) apply. See CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-11, para. 18.B (April 14, 2021). Controlled substance is defined in 21 C.F.R. part 1308 (2020). A person convicted of a controlled substance violation could be ineligible for CFAP 2 payments for the year in which the conviction took place, as well as the next four years. See FSA Handbook, 1-CM, page 30-1, para. 871.C (January 2, 2020).

7 C.F.R. § 718.6(b) (2020).

See Agriculture Improvement Act of 2018, Pub. L. No. 115-334, § 12619 (Dec. 20, 2018) (to be codified at 21 U.S.C. § 802(16)). The applicable definition of "hemp" is found at 7 U.S.C. § 16390(1); see also FSA Handbook, 1-CM, page 30-1, para. 871.B (January 2, 2020). For more discussion of hemp, see USDA, Office of General Counsel, Memorandum: Executive Summary of New Hemp Authorities (May 28, 2019), at https://www.ams.usda.gov/sites/default/files/HempExecSumandLegalOpinion.pdf.

USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I don't participate in any USDA programs. Can I apply for CFAP 2?" (April 22, 2021).

¹¹³ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 § C.F.R. 9.4(d)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-4, para. 251.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What if I don't have a 2020 FSA-578 crop acreage report on file with FSA?" (April 22, 2021).

For many farmers this will be the first time the farmer files an acreage report with USDA. In general, USDA has a set of rules for filing an acreage report. 114 For the purpose of applying for CFAP 2, however, a number of those rules will not apply. 115 For example, a CFAP 2 farmer can fill in the form later than would normally be allowed will not be charged a late fee, USDA will not need to do a farm visit, there will be no farm visit and crop certification fees, and USDA will not need to certify the crop.

F. Bankruptcy Does Not Affect Eligibility

CFAP 2 eligibility is not affected if the farmer has filed a bankruptcy petition.¹¹⁶

III. Additional Requirements for Contract Producers

Recent changes to the rules now allow certain contract producers to be eligible for CFAP 2.¹¹⁷ In addition to meeting the definition of an eligible producer, described above, contract producers must satisfy the following requirements as well.

A. Contract Producer Definition

In order to qualify as a contract producer for purposes of CFAP 2, a farmer must first meet the USDA definition of a contract producer. ¹¹⁸ This definition has three parts.

1. Produced Under Contract

In order to be a contract producer, the farmer must produce the commodity under a contract for, or on behalf of, another person or legal entity. 119

The general rules for acreage reports can be found at FSA Handbook, Acreage and Compliance Determinations, 2-CP (Revision 16) (September 8, 2020).

¹¹⁵ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-5, para. 251.D (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What if I don't have a 2020 FSA-578 crop acreage report on file with FSA?" (April 22, 2021).

¹¹⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-24, para. 65.F (April 14, 2021).

USDA says the following about the reason for the change. First, USDA did not include contract producers under CFAP 1 because USDA believed that the impacts of COVIC-19 on contract farmers was not well known at the time. Second, the harm caused by delayed delivery of young poultry and hogs to contract producers, decreased housing densities, increased costs for keeping animals longer than normal, and damage caused by keeping animals too large for the housing on the farm were known to USDA when it issued rules for CFAP 2. USDA describes these losses in some detail. USDA, however, believed that the authority under the CCC Charter did not allow payments to farmers that did not market their contract production. Now, however, CARES Act funding, which does allow such assistance, is available. See CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021).

CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F. R. § 9.201, "Contract producer") (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para. 15.A (April 14, 2021).

CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Contract producer") (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para. 15.A, page 9-1, para. 300.A, page 9-21, para. 311, Exhibit 2, page 1, "Contract producer" (April 14, 2021).

2. No Ownership of Commodity

To be an eligible contract producer, the farmer must not have an ownership interest in the commodity. 120

3. Not Entitled to Share of Proceeds

To be a contract producer, the farmer must not have the right to a share in the sale proceeds of the commodity.¹²¹

B. Eligible Commodities of Contract Producers: Swine or Poultry

For a contract producer to be eligible under CFAP 2, the farmer must grow or raise what USDA counts as an "eligible commodity." ¹²² Contract farmers can be eligible if they produced hogs or poultry under contract. No other commodities are eligible. The following sections discuss this requirement in more detail.

1. Swine

Swine are an eligible commodity for CFAP 2 contract producers. By swine, USDA means hogs and pigs. 123 Hogs are defined as any swine weighing 120 pounds or more. Pigs are defined as swine weighing less than 120 pounds.

2. Poultry

Poultry are an eligible commodity for CFAP 2 contract producers. By poultry, USDA means chickens, chicken eggs, and turkeys. ¹²⁴ Chickens include broilers, pullets, and layers. ¹²⁵ Broilers are defined as any chicken that is commercially produced for meat purposes, has not been used for laying or breeding purposes, and left the farm for slaughter. ¹²⁶ By layer, USDA means a chicken that produces table or commercial type

¹²⁰ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Contract producer") (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para. 15.A, page 2-15, para. 22.A, page 9-21, para. 311.A (April 14, 2021).

¹²¹ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Contract producer") (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para. 15.A, page 9-21, para. 311.A (April 14, 2021).

¹²² CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. §§ 9.201, "Contract producer," 9.202(b)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para. 15.A, page 9-1, para. 300.A, page 9-21, para. 311.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Are contract livestock producers eligible for CFAP?" (April 22, 2021); USDA, CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 1-2 (April 27, 2021).

¹²³ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7. C.F.R. § 9.202((b)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.A, page 9-1, para. 300.B, Exhibit 2, page 3-4, "Hogs," "Pigs" (April 14, 2021).

¹²⁴ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7. C.F.R. § 9.202((b)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 9-1, para. 300.B, page 9-21, para. 311.A (January 15, 2020).

¹²⁵ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(b)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.A, page 2-51, para. 35.A, page 9-1, para. 300.B, page 9-21, para. 311.A (April 14, 2021).

¹²⁶ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Broilers") (September 22, 2020); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 1, "Broilers" (April 14, 2021).

shell eggs.¹²⁷ By pullet, USDA means a young female chicken that has not laid an egg.¹²⁸ By chicken eggs, USDA means shell, dried, frozen, or liquid eggs.¹²⁹

C. Under Contract in Both 2019 and 2020

In order for a contract producer to be eligible for CFAP 2, the farmer must have produced an eligible commodity under contract in both calendar year 2019 and calendar year 2020. ¹³⁰ As a result, new contract producers in 2020 are not eligible.

USDA provides the following example.

If a farmer who raises chickens under a production contract, and the chickens are owned by a company that produces chicken products, the farmer can be eligible under any of the following circumstances: (1) the farmer does not receive payment for chickens that die before reaching maturity; (2) the farmer does not receive payment when young animals are not supplied to the farmer by the company; or (3) the farmer does not receive a normal payment even if there are fewer young animals than normal are provided by the company.¹³¹

This seems to mean that a contract grower is not eligible if under the contract the farmer receives payment if chickens die before maturity. ¹³² In addition, the contract grower would not be eligible if the contract said that the farmer would still get paid if young animals are not supplied by the company. Further, the farmer would not be eligible if the contract said the farmer's income is not reduced if fewer young animals than normal are supplied by the company.

The rules seem to be trying to ensure that if a contract farmer gets paid a normal amount even if the bird dies, or fewer young animals are provided than normal, that farmer is not eligible.

D. Revenue from Contract

The farmer must have received revenue under the 2019 or 2020 contract at some point during the period of January 1, 2020, through December 27, 2020. Revenue received from December 28, 2020, through December 31, 2020, is not relevant for this purpose.

¹²⁷ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Layers") (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 3, "Layer" (April 14, 2021).

¹²⁸ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Pullet") (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 5, "Pullet" (April 14, 2021).

¹²⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 9-1, para. 300.B, Exhibit 2, page 2, "Eggs" (April 14, 2021).

¹³⁰ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202((b)(1) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para. 15.A, page 9-1, para. 300.A, page 9-21, para. 311.A-B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Are contract livestock producers eligible for CFAP?" (April 22, 2021).

¹³¹ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021).

¹³² CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021).

¹³³ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(b)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para. 15.A, page 9-21, para. 311.A, 9-22, para. 312.B (April 14, 2021).

E. Had an Eligible Revenue Loss

To be eligible for a payment, contract growers must have had what USDA calls a loss of eligible revenue.¹³⁴ The eligible revenue loss is calculated the following way.

1. Eligible Revenue Defined

USDA defines eligible revenue for a contract farmer.¹³⁵ It is defined as the revenue the contract farmer received for contract production of an eligible commodity. The eligible commodity must be broilers, pullets, layers, chicken eggs, turkeys, hogs, or pigs. The revenue must be based on the revenue reported on the farmer's Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Form 1099.

Only revenue received between January 1 and December 27 of either 2019 or 2020 is considered eligible revenue. ¹³⁶ Any revenue received between December 28 and December 31 of either 2019 or 2020 is not eligible revenue.

2. Eligible Revenue Loss Defined

An eligible revenue loss is calculated by comparing the eligible revenue from January 1, 2020, to December 27, 2020, to the eligible revenue from January 1, 2019, to December 27, 2019. ¹³⁷ In other words, in general, to be eligible for a payment a contract producer must have had less eligible revenue in 2020 than the farmer had in eligible revenue in 2019.

It appears, therefore, that even though the rules do not require a contract farmer to have received contract revenue in 2019, no payment will be allowed unless eligible revenue in the 2020 period is less than eligible revenue from the 2019 period. As a result, a contract farmer that had no eligible contract revenue in 2019 will not be eligible for a payment under the new rules.

IV. When Farmers are Not Eligible for CFAP 2

USDA rules set out several types of farmers and farming operations that are not eligible for CFAP 2 payments. These are discussed below.

¹³⁴ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(b)(2)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para. 15.A, 2-14, para. 21.A, page 9-1, para. 300.A (April 14, 2021).

¹³⁵ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Eligible revenue") (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 9-22, para. 312.B, Exhibit 2, page 2, "Eligible revenue" (April 14, 2021).

¹³⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 9-22, para. 312.B (April 14, 2021).

¹³⁷ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(b)(2)), 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.203(l)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para 15.A, page 9-1, para. 300.A, page 9-21, para. 311.A-B, 9-22, para. 312.B, page 9-45, para. 326.A-B (April 14, 2021).

A. No Ownership Interest in Eligible Crop or Livestock—Except Contract Producers

With the exception of contract producers, a farmer, including a person or legal entity, that does not have a reported ownership interest in an eligible crop or livestock is not eligible to receive a CFAP 2 payment.¹³⁸

B. Suspended, Debarred, or Excluded from Federal Programs

A farmer that has been suspended, debarred, or otherwise excluded from participating in federal programs is not eligible for CFAP 2.¹³⁹ Suspended and debarred people are banned from a broad range of government programs.¹⁴⁰ Suspension and debarment can occur for things like criminal or civil judgments for fraud and the willful failure of someone to perform certain agreements made with the government.¹⁴¹ Relatively few people will be affected by this restriction. It is not, for example, triggered by delinquency on FSA loans or loan forgiveness.

C. Public Schools

Public schools are not eligible to receive payments under CFAP 2. ¹⁴² Public schools are defined under FSA rules. ¹⁴³ A public school can be a primary, elementary, or secondary school. A public school can also be a college or university. To be defined as a public school, at least one of two things must be true. First, if the school is directly administered under the authority of a governmental body it counts as a public school. Second, if the school receives "a predominant amount of its financing" from public funds it is defined as a public school. ¹⁴⁴ Predominant amount is not defined in FSA rules. A predominant amount probably means the majority. ¹⁴⁵ These rules suggest that a private school could be an eligible producer under CFAP 2.

Although the rules do not say so directly, someone who farms on land rented from a public school would seem to be eligible for CFAP 2 payments.

¹³⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-2, para. 15.B (April 14, 2021).

¹³⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-2, para. 15.B (April 14, 2021). The CFAP 2 Handbook incorporates the rules in FSA Handbook, Common Management and Operating Provisions, 1-CM (Revision 3) (January 2, 2020). The 1-CM Handbook, in turn, incorporates additional rules from the Office of Management and Budget (OMB), which are found in 2 C.F.R. part 180, and from USDA, found at 2 C.F.R. part 417. See Common Management Handbook, pages 29-4, 29-5, paras. 823.A (January 2, 2020).

 $^{^{140}}$ A suspension is short term, debarment can last longer. For definitions, see 2 C.F. R. §§ 180.925, 180.1015 (2020). For timing, see 2 C.F.R. § 417.865 (2020).

For USDA rules, see 2 C.F.R. § 417.800(a)-(d) (2020). USDA incorporates lengthy rules for suspension and debarment issued by OMB and found in 2 C.F.R. part 180, subparts F, G, H, I (2020).

¹⁴² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-2, para. 15.B (April 14, 2021). The CFAP 2 Handbook incorporates the definitions in the FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL (October 2, 2019).

FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, Exhibit 2, page 7, "Public School" (October 2, 2019).

FSA rules note that a public school includes state universities. See FSA Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, page 4-7, para. 174.B (October 2, 2019).

Predominant can mean something greater or superior in power and influence when compared with something else. Blacks' Law Dictionary (4th ed. 1951). Predominance can also mean numerical superiority. See Webster's Third New International Dictionary Unabridged (1986).

D. Governments

Federal, state, and local governments may not be eligible producers under CFAP 2.146

Although the rules do not say so directly, someone who farms on land rented from a government would seem to be eligible for CFAP 2 payments.

¹⁴⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-2, para. 15.B (April 14, 2021). The CFAP 2 Handbook incorporates the definitions in FSA Handbook, 5-PL, Payment Eligibility Handbook (October 2, 2019).

Chapter Three: Commodity Eligibility

CFAP 2 payments are limited to certain eligible commodities. Both crops and livestock can be eligible commodities for purposes of CFAP 2. ¹⁴⁷ The sections below describe what commodities can be eligible. They also describe the grouping of commodities that USDA has created and that helps decide how the payments will be figured. Some of the categories can be confusing, so it is important to check carefully to make sure the farmer's commodity fits the eligibility and grouping created by USDA. The USDA CFAP 2 website provides information on each type of eligible commodity. ¹⁴⁸

I. Commodity Defined

For the purposes of CFAP 2 payments, an eligible commodity must meet the following four requirements.¹⁴⁹

A. Produced in the United States

An eligible commodity must be produced in the United States. ¹⁵⁰ Imported commodities, which are not used in calculating a CFAP payment, are not eligible. ¹⁵¹

B. Intended to be Marketed for Commercial Production

In general, USDA rules say an eligible commodity must be intended to be marketed for commercial production. 152

This would seem to mean that that crops intended to be fed to livestock are not eligible commodities under CFAP. It would also seem to mean that commodities raised for home consumption are not eligible commodities.

¹⁴⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What commodities are included in the three different categories that USDA has established to assist producers impacted by COVID-19 and what are the payment rates?" (April 22, 2021).

¹⁴⁸ USDA, CFAP 2: Eligible and Ineligible Commodities (May 31, 2021). Previously, the USDA CFAP 2 website provided what it called a "CFAP 2 Eligible Commodities Finder." It is no longer available.

¹⁴⁹ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.2, "Commodity"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 1, "Commodity" (April 14, 2021).

¹⁵⁰ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.2, "Commodity"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-2, para. 50.B, page 6-21, para. 176.B, Exhibit 2, page 1, "Commodity" (April 14, 2021); CFAP 2 Application, AD-3117, Part A(4) (January 19, 2021).

¹⁵¹ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,830 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.1(a)).

CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.2, "Commodity"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-2, para. 50.B, page 6-21, para. 176.B, and Exhibit 2, page 1, "Commodity" (April 14, 2021); CFAP 2 Application, AD-3117, Part A(4) (January 19, 2021); USDA, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program, About Coronavirus Food Assistance Program, Eligible Producers (May 31, 2021).

C. Designated by USDA as Eligible for CFAP

The definition of commodity requires that it be designated by USDA as eligible for payment under CFAP 2. ¹⁵³ USDA has created lists of commodities that are currently eligible. ¹⁵⁴ Some commodities raised by farmers in the United States are not included and therefore are not eligible for CFAP 2.

The commodities that are now eligible for CFAP 2 are listed and defined later in this Guide. There is also a discussion of if and how commodities might be added to the eligible commodity list. 155

D. USDA Decides Commodity Eligibility

The rules for CFAP 2 commodity eligibility are described below.

1. USDA Created Lists of Eligible Commodities

USDA determines the eligibility of commodities on a commodity-by-commodity basis. It makes these decisions on an across-the-board basis for each commodity. In other words, for each commodity—for example, corn—the commodity is either eligible for CFAP 2 or not eligible. That determination applies to every farmer that raises corn. It turns out that USDA decided corn is eligible for CFAP 2. On the other hand, USDA decided that some commodities—such as milkweed, clover, and vetch—are not eligible commodities. This means that for all producers in the country, milkweed, clover, and vetch are not eligible for CFAP 2.

2. Some Commodities for Certain Not Eligible

In a few cases USDA has said certain commodities are not eligible. Ineligible commodities are discussed later in this Chapter.

3. Adding Commodities

It is possible that other commodities could be added to the current CFAP 2 list. ¹⁵⁶ Unlike CFAP 1, however, USDA did not create a process whereby farmers are encouraged to send in information that would get commodities added to the list of eligible CFAP 2 commodities or perhaps move them from one category to another. ¹⁵⁷

II. Four Categories of Eligible Commodities

USDA initially created three main categories of eligible commodities for CFAP 2. 158 However, following changes to CFAP 2 made by the 2021 Appropriations Act, there is now a fourth

¹⁵³ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.2, "Commodity"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 1, "Commodity" (April 14, 2021).

For a more exhaustive list of the CFAP 2 eligible commodities, see USDA, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program, Eligible Commodities (May 31, 2021).

¹⁵⁵ Previously, the USDA website had a CFAP 2 Eligible Commodities Finder that is no longer available.

Specifically, USDA has said it could create eligibility for additional price trigger crops and flat-rate crops. See CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-25, para. 261.A, page 8-51, para. 273.A (April 14, 2021).

¹⁵⁷ A USDA CFAP FAQ previously addressed this point directly, but that FAQ is no longer on the website.

¹⁵⁸ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,380 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory remarks).

category of eligible commodities—commodities of contract producers. ¹⁵⁹ Accordingly, there are now four categories of eligible commodities for CFAP 2: (1) price trigger commodities; (2) flatrate commodities; (3) sales commodities; and (4) contract producer commodities.

The commodities within these groups often seem to have little in common with one another. The grouping matters a great deal, however, because it controls how the CFAP 2payments will be calculated for that commodity. These categories, and the many different types of commodities included in each, are discussed in the following sections.

A. Price Trigger Commodities

USDA refers to one group of eligible commodities as price trigger commodities.¹⁶⁰ It includes both crops and livestock. In general, this means that for each of these commodities there was at least a 5 percent price decline between the average price for January 13-17, 2000, one hand, and the average price for the week of July 27-31, 2020, on the other.¹⁶¹

USDA divides price trigger commodities into two main categories: (1) price trigger livestock and livestock products, which includes dairy, eggs, broilers, and certain livestock; and (2) price trigger crops. ¹⁶²

1. Price Trigger Livestock and Livestock Products

Various livestock and livestock products are eligible for CFAP 2 under the category of price trigger commodities. ¹⁶³ These include: (1) dairy; (2) livestock, including beef cattle, hogs and pigs, and sheep and lambs; (3) eggs; and (4) broilers. ¹⁶⁴

a. Dairy

Dairy is an eligible price trigger commodity under CFAP 2.¹⁶⁵ By dairy, USDA means milk from a bovine.¹⁶⁶ In general, dairy payments in CFAP 2 are meant to

The 2021 Appropriations Act refers to contract producers as "contract growers." See Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, Division A, Title I, Subtitle B, Chapter 1, Section 751 (December 27, 2020).

¹⁶⁰ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,380 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory remarks); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Price Trigger Commodities" (April 14, 2021).

¹⁶¹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,380 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory remarks); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-1, para. 125.A, page 6-1, para. 165.B, page 8-71, para. 284.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "How did USDA determine which commodities were price trigger commodities?" (April 22, 2021).

CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,380 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory remarks); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Price Trigger Commodities" (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What commodities are included in the three different categories that USDA has established to assist producers impacted by COVID-19 and what are the payment rates?" (April 22, 2021).

¹⁶³ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Price trigger commodities"); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "How did USDA determine which commodities were price trigger commodities?" (April 22, 2021).

¹⁶⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Price trigger livestock and products" (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 2 (April 27, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "How did USDA determine which commodities were price trigger commodities?" (April 22, 2021).

¹⁶⁵ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, page 2-17, para. 22.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "How did USDA determine which commodities were price trigger commodities?" (April 22, 2021).

¹⁶⁶ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Price trigger livestock and products"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-31, para. 96.A (April 14, 2021);

help dairy farmers that had marketing channel disruptions from the coronavirus pandemic for the second, third, and fourth quarters of 2020. ¹⁶⁷ Dumped milk is included in the farm's production. ¹⁶⁸

(i) Eligible Dairy Operations

To be eligible, dairies must commercially market their milk. ¹⁶⁹ For this category of CFAP 2 only bovine milk is eligible. ¹⁷⁰ In addition, production must be in the United States. ¹⁷¹ Dairy farms must be in operation at the time they apply for CFAP 2. ¹⁷² If the farm is no longer producing milk at the time of signing up for CFAP 2, it is not eligible. ¹⁷³

(ii) Eligible Milk Production—Actual and Estimated

For CFAP 2, eligible milk production includes both actual milk production and estimated future production.¹⁷⁴

Actual production includes milk that is commercially marketed for April, May, June, July, and August of 2020. 175 It also includes milk that was dumped over the same period and not recorded on milk marketing statements. 176

Estimated production includes milk that is expected to be produced for the months of September, October, November, and December of 2020.¹⁷⁷ Estimated production is calculated using the daily average of actual milk production multiplied by the number of commercial operating days in

USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I grow a commodity classified as a price trigger commodity. How is my payment calculated?" (April 22, 2021).

¹⁶⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-1, para. 85.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What milk production is eligible for CFAP 2?" (April 22, 2021).

¹⁶⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-15, para. 22.A, page 4-31, para. 96.B (April 14, 2021).

¹⁶⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-31, para. 96.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What milk production is eligible for CFAP 2?" (April 22, 2021).

¹⁷⁰ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Price trigger livestock and products"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-31, para. 96.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I grow a commodity classified as a price trigger commodity. How is my payment calculated?" (April 22, 2021).

¹⁷¹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-31, para. 96.A (April 14, 2021).

¹⁷² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-31, para. 96.A (April 14, 2021). The farmer must certify to this on the CFAP 2 application. CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-2, para. 50.B (April 14, 2021); CFAP 2 Application, AD-3117, Part A(2) (January 19, 2021).

¹⁷³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-31, para. 96.A (April 14, 2021).

¹⁷⁴ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(g)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-31, para. 96.B (April 14, 2021).

¹⁷⁵ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(g)(1)(i)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-31, para. 96.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I grow a commodity classified as a price trigger commodity. How is my payment calculated?" (April 22, 2021).

¹⁷⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-31, para. 96.B (April 14, 2021).

¹⁷⁷ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(g)(1)(ii)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-31, para. 96.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I grow a commodity classified as a price trigger commodity. How is my payment calculated?" (April 22, 2021).

September through December. In general, that number will be 122—representing the 122 days between September 1 and December 31.178 However, if a farm stops production before December 31, that number may be prorated. 179

It appears from the rules that if the dairy farmer applies late in the signup, the farmer will still need to use estimated production of September through December even if the actual production for that period is then known.

(iii) Federal Dairy Programs Do Not Affect Eligibility

A number of federal programs are designed to assist dairy farmers. These do not affect CFAP 2 eligibility. This includes Dairy Margin Coverage, Dairy Revenue Protection, Livestock Gross Margin, and other dairy revenue insurance programs.

(iv) Dissolved Dairy Operations

Special rules apply for dissolved dairy operations. In general, the dairy must be in operation at the time the farmer enrolls in CFAP 2. ¹⁸¹ A diary operation that dissolves after signing up for CFAP 2 can be eligible for a reduced CFAP 2 payment. ¹⁸² The reduced payment will be based on actual production for April 1, 2020, through August 31, 2020, and the estimated production will be based on the number of days the farm produced milk after September 1, 2020.

(v) Joint Venture Dairy Operations

If the dairy is a joint venture that does not have a tax identification number for the joint venture, the individual farmers must apply for CFAP $2.^{183}$

(vi) Seasonal Dairies

Seasonal dairies are eligible for CFAP 2 but are subject to special rules. ¹⁸⁴ A seasonal operation that stops producing milk for the year after signing up for CFAP 2 is eligible for a prorated CFAP 2 payment. The payment is based on production from April 1, 2020, through August 31, 2020, and for

¹⁷⁸ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(g)(1)(ii)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-61, para. 111.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I grow a commodity classified as a price trigger commodity. How is my payment calculated?" (April 22, 2021).

¹⁷⁹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(g)(2)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-32, para. 96.C (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I grow a commodity classified as a price trigger commodity. How is my payment calculated?" (April 22, 2021).

¹⁸⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-31, para. 96.B (April 14, 2021).

¹⁸¹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-31, para. 96.C (April 14, 2021).

¹⁸² CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(g)(2)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-32, para. 96.C (April 14, 2021).

¹⁸³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-32, para. 96.D (April 14, 2021).

¹⁸⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-32, para. 96.E (April 14, 2021).

the period after September 1, 2020 the payment will reflect the actual number of days the seasonal dairy was producing milk.

b. Eggs

In general, eggs are an eligible price trigger commodity for CFAP 2.¹⁸⁵ It is also possible to raise eggs on contract. If so, the farmer can be eligible as a contract producer, and is not viewed as raising a price trigger commodity.¹⁸⁶ This section describes eggs as a price trigger commodity.

By eggs, USDA means shell eggs, dried eggs, liquid eggs, and frozen eggs produced for calendar year 2019. ¹⁸⁷ If, however, an egg producer began farming in 2020, and did not have any production in 2019, that farmer will be eligible for CFAP 2 based on their 2020 egg production. ¹⁸⁸

In general, egg payments in CFAP 2 are meant to help egg farmers because USDA has decided that egg farmers experienced marketing channel disruptions, low prices, and significant marketing costs from the coronavirus pandemic. ¹⁸⁹ USDA made this determination for all egg farmers nationwide, and therefore farmers are not required to independently show that they experienced a marketing channel disruption, low prices, or significant marketing costs for their eggs.

To be eligible, farmers must meet the general eligibility requirements for CFAP 2.¹⁹⁰ This means the farmers must be commercially marketing their eggs. In addition, farmers not in the business of farming at the time of the application are not eligible. The egg production must be in the United States.

As noted above, eggs produced by contract growers are not eligible as a price trigger commodity. ¹⁹¹ As with other commodities, farmers must share in the risk of egg production. In addition, farmers must have a risk in the egg sales. ¹⁹² Egg farmers that have a guaranteed price for egg production are not eligible.

¹⁸⁵ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, page 2-17, para. 22.B, page 5-1, para. 125.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 2 (April 27, 2021); USDA, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2 for Broiler and Egg Producers (May 31, 2021), at https://www.farmers.gov/cfap/broilers-eggs.

¹⁸⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-31, para. 136.A, page 9-1, para. 300.A-B (April 14, 2021).

¹⁸⁷ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Eggs"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-15, para. 22.A, page 5-1, para. 125.B, 5-31, para. 136.A, Exhibit 2, page 1, "Eggs" (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What type of eggs are eligible under CFAP 2?" (April 22, 2021).

¹⁸⁸ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(h)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-31, para. 136.B (April 14, 2021).

¹⁸⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-1, para. 125.A (April 14, 2021). In particular, USDA has decided that egg producers have experienced a 5 percent or more decline in prices in a comparison of prices between January 13-17, 2020, and July 27-31, 2020.

¹⁹⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-31, para. 136.A (April 14, 2021).

¹⁹¹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-31, para. 136.A (April 14, 2021).

¹⁹² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-31, para. 136.A (April 14, 2021). USDA rules say USDA will decide who bears the risk in egg sales.

c. Broilers

Broilers can be an eligible price trigger commodity for CFAP 2.193

If a farmer raises broilers on contract, the farmer may be eligible as a contract producer, and is not viewed as raising a price trigger commodity. ¹⁹⁴ This section describes broilers as a price trigger commodity.

Broilers are defined for the purposes of CFAP 2 to be any chicken that is commercially processed for meat purposes, has not been used for laying or breeding purposes, and left the farm for slaughter in calendar year 2019. ¹⁹⁵ This appears to mean that any chicken still on the farm is not an eligible broiler for CFAP 2 purposes. It is also unclear if birds that were slaughtered and processed on farm are eligible. The definition seems to assume that there is no on-farm processing of chickens for commercial meat sales. If a broiler producer began farming in 2020, and did not have any production in 2019, that farmer will be eligible for CFAP 2 based on their 2020 production. ¹⁹⁶

In general, broiler payments in CFAP 2 are meant to help broiler farmers that had marketing channel disruptions, low prices, and significant marketing costs from the coronavirus pandemic. 197 USDA made this decision for all broiler farmers nationwide, and therefore each broiler farmer is not required to show that they experienced a marketing channel disruption, low prices, or significant marketing costs.

The general CFAP 2 eligibility rules also apply to broiler farmers. This means the farmers must be commercially marketing their broilers. ¹⁹⁸ In addition, farmers not in the business of farming at the time of the application are not eligible. The broiler production must be in the United States.

As noted above, broilers produced by contract growers are not eligible as a price trigger commodity. 199 The broiler producers must be independent growers, and they must share in the risk of the broiler production.

¹⁹³ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Broilers"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, page 2-17, para. 22.B, page 5-1, para. 125.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program for Broiler and Egg Producers (may 31, 2021), at https://www.farmers.gov/cfap/broilers-eggs.

¹⁹⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-31, para. 136.A, page 9-1, para. 300.A-B (April 14, 2021).

CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Broilers"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-31, para. 136.B, Exhibit 2, page 1, "Broiler" (April 14, 2021).

¹⁹⁶ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(f)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-31, para 136.B (April 14, 2021).

¹⁹⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-1, para. 125.A (April 14, 2021). In particular, USDA has decided that broiler producers have experienced a 5 percent or more decline in prices in a comparison of prices between January 13-17, 2020, and July 27-31, 2020.

¹⁹⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-31, para. 136.A (April 14, 2021).

¹⁹⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-31, para. 136.A (April 14, 2021).

d. Price Trigger Livestock

Livestock are eligible as a price trigger commodity for CFAP 2.200 According to USDA, price trigger livestock are eligible for CFAP 2 due to market disruptions, low prices, and significant marketing costs associated with COVID-19.201 In general, payments are based on the farmer's inventory on a date that is picked by the farmer.²⁰² The farmer must pick a date between April 16, 2020, through August 31, 2020.

Livestock, for the purposes of eligibility as a price trigger commodity under CFAP 2, includes three types of livestock: (1) cattle; (2) hogs and pigs; and (3) sheep and lambs.203

A different group of animals, which USDA calls "other livestock," are not eligible as price trigger commodities but are eligible as sales commodities. Sales commodities are discussed below.

As noted above, livestock produced by contract growers are not eligible for CFAP 2 as a price trigger commodity.²⁰⁴

(i) Breeding Stock—Not Eligible

Breeding stock are not eligible as livestock for CFAP 2.205 This is a notable difference between CFAP 1 and CFAP 2. The logic of not including breeding stock is that they are kept for several years and their value is less likely to be affected by price changes caused by COVID-19.206

Replacement stock intended for breeding are, however, eligible.²⁰⁷ So, females that have not produced an offspring, and males who have not started breeding females are eligible.

²⁰⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, page 2-17, para. 22.B, page 6-21, para. 176.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 3 (April 27, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What commodities are included in the three different categories that USDA has established to assist producers impacted by COVID-19 and what are the payment rates?" (April 22, 2021).

²⁰¹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 6-1, para. 165.A (April 14, 2021).

²⁰² CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,381 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory comments); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 6-1, para. 165.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 3 (April 27, 2021).

²⁰³ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Price trigger livestock and products"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, page 2-17, para. 22.B, 6-21, para. 176.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 3 (April 27, 2021). Livestock not listed as eligible by USDA are not eligible as a price trigger livestock commodity.

²⁰⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 6-21, para. 176.A-B (April 14, 2021).

²⁰⁵ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Price trigger livestock and products"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-17, para. 22.B, page 6-21, para. 176.B (April 14, 2021).

USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Why isn't breeding stock eligible for CFAP 2?" (April 22, 2021).
 USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Are 'replacement stock intended for breeding' cattle, hogs/pigs, sheep, and other livestock eligible?" (April 22, 2021).

Culled breeding stock, according to USDA, are not eligible.²⁰⁸ This would seem to mean that an older breeding cow that has had a number of calves, but is now to be culled from the herd and sold at market, still counts as breeding stock and is not eligible.

(ii) Beef Cattle-Eligible

Beef cattle are eligible price trigger commodities under CFAP 2.²⁰⁹ Cattle, for this purpose, are defined in a particular way.²¹⁰ First, they must be bovine animals. Second, they must be commercially raised or maintained. Third, they may not be used for dairy production or intended for dairy production. Fourth, they do not include beefalo and bison. Beefalo and bison are eligible as "other livestock" in the sales commodities category discussed below.

For cattle, breeding stock means bulls and cows, so these cattle are not eligible. 211

(iii) Hogs and Pigs-Eligible

Hogs and pigs are eligible price trigger commodities for CFAP 2.²¹² Hogs are defined as any swine weighing 120 pounds or more.²¹³ Pigs are defined as swine weighing less than 120 pounds.²¹⁴

For hogs and pigs, breeding stock means boars and sows.²¹⁵ As noted above, that means boars and sows are not eligible for CFAP 2 as price trigger commodities.

²⁰⁸ USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Are 'replacement stock intended for breeding' cattle, hogs/pigs, sheep, and other livestock eligible?" (April 22, 2021).

²⁰⁹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Price trigger livestock and products"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-17, para. 22.B, page 6-21, para. 176.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 3 (April 27, 2021).

²¹⁰ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.2, "Cattle").

²¹¹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Breeding stock"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 1, "Breeding stock" (April 14, 2021).

²¹² CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Price trigger livestock and products"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, page 2-17, para. 22.B, 6-21, para. 176.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 3 (April 27, 2021).

²¹³ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.2, "Hogs"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 3, "Hogs" (April 14, 2021).

²¹⁴ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.2, "Hogs"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Pigs" (April 14, 2021).

²¹⁵ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Breeding stock"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 1, "Breeding stock" (April 14, 2021).

(iv) Sheep and Lambs—Eligible

Sheep are eligible price trigger commodities for CFAP 2.216

For lambs and sheep, breeding stock means rams and ewes.²¹⁷ As noted above, that means that rams and ewes are not eligible for CFAP 2 as price trigger livestock.

2. Price Trigger Crops

Price trigger crops include many of the major crops raised in the United States. USDA sometimes calls price trigger crops acreage-based crops. ²¹⁸ Flat-rate crops, discussed below, are also acreage-based crops. The CFAP 2 Application has a specific section for identifying acreage-based crops, including both price trigger crops and flat-rate crops. ²¹⁹ USDA sees aid for acreage-based crops as helping farmers absorb increased marketing costs due to COVID-19. ²²⁰ Compensation for acreage-based crops is for ongoing market disruption and for assistance to a more orderly marketing.

USDA lists eight crops as eligible price trigger crops.²²¹ They are: (1) barley; (2) corn; (3) sorghum; (4) dual purpose sorghum; (5) soybeans; (6) sunflowers; (7) upland cotton; and (8) wheat.

USDA also says that other crops might be added.²²²

USDA limits the availability of CFAP 2 price trigger crops based on their intended use and their type.²²³ The next sections discuss these eligibility issues for price trigger crops.

a. Intended Uses of Price Trigger Crops

For price trigger crops, USDA rules limit the intended use of eligible crops. 224 Intended use means the end use for which the crop or commodity was grown and produced. 225

²¹⁶ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Price trigger livestock and products"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, page 2-17, para. 22.B, 6-21, para. 176.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 3 (April 27, 2021).

²¹⁷ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Breeding stock"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 1, "Breeding stock" (April 14, 2021).

²¹⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-1, para. 250.A (April 14, 2021); CFAP 2 Application, AD-3117, Part G (January 19, 2021).

²¹⁹ CFAP 2 Application, AD-3117, Part G (January 19, 2021).

²²⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-1, para. 250.A (April 14, 2021).

CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, page 2-17, para. 22.B, page 8-25, para. 261.A, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Price Trigger Crops" (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What commodities are included in the three different categories that USDA has established to assist producers impacted by COVID-19 and what are the payment rates?" (April 22, 2021). The FAQ does not include dual purpose sorghum.
 CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-25, para. 261.A (April 14, 2021).

For these restrictions, see CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.B (April 14, 2021). Codes for intended use can be found at FSA Handbook, Acreage and Compliance Determinations, 2-CP (Revision 16), Exhibit 11.E, pages 6-8 (September 8, 2020), at: https://www.fsa.usda.gov/Internet/FSA File/2-cp r16 a13.pdf.

²²⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.B (April 14, 2021).

²²⁵ 7 C.F.R. § 718.2, "Intended use" (2020).

The CFAP 2 Handbook lists six types of uses that are allowed for CFAP 2 price trigger crops. It also lists three types of uses that are not allowed. Not every intended use is allowed for each crop. The nine types of uses are defined in the sections that follow.

(i) Forage

For some price trigger crops, the intended use can be forage. ²²⁶ That means the crop is intended to be harvested as feed for livestock. ²²⁷ This does not include crops grown with the intended use of grazing by livestock or the intended use of grain that may be fed to livestock. As noted below, crops intended for grazing are not eligible for CFAP.

(ii) Fresh

An acceptable intended use for some price trigger crops is what FSA calls fresh.²²⁸ This means the crop is intended to have an end use that does not require changes in the crop. ²²⁹ In other words, the crop is not altered by freezing, canning, pickling, salting, and so forth.

(iii) Green Manure—Not Allowed

Crops intended to be used as green manure are not eligible as price trigger crops.²³⁰ By green manure USDA means that the crop is not intended to be harvested.²³¹ It instead is plowed under to enrich the soil.

(iv) Grain

For some price trigger crops, grain can be an intended use.232 This means that the crop is intended to be harvested as small, hard seed such as corn, rye, oats, millet, or wheat.²³³

(v) Grazing-Not Allowed

Crops intended to be used a grazing are not eligible as price trigger crops. 234 By grazing, USDA means the crop is intended solely for pasture for livestock to roam on and eat. 235

²²⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.B (April 14, 2021).

²²⁷ Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, Exhibit 11.E, page 6 (September 8, 2020).

²²⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.B (April 14, 2021).

Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, Exhibit 11.E, page 6 (September 8, 2020).

²³⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.C (April 14, 2021).

²³¹ Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, Exhibit 11.E, page 6 (September 8, 2020).

²³² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.C (April 14, 2021).

²³³ Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, Exhibit 11.E, page 6 (September 8, 2020).

²³⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.C (April 14, 2021).

²³⁵ Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, Exhibit 11.E, page 7 (September 8, 2020).

(vi) Left Standing-Not Allowed

Crops intended to be left standing are not eligible as price trigger crops. ²³⁶ By left standing USDA means that the crop is intended to be left in the field unharvested. ²³⁷ It is not intended to be mechanically or manually harvested for any purpose. It is also not intended to be grazed by domestic livestock or otherwise harvested in any way. USDA thinks of this as usually done for soil erosion control and nutrient retention.

(vii) Processed

For some price trigger crops, the crop can be intended to be processed.²³⁸ This means that the crop is intended to have an end use after it undergoes a process that changes the original properties of the crop, such as by freezing, drying, canning, salting, and so forth.²³⁹

(viii) Seed

For some price trigger crops, seed can be an eligible intended use.²⁴⁰ A crop with an intended use of seed means the harvest of the seed is to be used for growing a new crop, and not for livestock or human consumption.²⁴¹

(ix) Silage

For some price trigger crops silage is an acceptable intended use.²⁴² For silage, the crop must be intended to be preserved through fermentation and then fed to livestock. Given that USDA says all commodities must be intended to be sold commercially, it may be that silage that is intended to be fed on the farm is not eligible.

b. Eligible Price Trigger Crops

USDA lists the following crops as eligible price trigger crops.²⁴³ The type and use limitations are explained below.

(i) Barley

All types of barley are eligible.²⁴⁴ The intended use for barley may be forage, grain, or silage.

²³⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.C (April 14, 2021).

²³⁷ Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, Exhibit 11.E, page 7 (September 8, 2020).

²³⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.C (April 14, 2021).

²³⁹ Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, Exhibit 11.E, page 8 (September 8, 2020).

²⁴⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.C (April 14, 2021).

²⁴¹ Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, Exhibit 11.E, page 8 (September 8, 2020).

²⁴² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.C (April 14, 2021).

²⁴³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, page 2-17, para. 22.B, page 8-25, para. 261.A, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Price Trigger Crops" (April 14, 2021).

²⁴⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.B (April 14, 2021).

(ii) Corn

The following types of corn are eligible for as price trigger crops: (1) amylose; (2) blue; (3) grainless forage; (4) high amylese; (5) popcorn; (6) red; (7) strawberry popcorn; (8) tropical; (9) waxy; (10) white; and (11) yellow.²⁴⁵ The intended us for corn can be fresh, grain, processed, seed, or silage.

(iii) Sorghum

All types of sorghum are eligible.²⁴⁶ The intended use for sorghum can be forage, grain, seed, or silage.

(iv) Dual Purpose Sorghum

All types of dual purpose sorghum are eligible.²⁴⁷ The intended use for dual purpose sorghum can be forage, grain, seed, or silage.

(v) Soybeans

All types of soybeans are eligible.²⁴⁸ The intended use for soybeans can be forage, fresh, grain, seed, or processed.

(vi) Sunflowers

All types of sunflowers are eligible.²⁴⁹ Sunflowers may be used for forage, grain, seed, or processed.

(vii) Upland Cotton

It is not clear if all types of upland cotton are eligible. ²⁵⁰ It is also not clear if there are restrictions based on the intended use for upland cotton.

(viii) Wheat

All types of wheat are eligible as price trigger crops.²⁵¹ Wheat may be used for forage, grain, or seed.

c. Some Crops Not Eligible as Price Trigger Crops

Several types of crops are not eligible as price trigger crops—even if they are listed above.

²⁴⁵ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.B (April 14, 2021).

²⁴⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.B (April 14, 2021).

²⁴⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.B (April 14, 2021).

²⁴⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.B (April 14, 2021).

²⁴⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.B (April 14, 2021).

²⁵⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.B (April 14, 2021).

²⁵¹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.B (April 14, 2021).

(i) Volunteer Crops—Not Eligible

Volunteer crops are not eligible as price trigger crops.²⁵² USDA defines volunteer crop.²⁵³ A crop is considered a volunteer by USDA if it was planted in a previous crop year on the same acreage, or drifted from another acreage, successfully reseeded, and is growing in the current crop year without being intentionally sown or managed.

(ii) Prevented Planting-Not Eligible

Prevented planting acres are not eligible as price trigger crops.²⁵⁴ Prevented planting is defined by USDA.²⁵⁵ It is the inability to plant the intended crop acreage with proper equipment by the final planting date for the crop type because of a natural disaster.

(iii) Experimental—Not Eligible

Experimental crops are not eligible as price trigger crops.²⁵⁶ USDA defines experimental crop.²⁵⁷ For this purpose, the definition has three parts. First, an experimental crop is planted for experimental purposes under the direct supervision by a state experiment station or a commercial company. Second, the production of the crop is destroyed before harvest or is used for testing or other experimental purpose. Third, a representative of the state experiment station or commercial company certifies that any production harvested from the experiment will not be marketed.

d. Acreage Report and Eligible Acres for Price Trigger Crops

Payments for price trigger crops are based on what USDA calls eligible acres.²⁵⁸ Prevented planting acres and experimental acres are not included in eligible acres. Failed acres are included.

Importantly, eligible acres are determined based on what a farmer reports on what USDA calls an acreage report (Form FSA-578).²⁵⁹ For this reason, farmers

²⁵² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.C (April 14, 2021).

²⁵³ Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, page 2-60, para. 39.A. page 2-117, para. 74.E, Exhibit 3, page 13, "Volunteer Crop" (September 8, 2020).

²⁵⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.C (April 14, 2021).

²⁵⁵ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Prevented planting"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Prevented Planting" (April 14, 2021); Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, page 2-43, para. 37.A, page 2-117, para. 74.E, page 3-55, para. 162.D, Exhibit 2, page 10, "Prevented Planting" (September 8, 2020).

²⁵⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.C (April 14, 2021).

²⁵⁷ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Experimental"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 2, "Experimental" (April 14, 2021); Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, page 2-87, para. 59.H, page 2-116 and 2-117, para. 74.D, Exhibit 11, page 3 para. 74.B (September 8, 2020).

²⁵⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-3, para. 250.D, page 8-4, para. 251.B, pages 8-2 and 8-3, para. 250.C, "Eligible acres," "Experimental acres," "Failed acres," "Prevented planting" (April 14, 2021).

²⁵⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-2, para. 250.C, "Eligible acres" (April 14, 2021).

applying for CFAP 2 for price trigger crops will need to file an acreage report with FSA. 260

As with other information on the CFAP 2 Application, generally, USDA will look to see if USDA thinks the reported acreage is reasonable and accurate.²⁶¹

B. Flat-Rate Crops

A category of crops that USDA calls flat-rate crops are eligible for CFAP 2.²⁶² These include crops that USDA decided did not have a 5 percent price decline.²⁶³ They also include crops for which USDA did not have enough data to calculate a price decline.

Somewhat confusingly, USDA sometimes calls flat-rate crops acreage-based crops.²⁶⁴ Price trigger crops, discussed above, are also acreage-based crops.²⁶⁵ USDA sees aid for acreage-based crops as helping farmers absorb increased marketing costs due to COVID-19.²⁶⁶ Compensation for acreage-based crops, including flat-rate crops, is for on-going market disruption and for assistance for a more orderly marketing.

Because USDA determined a nationwide eligibility for flat-rate crops and acreage-based crops, individual farmers do not need to establish specific market disruptions, decreased prices, or increased marketing costs in order to apply for CFAP 2.

Payments for flat-rate crops are based on what USDA calls eligible acres. ²⁶⁷ Payment calculations for flat-rate corps are discussed below. As with information on the CFAP 2 application, generally, USDA will look to see if USDA thinks the reported acreage is reasonable and accurate. ²⁶⁸ Farmers applying for flat-rate crops will need to file what USDA calls an acreage report (Form FSA-578). ²⁶⁹

1. Eligible Flat-Rate Crops

Flat rate crops are set out by USDA.²⁷⁰ They include, but are not limited to, the following: (1) alfalfa; (2) amaranth grain; (3) buckwheat; (4) canola; (5) ELS cotton; (6) crambe (colewort); (7) einkorn; (8) emmer; (9) flax; (10) guar; (11) hemp; (12) indigo; (13) industrial rice; (14) kenaf; (15) khorasan wheat; (16) millet; (17) mustard; (18) oats; (19) peanuts; (20) quinoa; (21) rapeseed; (22) sweet rice; (23) wild rice; (24)

²⁶⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-4, para. 251.A (April 14, 2021).

²⁶¹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-4, para. 251.C (April 14, 2021).

²⁶² CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Flat-rate crop"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-51, para, 273.A (April 14, 2021).

²⁶³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-51, para, 273.A (April 14, 2021).

²⁶⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-1, para. 250.A, page 8-51, para, 273.A (April 14, 2021).

²⁶⁵ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-1, para. 250.A (April 14, 2021).

²⁶⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-1, para. 250.A (April 14, 2021).

²⁶⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-3, para. 250.E, page 8-4, para. 251.B, pages 8-2 and 8-3, para. 250.C, "Eligible acres," "Experimental acres," "Failed acres," "Prevented planting" (April 14, 2021).

²⁶⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-4, para. 251.C (April 14, 2021).

²⁶⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-4, para. 251.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What if I don't have a 2020 FSA-578 crop acreage report on file with FSA?" (April 22, 2021).

²⁷⁰ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Flat-rate crop"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, page 2-17, para. 22B, page 8-51, para. 273.A, Exhibit 2, page 2, "Flat-Rate Crop" (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 4 (April 27, 2021) (does not include rye).

rye; (25) safflower; (26) sesame; (27) speltz; (28) sugar beets; (29) sugarcane; (30) teff; and (31) triticale.

Hemp, one of the flat rate crops listed above, has a particular definition.²⁷¹

USDA also says it can add other eligible flat-rate crops if it chooses to do so.²⁷²

2. Not Eligible as Flat-Rate Crops

The following sections describe crops that are not eligible for CFAP 2 as flat-rate crops.

a. Prevented Planting, Experimental Acres, Volunteer Crops, and Failed Acres

Prevented planting acres, experimental acres, and volunteer crops are not included in eligible acres for flat-rate crops.²⁷³ Failed acres are eligible.²⁷⁴

(i) Prevented Planting—Not Eligible

Flat-rate crops do not include prevented planting acres. ²⁷⁵ Prevented planting is defined by USDA. ²⁷⁶ It is the inability to plant the intended crop acreage with proper equipment by the final planting date for the crop type because of a natural disaster.

(ii) Experimental Crops—Not Eligible

Flat-rate crops do not include experimental crops.²⁷⁷ USDA defines experimental crop.²⁷⁸ For this purpose, the definition has three parts. First, an experimental crop is planted for experimental purposes under

For CFAP 2 purposes, hemp means the plant *Cannabis sativa L.* and any part of that plant. This includes seeds thereof and all derivatives, extracts, cannabinoids, isomers, acids, salts, and salts of isomers, whether growing or not, with a THC concentration of not more than 0.3 percent on a dry weight basis. Hemp must be grown under an official certification or license issued by the applicable governing authority that permits the production of the hemp. CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Hemp"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-2 para. 250.C, "Hemp," Exhibit 2, page 3, "Hemp" (April 14, 2021).

²⁷² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-51, para. 273.A (April 14, 2021).

²⁷³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-52, para. 273.B (April 14, 2021).

²⁷⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-4, para. 251.B (April 14, 2021). Failed acres are acres that were timely planted with the intent to harvest, but because of disaster conditions, the crop failed before it could be brought to harvest. See CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-2, para. C, "Failed acres" (April 14, 2021).

²⁷⁵ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-52, para. 273.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I grow a commodity in the flat rate category. How will my payments be calculated?" (April 22, 2021).

²⁷⁶ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Prevented planting"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Prevented Planting" (April 14, 2021); Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, page 2-43, para. 37.A, page 2-117, para. 74.E, page 3-55, para. 162.D, Exhibit 2, page 10, "Prevented Planting" (September 8, 2020).

²⁷⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-52, para. 273.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I grow a commodity in the flat rate category. How will my payments be calculated?" (April 22, 2021).

²⁷⁸ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Experimental"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-52, para. 273.B, Exhibit 2, page 2, "Experimental" (April 14, 2021); Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, page 2-87, para. 59.H, page 2-116 and 2-117, para. 74.D, Exhibit 11, page 3 para. 74.B (September 8, 2020).

the direct supervision by a state experiment station or a commercial company. Second, the production of the crop is destroyed before harvest or is used for testing or other experimental purpose. Third, a representative of the state experiment station or commercial company certifies that any production harvested from the experiment will not be marketed.

(iii) Volunteer Crops—Not Eligible

USDA defines volunteer crop.²⁷⁹ A crop is considered a volunteer crop by USDA if it was planted in a previous crop year on the same acreage, or drifted from another acreage, successfully reseeded, and is growing in the current crop year without being intentionally sown or managed.

b. Hay, Excluding Alfalfa, is Not Eligible as a Flat-Rate Crop

Flat rate crops do not include hay, except for alfalfa.²⁸⁰

c. Intended Uses of Crops that are Not Eligible for Flat-Rate Crops

USDA limits the intended uses of flat-rate crops.²⁸¹ Three particular intended uses for a crop are not allowed by USDA for flat-rate crops.²⁸² Intended use means the end use for which the crop or commodity was grown and produced.²⁸³

(i) Grazing

Grazing is not an allowed intended use for flat-rate crops. 284 By grazing, USDA means the crop is intended solely for pasture for livestock to roam on and eat. 285

(ii) Left Standing

Left standing is not an allowed intended use for flat-rate crops.²⁸⁶ By left standing USDA means that the crop is intended to be left in the field

²⁷⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-52, para. 273.B (April 14, 2021); Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, page 2-60, para. 39.A. page 2-117, para. 74.E, Exhibit 3, page 13, "Volunteer Crop" (September 8, 2020).

²⁸⁰ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Flat-rate crop"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-2, para. 250.C, "Flat-rate crop," Exhibit 2, page 2, "Flat-Rate Crop" (April 14, 2021).

²⁸¹ CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 8-51 and 8-52, para. 273.A-B (April 14, 2021).

²⁸² CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Flat-rate crop"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-52, para. 273.B (April 14, 2021).

²⁸³ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.2, "Commodity"); 7 C.F.R. § 718.2, "Intended use" (2020).

²⁸⁴ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Flat-rate crop"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-52, para. 273.B (April 14, 2021).

²⁸⁵ Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, Exhibit 11.E, page 7 (September 8, 2020).

²⁸⁶ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Flat-rate crop"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-52, para. 273.B (April 14, 2021).

unharvested.²⁸⁷ It is not intended to be mechanically or manually harvested for any purpose. It is also not intended to be grazed by domestic livestock or otherwise harvested in any way. USDA thinks of this as usually done for soil erosion control and nutrient retention.

(iii) Green Manure

Green manure is not an allowed intended use for flat-rate crops.²⁸⁸ By green manure USDA means that the crop is not intended to be harvested.²⁸⁹ It instead is plowed under to enrich the soil.

C. Sales Commodities

Sales commodities are a group of commodities that are eligible for CFAP 2.290

1. Sales Commodities—General Rules

Sales commodities are a group of eligible commodities that vary greatly among themselves.²⁹¹ What they have in common is that USDA has grouped them into a category for the purposes of CFAP 2 and has called them "sales commodities." Sometimes USDA calls them "sales-based commodities."

In general, several categories of sales-based commodities are eligible. ²⁹³ They are: (1) aquaculture; (2) specialty crops, including fruits, horticulture, vegetables, tree nuts, and sales-based crops; (3) nursery crops and floriculture; (4) other livestock, including pullets; (5) miscellaneous commodities; (6) tobacco; and (7) turfgrass sod. USDA says that it may add commodities to this list. ²⁹⁴

a. General Eligibility of Sales Commodities

USDA says that the eligible sales commodities have faced market disruptions, low prices, and significant marketing costs, with the marketing costs due to declines in demand, surplus production, disruptions in shipping, and marketing of

²⁸⁷ Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, Exhibit 11.E, page 7 (September 8, 2020). ²⁸⁸ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201,

[&]quot;Flat-rate crop"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-52, para. 273.B (April 14, 2021).

Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, Exhibit 11.E, page 6 (September 8, 2020).

²⁹⁰ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based commodities"); CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 7-21 and 7-22, para. 221.A (April 14, 2021).

²⁹¹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based commodities"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, page 7-1, para. 211.B (April 14, 2021).

²⁹² CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based commodities"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 5, "Sales-Based Commodities" (April 14, 2021).

²⁹³ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based commodities"); CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 7-21 and 7-22, para. 221.A (April 14, 2021); CFAP 2 Application, AD-3117, Part F (January 19, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What commodities are included in the three different categories that USDA has established to assist producers impacted by COVID-19 and what are the payment rates?" (April 22, 2021).

²⁹⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, Exhibit 2, page 5, "Sales-Based Commodities" (April 14, 2021).

commodities.²⁹⁵ Because USDA made this decision for all eligible sales commodities nationwide, individual farmers do not need to establish any of these disruptions, decreased prices, or marketing costs in order to apply for CFAP 2.

b. What is Included in Eligible Sales for Sales Commodities

Payments for sales commodities for CFAP 2 are based in part on the farmer's certification of calendar year 2019 sales.²⁹⁶ These sales can include expenses for sales-based commodities, such as bin charges and transportation costs, but only if such expenses are broken out and can be distinguished from other expenses.²⁹⁷ If expenses are recorded as a single line item they cannot be included as eligible sales unless the farmer provides additional information to support the expenses.

In addition, recent changes to the CFAP 2 rules now allow the amount of crop insurance or other similar indemnities that the farmer received for the 2019 crop year to be included in the farmer's 2019 sales. In particular, the following indemnities can now be added to a farmer's 2019 sales numbers: (1) federal crop insurance indemnities; (2) Noninsured Crop Disaster Assistance Program (NAP) payments, and Wildfire and Hurricanes Indemnity Program Plus (WHIP+) payments.²⁹⁸ Because 2019 crop sales are used as the basis to calculate salesbased commodity losses, this change will increase the CFAP 2 payment for many farmers.

Producers who began farming a specific sales commodity in 2020, and had no 2019 sales for that commodity, may be eligible for CFAP 2 using their actual 2020 sales.²⁹⁹ USDA notes, however, that farmers who began farming in 2020 and are using their 2020 actual sales will not be able to include crops insurance payments, NAP, or WHIP+ payments.³⁰⁰

c. Only Raw Commodities Grown by Farmer

Sales commodities are only eligible for CFAP 2 as raw commodities grown by the farmer.³⁰¹ Any value added to the commodity by processing or packaging—

²⁹⁵ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-1, para. 211.A (April 14, 2021).

²⁹⁶ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.203(i)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.A, page 2-16, para. 22.A, page 7-22, para. 222.A (April 14, 2021). This change was created by the 2021 Appropriations Act.

²⁹⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-24, para. 222.A (April 14, 2021).

²⁹⁸ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Crop insurance," "NAP," "WHIP+"), 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.203(i)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP Handbook page 2-14, para. 21.B, page 2-16, para. 22.A, page 7-22, para. 222.A, Exhibit 2, page 3, "NAP," Exhibit 2, page 5, "WHIP+" (April 14, 2021). NAP rules are at 7 C.F.R. part 1437 (2021). WHIP+ rules are at 7 C.F.R. part 760, subpart O (2021); USDA, CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 4 (April 27, 2021).

²⁹⁹ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(i)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-24, para 222.B (April 14, 2021).

³⁰⁰ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-24, para 222.B (April 14, 2021).

³⁰¹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(i)); CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 7-22 and 7-23, para 222.A, page 7-24, para. 222.B (April 14,

whether or not that occurs on the farm—is not eligible.³⁰² This also means that commodities that were bought for resale, and not grown by the farmer, are not eligible.

USDA explains that the value of eligible raw commodities is "the value of the production delivered to the first buying point, warehouse, or packer excluding any value derived from sorting, bagging, boxing, or other activities necessary for a consumer-ready sale."³⁰³ In other words, eligible sales commodities include only the value of the raw commodities that reflect the growing, harvesting, practices necessary for production (such as fumigation), and basic packaging for wholesale or bulk transportation.³⁰⁴ Under this rule, processed commodities such as wine, yarn, or hides are not eligible for CFAP 2.³⁰⁵ For example, sales of alpaca fleece can be counted, but if the fleece is further processed into yarn prior to sale, any portion of the sale that comes from that additional processing would not be eligible for a CFAP 2 payment.³⁰⁶ This means that farmers may need to convert value-added sales into raw sales. This rule would also seem to apply to value-added products such as goat cheese, and other processed commodities like maple syrup.

d. Documentation for Sales Commodities

As is the case with other CFAP 2 commodities, USDA may ask farmers for documentation of the sales described on the CFAP 2 application.³⁰⁷ USDA may look to see if sales figures are reasonable to USDA. ³⁰⁸ Also, USDA may adjust the commodity sales in the farmer's application if USDA decides they are unreasonable or not accurate.³⁰⁹ Sales numbers must also be reflected in farmer documentation if USDA asks for the documentation. ³¹⁰ USDA advises that farmers who convert the sales of a value-added product into a value for the raw commodity should be able to document and explain how they determined the raw value for that commodity.³¹¹

^{2021);} USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What 2019 sales should I include on my CFAP 2 application for sales commodities?" (April 22, 2021).

³⁰² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-22, para 222.A, page 7-24, para. 222.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What 2019 sales should I include on my CFAP 2 application for sales commodities?" (April 22, 2021).

³⁰³ USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What 2019 sales should I include on my CFAP 2 application for sales commodities?" (April 22, 2021).

The CFAP FAQ page provides many examples of eligible and ineligible raw sales commodities. See USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What 2019 sales should I include on my CFAP 2 application for sales commodities?" (April 22, 2021).

³⁰⁵ USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What 2019 sales should I include on my CFAP 2 application for sales commodities?" (April 22, 2021).

³⁰⁶ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021).

³⁰⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-22, para 222.A, page 7-23, para, 222.B (April 14, 2021).

³⁰⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-23, para 222.B (April 14, 2021).

³⁰⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-24, para 222.D (April 14, 2021).

³¹⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-24, para 222.D (April 14, 2021).

USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What 2019 sales should I include on my CFAP 2 application for sales commodities?" (April 22, 2021).

2. Eligible Types of Sales Commodities

The following sections explain the rules for the six types of eligible sales commodities: (1) aquaculture; (2) specialty crops, including fruits, horticulture, vegetables, tree nuts, and sales-based crops; (3) nursery crops and floriculture; (4) other livestock, including pullets; (5) miscellaneous commodities; (6) tobacco; and (7) turfgrass sod. 312

a. Aquaculture

Sales-based commodities include aquaculture.³¹³ Aquaculture, for the purposes of CFAP 2, is defined by USDA.³¹⁴ It is: (1) any species of aquatic organisms that are grown for human consumption; (2) fish raised as feed for fish that are consumed by humans; and (3) ornamental fish that are propagated and reared in an aquatic medium. USDA considers mollusks to be aquaculture.³¹⁵

In addition, for CFAP 2 purposes aquaculture species must be raised by a commercial operator.³¹⁶ They must also be raised in a controlled environment.³¹⁷

³¹² CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based commodities") (January 19, 2021); CFAP Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, page 7-22, para. 221.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What commodities are included in the three different categories that USDA has established to assist producers impacted by COVID-19 and what are the payment rates?" (April 22, 2021).

³¹³ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based commodities"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, page 7-1, para. 211.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2 For Aquaculture Producers (May 31, 2021), at https://www.farmers.gov/cfap/aquaculture.

³¹⁴ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Aquaculture"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 1, "Aquaculture" (April 14, 2021).

³¹⁵ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-1, para. 211.B, page 7-21, para. 221.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What aquaculture species are eligible for coverage under CFAP 2?" (April 22, 2021).

³¹⁶ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Aquaculture").

³¹⁷ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Aquaculture"). With respect to aquaculture, a controlled environment is an environment in which everything that can practicably be controlled by the producer with structure, facilities, growing media, such as water, soil, and nutrients is in fact controlled by the producer as determined by industry standards. CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.2, "Controlled environment"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2. page 1, "Controlled Environment" (April 14, 2021).

b. Specialty Crops

Sales commodities include what FSA calls specialty crops. ³¹⁸ USDA sometimes refers to these as sales-based crops. ³¹⁹ On the CFAP 2 Application, USDA simply calls these "crops." ³²⁰

For the purpose of CFAP 2 sales commodities, specialty crops include: (1) all specialty crops that were available in CFAP 1; and (2) crops identified by USDA's Agricultural Marketing Service (AMS) as specialty crops.³²¹

More specifically, specialty crops (or, sales-based crops) are defined by USDA to include: (1) fruit; (2) horticulture; (3) vegetables; (4) tree nuts; and (5) other sales-based crops. 322

The following rules apply.

(i) Eligible Intended Uses of Sales-Based Crops

There can only be certain intended uses for eligible sales-based crops.³²³ Intended use means the end use for which the crop or commodity was grown and produced.³²⁴ Eligible sales-based crops cannot be intended to be used for grazing, green manure, or left standing.³²⁵

By grazing, USDA means the crop is intended solely for pasture for livestock to roam on and eat.³²⁶ By green manure, USDA means that the crop is not intended to be harvested.³²⁷ The crop instead is plowed under to enrich the soil. By left standing, USDA means that the crop is intended to be left in the field unharvested.³²⁸ It is not intended to be mechanically

³¹⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-21, para. 221.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What commodities are included in the three different categories that USDA has established to assist producers impacted by COVID-19 and what are the payment rates?" (April 22, 2021).

³¹⁹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based commodities"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 5, "Sales-Based Crops" (April 14, 2021).

³²⁰ CFAP 2 Application, AD-3117, Part F (January 19, 2021). More precisely, Part F of the CFAP 2 Application refers to these as "Crops (Excluding Part G Crops)," which simply means that sales crops do not include any of the price trigger or flat-rate acreage-based crops.

CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-21, para. 221.A (April 14, 2021). This means: (1) all of the specialty crops listed for CFAP 1, at FSA Handbook, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program, 1-CFAP, pages 8-1 to 8-44, para. 221-235 (September 15, 2020); and (2) AMS, USDA Definition of Specialty Crop (2020), at: https://www.ams.usda.gov/sites/default/files/media/USDASpecialtyCropDefinition.pdf.

³²² CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based crops"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 5, "Sales-Based Crops" (April 14, 2021).

³²³ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386-59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based crops").

³²⁴ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.2, "Commodity"); 7 C.F. R. 718.2, "Intended use" (2020).

³²⁵ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based crops"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 5, "Sales-Based Crops" (April 14, 2021).

³²⁶ Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, Exhibit 11.E, page 7 (September 8, 2020).

³²⁷ Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, Exhibit 11.E, page 6 (September 8, 2020).

³²⁸ Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, Exhibit 11.E, page 7 (September 8, 2020).

or manually harvested for any purpose. It is also not intended to be grazed by domestic livestock, or otherwise harvested in any way. USDA thinks of this as usually done for soil erosion control and nutrient retention.

(ii) Eligible Fruits

Fruits that qualify as sales-based crops for CFAP 2 purposes are defined by USDA.³²⁹ A recent rule has changed, slightly, the list of eligible fruits for CFAP 2.³³⁰ The new rule also says that the calculation of benefits for fruits has changed, though it appears the change is very minor and will not result in any recalculated payments for farmers.³³¹

Fruits are defined as all of the following: (1) abiu; (2) acerola (Barbados cherry); (3) achachairu; (4) antidesma; (5) apples; (6) apricots; (7) aronia (chokeberry)(8); atemova (custard apple); (9) bananas; (10) blueberries; (11) breadfruit; (12) cacao; (13); caimito; (14) calabaza melon; (15) canary melon; (16) canary seed; (17) caneberries; (18) canistel; (19) cantaloupes; (20) carambola (21) star fruit); (22) casaba melon; (23) cherimoya (sugar apple); (24) cherries; (25) Chinese bitter melon; (26) citron; (27) citron melon; (28) coconuts; (29) cranberries; (30) crenshaw melon; (31) dates; (32) donaqua (winter melon); (33) durian; (34) elderberries; (35) figs; (36) genip; (37) gooseberries; (38) grapefruit; (39) grapes; (40) ground cherry; (41) guamabana (soursop); (42) guava; (43) guavaberry; (44) honeyberries; (45) honeydew; (46) huckleberries; (47) Israel melons; (48) jack fruit; (49) jujube; (50) juneberries; (51) kiwiberry; (52) kiwifruit; (53) Korean golden melon; (54) kumquats; (55) langsat; (56) lemons; (57) limequats; (58) limes; (59) longan; (60) loquats; (61) lychee; (62) mangos; (63) mangosteen; (64) mayhaw berries; (65) mesple; (66) mulberries; (67) nectarines; (68) oranges; (69) papaya; (70) passion fruits; (71) pawpaw; (72) peaches; (73) pears; (74) pecans; (75) pineapple; (76) pitaya (dragon fruit); (77) plantain; (78) plumcots; (79) plums; (80) pomegranates; (81) prunes; (82) pummelo; (83) raisins; (84) rambutan; (85) sapodilla; (86) sapote; (87) schizandra berries; (88) sprite melon; (89) star gooseberry; (90) strawberries; (91) tangelos; (92) tangerines; (93) tangors; (94) wampee; (95) watermelon; (96) wax jamboo fruit; and (97) wolfberry (goji).³³² A change to the CFAP 2 rules in the Federal Register added the following as eligible fruits (and removed these from the list of eligible tree nuts): avocados, noni, olives, persimmons, and quinces.333

³²⁹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Fruits"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 3, "Fruits" (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Which fruits are eligible for CFAP 2?" (April 22, 2021).

See CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Fruits" (January 19, 2021).

³³¹ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks), 4880, Table 1 (January 19, 2021).

³³² CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Fruits"); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Which fruits are eligible for CFAP 2?" (April 22, 2021).

³³³ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Fruits" (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 3, "Fruits" (April 14, 2021). These changes

(iii) Eligible Horticulture

Horticulture qualifies as a sales-based crop under CFAP 2.334

Horticulture is defined by USDA for the purposes of CFAP 2, and includes the following: (1) anise; (2) basil; (3) cassava; (4) chervil (Fresh parsley); (5) chia; (6) chicory (radicchio); (7) cilantro; (8) cinnamon; (9) curry leaves; (10) galangal; (11) ginger; (12) ginseng; (13) guayule; (14) herbs; (15) hops; (16) lotus root; (17) marjoram; (18) meadowfoam; (19) mint; (20) moringa; (21) niger seed; (22) oregano; (23) parsley; (24) pennycress; (25) peppermint; (26) pohole; (27) psyllium; (28) rosemary; (29) sage; (30) savory; (31) shrubs (forbs); (32) sorrel; (33) spearmint; (34) tangos; (35) tea; (36); thyme; (37) turmeric; (38) vanilla; (39) wasabi; (40); water cress; and (41) yu cha.³³⁵

(iv) Eligible Vegetables

Vegetables are an eligible sales-based based crop under CFAP 2.336

USDA created a list of eligible vegetables.³³⁷ They include: (1) alfalfa sprouts; (2) aloe vera; (3) artichokes; (4) arugula greens; (5) asparagus; (6) bamboo shoots; (7) batatas; (8) bean sprouts; (9) beans, including dry edible beans; (1) beets; (11) bok choy; (12) broccoflower; (13) broccoli; (14) broccolini; 15) broccolo-cavalo; (16) Brussel sprouts; (17) cabbage; (18) callaloo; (19) carrots; (20) cauliflower; (21) celeriac; (22) celery; (23) chickpea (garbanzo beans); (24) chives; (25) collard greens; (26) coriander; (27) sweet corn; (28) cucumbers; (29) daikon; (30) dandelion greens; (31) dasheen (taro root); (32) malanga); (33) dill; (34) eggplant; (35) endive; (36) escarole; (37) frisee; (38) gailon (gai lein); (39) Chinese broccoli; (40) garlic; (41) gourds; (42) greens; (43) horseradish; (44) Jerusalem artichokes (sunchoke); (45) kale; (46) kohlrabi; (47) leeks; (48) lentils; (49) lettuce; (50) melongene; (51) mesculin mix; (52) microgreens; (53) mushrooms; (54) okra; (55) onions; (56) parsnip; (57) peas (including dry edible); (58) pejibaye (heart of palm); (59) peppers; (60) potatoes; (61) potatoes sweet; (62) pumpkins; (63) radicchio; (64) radishes; (65) rhubarb; (66) rutabaga; (67) salsify (oyster plant); (68) scallions; (69) seed - vegetable; (70) shallots; (71) spinach; (72) squash;

have not been included in the USDA CFAP FAQ, "Which fruits are eligible for CFAP 2?" (April 22, 2021).

³³⁴ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Horticulture," "Sales-based crops"); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Which other horticultural crops are eligible for CFAP 2?" (April 22, 2021); Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2 for Specialty Crop Producers, Horticulture (May 31, 2021), at https://www.farmers.gov/cfap/specialty.

³³⁵ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Horticulture"); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Which other horticulture crops are eligible for CFAP 2?" (April 22, 2021); Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2 for Specialty Crop Producers, Horticulture (May 31, 2021), at https://www.farmers.gov/cfap/specialty.

³³⁶ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386-59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based crops," "Vegetables"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 5, "Sales-Based Crops" (April 14, 2021).

³³⁷ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Vegetables"); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What vegetables are eligible for CFAP 2?" (April 22, 2021).

(73) swiss chard; (74) tannier; (75) taro; (76) tomatillos; (77) tomatoes; (78) truffles; (79) turnip top greens; (80) turnips; (81) yam; (82) and yautia (malanga).

(v) Eligible Tree Nuts

Tree nuts qualify as a sales-based crop for CFAP 2 purposes by USDA.³³⁸ Tree nuts are defined by USDA.³³⁹ Following recent rule changes to CFAP 2, eligible tree nuts are: (1) almonds; (2) carob; (3) cashews; (4) chestnuts; (5) coffee; (6) hazel nuts; (7) jojoba; (8); macadamia nuts; (9) pecans; (10) pine nuts; (11) pistachios; and (12) walnuts.³⁴⁰ A new rule in the Federal Register says the calculation of benefits for tree nuts has changed, though it appears the change is very minor and will not result in any recalculated payments for farmers.³⁴¹

(vi) Other Eligible Sales-Based Crops

Although not called miscellaneous commodities, the following are listed as eligible sales-based crops: (1) ambrosia; (2) arundo; (3) camelina; (4) cactus; (5) cardoon; (7) honey; and (9) maple sap.³⁴² In addition, crops not listed as price trigger crops or as flat-rate crops are eligible as sales commodities.³⁴³

c. Nursery and Floriculture

Sales-based commodities include nursery and floriculture.344

Nursery is defined by USDA.³⁴⁵ It means decorative or nondecorative plants grown in a container or a controlled environment for commercial sale.³⁴⁶

³³⁸ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based crops"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 5, "Sales-Based Crops" (April 14, 2021).

³³⁹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Tree nuts"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 5, "Tree Nuts" (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What tree nuts are included?" (April 22, 2021).

³⁴⁰ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Tree nuts" (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 5, "Tree Nuts" (April 14, 2021).

³⁴¹ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks), 4880, Table 1 (January 19, 2021). This change is not included on the USDA website.

³⁴² CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 5, "Sales-Based Crops" (April 14, 2021).

³⁴³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-1, para. 211.B (April 14, 2021); CFAP 2 Application, Form AD-3117, Part F (January 19, 2021).

³⁴⁴ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based commodities"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, page 7-1, para. 211.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2 for Nursery and Floriculture Producers (May 31, 2021), at https://www.farmers.gov/cfap/nursery.

³⁴⁵ CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Nursery" (April 14, 2021).

For purpose of nursery crops, a controlled environment is an environment in which everything that can practicably be controlled by the producer with structure, facilities, growing media, such as water, soil, and nutrients is in fact controlled by the producer as determined by industry standards. CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.2, "Controlled environment"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2. page 1, "Controlled Environment" (April 14, 2021).

Floriculture, for the purposes of CFAP 2, is defined by USDA.³⁴⁷ Floriculture is defined as cut flowers and cut greenery that is from annual and perennial flowering plants that are grown in a container or a controlled environment for commercial sale.³⁴⁸

d. Other Livestock-Including Pullets

Sales-based commodities include what USDA calls "other livestock," and sometimes calls "specifically identified livestock." ³⁴⁹ Other livestock are defined generally as animals commercially raised for food, fur, fiber, or feathers. ³⁵⁰

Other livestock that can be eligible are listed by USDA.³⁵¹ They include: (1) alpacas; (2) bison; (2) buffalo; (4) beefalo; (5) deer; (6) ducks; (7) elk; (8) emus; (9) geese; (10) goats; (11) guinea pigs; (12) llamas; (13) ostrich; (14) pheasants; (15) quail; (16) rabbits; (17) reindeer; and (18) turkey.

As of a January 19, 2021 rule, pullets are also now eligible as "other livestock" in the sales commodity category. In particular, pullets may be counted as an "other livestock" sales commodity under CFAP 2.353 USDA defines a "pullet" as a young female chicken that has not laid an egg.354

³⁴⁷ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Floriculture"); CFAP Handbook, page 7.5-12, para. 208.A, Exhibit 2, page 2, "Floriculture" (August 14, 2020).

For the purpose of floriculture, a controlled environment is an environment in which everything that can practicably be controlled by the producer with structure, facilities, growing media, such as water, soil, and nutrients is in fact controlled by the producer as determined by industry standards. CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.2, "Controlled environment"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2. page 1, "Controlled Environment" (April 14, 2021).

³⁴⁹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based commodities"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, page 7-1, para. 211.B, page 7-21, para. 221.A (April 14, 2021).

CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Other livestock"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-21, para. 221.A, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Other Livestock" (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What other livestock will be considered under this category of payment?" (April 22, 2021).

³⁵¹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386, (September 22, 2020), (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Other livestock"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-21, para. 221.A, page 7-22, para. 221.B, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Other Livestock" (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What other livestock will be considered under this category of payment?" (April 22, 2021).

CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Other livestock") (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-21, para. 221.A, Exhibit 2, page 5, "Sales-based commodities" (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What other livestock will be considered under this category of payment?" (April 22, 2021). USDA says this change is made because these producers face market disruptions, low prices, and significant marketing costs due to COVID-19. CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021).

³⁵³ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Other livestock") (January 19, 2021). USDA says this change is made because these producers face market disruptions, low prices, and significant marketing costs due to COVID-19.

³⁵⁴ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Pullets") (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 5, "Pullet" (April 14, 2021).

In addition to pullets, the January 19, 2021, rule also makes water buffalo, yak, and pheasants, including chukars, eligible as "other livestock" in the sales commodity category for CFAP 2.355 The rules also appear to add mink as eligible under the definition of other livestock, though the CFAP 2 Handbook describes mink as a "miscellaneous" sales commodity.356

Eligible "other livestock" also include the by-products of any live animals that fall within this category. 357 Fleece, milk, and eggs (except for eggs to batched for breeding stock), for example, can be part of the other livestock by-product eligibility. 358

Other livestock do not include, however, a number of animals.³⁵⁹ These include: (1) all equine; (2) breeding stock; (3) reptiles; (4) amphibians; (5) bees; (6) companion or comfort animals; pets; and (7) animal raised for hunting or game purposes. For purposes of this rule, breeding stock includes livestock that are a sire or dam maintained to produce offspring.³⁶⁰ USDA says it can add other livestock that are not eligible for CFAP 2.³⁶¹

e. Miscellaneous Commodities

USDA identifies a group of sales commodities that it calls miscellaneous commodities.³⁶² Sometimes they are called "specifically defined miscellaneous crops."³⁶³ They include: (1) goat milk; (2) mink, including pelts; (3) mohair; (4) wool; ³⁶⁴ and (5) Christmas trees.³⁶⁵ As with other sales commodities, breeding

³⁵⁵ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § "Other livestock") (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-21, para. 221.A (April 14, 2021). USDA says this change is made because these producers face market disruptions, low prices, and significant marketing costs due to COVID-19.

³⁵⁶ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § "Other livestock") (January 19, 2021). Mink is listed as an eligible sales commodity in the CFAP 2 Handbook. CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, page 7-22, para. 221.A (April 14, 2021).

³⁵⁷ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4879 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Other livestock") (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-22, para. 222.A (April 14, 2021).

³⁵⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-21, para. 221.A (April 14, 2021).

³⁵⁹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386, (September 22, 2020), (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Other livestock"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-22, para. 221.B, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Other Livestock" (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What other livestock will be considered under this category of payment?" (April 22, 2021).

³⁶⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 1, "Breeding Stock" (April 14, 2021).

³⁶¹ CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Other Livestock" (April 14, 2021)

³⁶² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-22, para. 221.A (April 14, 2021).

³⁶³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-1, para. 211.B (April 14, 2021).

Wool is defined as the fiber sheared from a live sheep. It includes, unless otherwise noted, graded and ungraded wool. Graded wool is paid on a clean basis, and ungraded wool is paid on a greasy basis. See CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.2, "Wool"); CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based commodities"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A (April 14, 2021).

³⁶⁵ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-22, para. 221.A (April 14, 2021).

stock, companion or comfort animals, commodities raised by a contract grower, and any livestock raised for hunting or game purposes are not eligible.³⁶⁶

f. Tobacco

To bacco is a sales commodity for the purposes of CFAP 2. 367 To bacco, unlike CFAP 2 commodities generally, is funded through the CARES Act, and is not funded through the CCC. 368

As with sales-based crops, there can only be certain intended uses for tobacco.³⁶⁹ Intended use means the end use for which the crop or commodity was grown and produced.³⁷⁰ Eligible tobacco cannot be intended to be used for grazing, green manure, or left standing.³⁷¹

By grazing, USDA means the crop is intended solely for pasture for livestock to roam on and eat.³⁷² By green manure, USDA means that the crop is not intended to be harvested.³⁷³ The crop instead is plowed under to enrich the soil. By left standing, USDA means that the crop is intended to be left in the field unharvested.³⁷⁴ It is not intended to be mechanically or manually harvested for any purpose. It is also not intended to be grazed by domestic livestock, or otherwise harvested in any way. USDA thinks of this as usually done for soil erosion control and nutrient retention.

g. Turfgrass Sod

Originally, CFAP 2 did not cover turfgrass sod. However, with the recent changes to the program, turfgrass sod is now eligible as a sales-based commodity. 375

³⁶⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-22, para. 221.B (April 14, 2021).

³⁶⁷ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based crops"); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-1, para. 211.B, page 7-22, para. 221.A (April 14, 2021).

³⁶⁸ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,383 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory comments); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-1, para. 211.B (April 14, 2021); FSA Notice CFAP-18, Approval of CARES Act-Funded Applications for Tobacco Only (April 19, 2021).

³⁶⁹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386-59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based crops").

³⁷⁰ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.2, "Commodity"); 7 C.F. R. 718.2, "Intended use" (2020).

³⁷¹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based crops"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 5, "Sales-Based Crops" (April 14, 2021).

Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, Exhibit 11.E, page 7 (September 8, 2020).

Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, Exhibit 11.E, page 6 (September 8, 2020).

Acreage and Compliance Determinations Handbook, 2-CP, Exhibit 11.E, page 7 (September 8, 2020).

³⁷⁵ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Sales-based commodities") (January 19, 2021); CFAP Handbook, page 2-13, para. 21.A, page 7-22, para. 221.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What commodities and livestock are eligible for CFAP 2?," "What commodities are included in the three different categories that USDA has established to assist producers impacted by COVID-19 and what are the payment rates?" (April 22, 20211).

D. Contract Producer Commodities

With the passing of the 2021 Appropriations Act, contract growers may be eligible for CFAP 2, so long as the farmer grows or raises what USDA counts as an "eligible commodity."³⁷⁶ Contract farmers are eligible only if they produced hogs or poultry under contract. No other commodities are eligible. The following sections discuss the requirements for contract growers in more detail.

1. Eligible Contract Grower Commodities

Contract growers are only eligible for CFAP 2 if they raise swine or poultry.³⁷⁷

a. Swine

Swine are an eligible commodity for CFAP 2 contract producers. By swine, USDA means hogs and pigs.³⁷⁸ Hogs are defined as any swine weighing 120 pounds or more. Pigs are defined as swine weighing less than 120 pounds.

b. Poultry

Poultry are an eligible commodity for CFAP 2 contract producers. By poultry, USDA means chickens, chicken eggs, and turkeys.³⁷⁹ Chickens include broilers, pullets, and layers.³⁸⁰ Broilers are defined as any chicken that is commercially produced for meat purposes, has not been used for laying or breeding purposes, and left the farm for slaughter.³⁸¹ By layer, USDA means a chicken that produces table or commercial type shell eggs.³⁸² By pullet, USDA means a young female chicken that has not laid an egg. ³⁸³ By chicken eggs, USDA means shell, dried, frozen, or liquid eggs. ³⁸⁴

³⁷⁶ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. §§ 9.201, "Contract producer," 9.202(b)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para. 15.A, page 9-1, para. 300.A, page 9-21, para. 311.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Are contract livestock producers eligible for CFAP?" (April 22, 2021).

³⁷⁷ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.A, page 9-1, para. 300.B (April 14, 2021).

³⁷⁸ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7. C.F.R. § 9.202((b)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.A, page 9-1, para. 300.B, Exhibit 2, page 3-4, "Hogs," "Pigs" (April 14, 2021).

³⁷⁹ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7. C.F.R. § 9.202((b)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 9-1, para. 300.B, page 9-21, para. 311.A (January 15, 2020).

³⁸⁰ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(b)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.A, page 2-51, para. 35.A, page 9-1, para. 300.B, page 9-21, para. 311.A (April 14, 2021).

³⁸¹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Broilers") (September 22, 2020); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 1, "Broilers" (April 14, 2021).

³⁸² CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Layers") (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 3, "Layer" (April 14, 2021).

³⁸³ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Pullet") (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 5, "Pullet" (April 14, 2021).

³⁸⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 9-1, para. 300.B, Exhibit 2, page 2, "Eggs" (April 14, 2021).

2. Documentation for Contract Growers

As is the case with other CFAP 2 commodities, USDA may ask contract growers for documentation to support their CFAP 2 application.³⁸⁵ USDA will look at the CFAP 2 application to see if they believe it is reasonable before approving the application.³⁸⁶ This will include an evaluation of whether a contract farmer's revenue information is reasonable. If USDA does not think that the revenue described is reasonable, USDA can ask the farmer to provide documentation to substantiate information included in the application by the farmer. This includes requesting a copy of the production contracts.

III. Ineligible Commodities

USDA has said that certain commodities are not eligible for CFAP 2. This section describes those commodities.

A. Certain Commodities Not Eligible for CFAP 2

USDA has created a list of commodities that are definitely not eligible for CFAP 2.

The following agricultural commodities that are not eligible for CFAP 2: (1) birdsfoot and trefoil; (2) clover; (3) cover crops; (4) fallow; (5) forage soybeans; (6) forage sorghum; (7) grass; (8) kochia (prostrata); (9) lespedeza; (10) milkweed; (11) mixed forage (12) pelts (except for mink); (13) perennial peanuts; (14) pollinators; (15) sunn hemp; (16) vetch; and (17) seeds from crops that are themselves not eligible.³⁸⁷

USDA says it may add other commodities as not eligible.³⁸⁸

B. Garden Production—Both Commercial and Home—NOT Eligible

USDA rules say specifically that "gardens (commercial and home)" are not eligible for CFAP 2.³⁸⁹ This rule can be found in the Federal Register, in the USDA CFAP 2 Handbook, and in USDA materials online. This garden restriction did not apply to CFAP 1. It is tucked into a definition of "ineligible commodities for CFAP 2."

It is hard to know what USDA means by this restriction. The following sections look at what we know and do not know about the restriction, as well as what it might mean in practice.

³⁸⁵ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(c)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para 15.A, page 2-51, para. 36.B, pages 3-4 and 3-5, para. 51.B, page 9-21, para. 311.A (April 14, 2021).

³⁸⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-6, para 51.D, page 9-22, para. 312.A (April 14, 2021).

³⁸⁷ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,389, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Ineligible commodities"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 3, "Ineligible commodities" (April 14, 2021); CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 2 (April 27, 2021).

³⁸⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 3, "Ineligible commodities" (April 14, 2021).

³⁸⁹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,389, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Ineligible commodities"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 3, "Ineligible Commodities" (April 14, 2021); CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 2 (April 27, 2020).

1. No Definition

There is no USDA definition of "gardens (commercial and home)," of garden, of commercial garden, or of home garden.³⁹⁰ As a practical matter, that leaves it up to USDA officials to apply whatever meaning the USDA official thinks it means.

2. Not Required by Statute

There does not appear to be any federal statute that would require USDA to adopt this rule for CFAP 2.³⁹¹ It is notable, in this regard, that this rule did not apply to CFAP 1. It appears, therefore, that USDA could change or eliminate the garden rule.³⁹²

3. No Further Explanation

Several people and organizations have attempted to get a clarification from USDA as to what the gardening restriction might mean. None has been forthcoming. One state office has suggested that farmers should not worry about this limit as long as the farmer sold commodities from a garden.

4. What the Gardening Restriction Might Mean

It is hard to know how the gardening restriction will affect farmer eligibility for CFAP 2.

a. Up to USDA Officials

Because USDA created a restriction without explaining the meaning of the restriction, how it will actually work will be up to individual USDA officials. Given that there are hundreds of USDA offices making CFAP 2 eligibility decisions, and these decisions will be based on what will be a personal and subjective understanding of what constitutes a garden, it is extremely difficult to know what the practical effect of the restriction on gardening will mean.

It is possible that the gardening rule will be almost completely ignored. USDA officials at the state, district, and county level, however, are instructed to comply with the rules found in the Code of Federal Regulations and the CFAP 2 Handbook.³⁹³ The rules, including the gardening rule, are not optional for USDA officials.

There is no definition in the CFAP 2 Federal Register rules, in the CFAP 2 Handbook, in Notices issued by USDA, or on the USDA website. There is no definition in 7 C.F.R. part 718 or in 7 C.F.R part 1400. If there were, these definitions would apply. See CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,389, 59,384 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.2). Further, these terms do not seem to have been a part of any other USDA program that FLAG has been able to find.

³⁹¹ It does not appear to be required by the CARES Act or the CCC Charter.

³⁹² In CFAP 2 rules, USDA notes that it may change the eligibility rules for commodity eligibility.

³⁹³ CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 1-5 through 1-10, para. 3.A-E (April 14, 2021).

b. Home Gardens Already Not Eligible

Other CFAP 2 rules make clear that to be eligible for CFAP 2 the commodity must be intended for sale.³⁹⁴ If, as it seems, home garden production means garden production that is not for sale, that production is already not eligible for CFAP. The rule does not change the eligibility for a gardener that does not sell the garden production. Any production intended to be consumed by the household is not eligible not matter what kind of operation raises it. For a sweet corn operation, for example, the corn eaten by the family that produces it is not eligible for CFAP 2 even though sweet corn is generally eligible. Extremely small production for home consumption—what one would normally think of as a garden—is already not eligible for CFAP 2 even without the garden rule.

c. Commercial Gardens Are at Issue

If the gardening restriction was set aside, based on CFAP 2 rules, a commercial garden, even if it was quite small, would still be eligible like any other farm. That producer would likely not receive much money from CFAP 2, but it could be eligible.

If the restriction carries any weight at all, it will limit relatively small commercial farming operations that USDA officials decide are actually commercial gardens.

There is no reason to believe that the rule will be applied in the same way at all FSA offices across the country. Because there will be hundreds of USDA people enforcing the rule, and they have no definition to go on, it seems inevitable that the application of the gardening rule will vary significantly from place to place.

d. Who Might Be Affected

Inevitably, the farming operations that will be harmed by this restriction are relatively small. It seems likely that farms in populated, urban areas will be especially likely to be affected. Given the history—at USDA and elsewhere—to assume that all real farmers are white men, and to run USDA programs to exclude anyone who is not a white man, there is every reason to believe that when local USDA officials decide that farming operations are run by someone other than a white man, this will be more likely to be seen as a garden and not a farm. So, even if local officials use a uniform definition of garden, that definition will almost assuredly disproportionally harm anyone who is not a white man. It seems especially likely for smaller, urban, and direct marketing type of farms to be affected.

e. The Decision to Apply

Although it is not really possible to know how USDA will implement the gardening restriction, if a farmer is otherwise eligible, it probably makes sense to apply even if the operation is small. A strong case can be made that even very small operations are farms, not gardens.

³⁹⁴ See, for example, CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 1, "Commodity" (April 14, 2021).

f. Appeals

As noted later in this Guide, farmers have the right to appeal CFAP 2 decisions. If a farmer is denied CFAP 2 benefits because USDA decides the operation is a commercial garden, feel free to contact FLAG. We may be able to assist a farmer with an appeal of the decision.

Chapter Four: CFAP 2 Payments

CFAP 2 payments are calculated based on the type of eligible commodity and are subject to certain payment limitations. The following sections describe the rules for CFAP 2 payments.

I. **Calculating CFAP 2 Payments**

CFAP 2 payments are calculated by USDA for each eligible commodity.³⁹⁵ For purposes of determining payments, CFAP 2 commodities will fall into one of four general categories—price trigger commodities, flat-rate crops, sales commodities, or contract grower commodities.³⁹⁶

As noted earlier, USDA has previously had a CFAP 2 Application Generator and Payment Calculator, an Excel workbook that automatically calculated the farmer's potential CFAP payment. This appears not to be available any longer. In addition, USDA previously provided what it called a "CFAP 2 Eligible Commodities Finder," which allowed farmers to type in their specific commodities to determine whether or not they are eligible for the program. The Eligible Commodities Finder told the farmer whether the commodity is eligible, and if so what the applicable payment rate was and how USDA would calculate the CFAP 2 payment for that commodity. This also seems no longer available on the USDA website.

The sections that follow describe the logic of how USDA determines a farmer's CFAP 2 payment for each eligible commodity. The logic behind the CFAP 2 payments is confusing at times.

A. **Payments for Price Trigger Commodities**

Price trigger commodities include both livestock and livestock products as well as certain crops.³⁹⁷ The eligible price trigger livestock are beef cattle, sheep and lambs, hogs and pigs, and broilers.³⁹⁸ Breeding stock are not included. The eligible livestock products are dairy (cow's milk) and eggs. The price trigger crops are barley, corn, sorghum, soybeans, sunflowers, upland cotton, and all classes of wheat.

The following sections outline the steps for calculating payments for the various price trigger commodities.

1. Calculating Dairy Payments

CFAP 2 payments for dairy losses are intended to assist dairy operations for marketing channel disruptions that occurred during quarters two through four of calendar year 2020 because of COVID-19.399 To do this, USDA takes the farmer's actual milk production from April 1, 2020, through August 31, 2020, and then uses a formula to determine the farmer's estimated milk production for September 1, 2020 through

³⁹⁵ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,380 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory remarks).

³⁹⁶ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387-59,388 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202); CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 2-15 and 2-16, para. 22.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What commodities are included in the three different categories that USDA has established to assist producers impacted by COVID-19 and what are the payment rates?" (April 22, 2021).

³⁹⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Price Trigger Commodities" (April 14, 2021).
³⁹⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 4, "Price Trigger Commodities" (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP 2: Eligible and Ineligible Commodities (May 31, 2021), at: https://www.farmers.gov/cfap/commodities.

³⁹⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-1, para. 85.A (April 14, 2021).

December 31, 2020.⁴⁰⁰ A farmer's total CFAP 2 dairy payment is the sum of the actual and estimated milk production, multiplied by a USDA payment rate that is the equivalent of \$1.20 per hundredweight.

The steps for dairy payment calculations are outlined below. ⁴⁰¹ These steps apply to dairy operations that commercially market cow's milk (milk from bovines) in the United States at the time of enrollment in CFAP 2. ⁴⁰²

The following steps are also used to determine the payment for a dissolved dairy operation and a seasonal dairy operation. For a dissolved operation, the payment will be prorated to reflect the number of days that the operation commercially markets milk between September 1, 2020, and December 31, 2020. ⁴⁰³ Similarly, for a seasonal dairy the payment will be prorated based on the number of days the operation was actually producing milk from September 1, 2020, through December 31, 2020. ⁴⁰⁴

Step One: Determine the farmer's actual milk production, in pounds, for the time period from April 1, 2020, through August 31, 2020. This includes any milk dumped during that same timeframe.

Step Two: Determine the farmer's daily average milk production for April through August. To do this, take the farmer's actual production, as calculated in Step One, and divide that by 153, which is the number of days between April 1 and August 31.

Step Three: Determine the farmer's estimated milk production for September 1, 2020, through December 31, 2020. To do this, multiply the result of Step Two by 122, which is the number of days between September 1 and December 31.⁴⁰⁵

⁴⁰⁰ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(g)(1)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-1, para. 85.A, page 4-31, para. 96.B, page 4-61, para. 111.B (April 14, 2021).

For examples of how CFAP dairy payments are calculated, see CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 4-62 through 4-65, para. 111.C (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁰² CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,381, (September 22, 2020) (prefatory remarks); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-31, para. 96.A (April 14, 2021).

CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(g)(1)); CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 4-31 and 4-32, para. 96.B-C (April 14, 2021). Farmers whose dairy operation has dissolved are required to report on the CFAP 2 application, Form AD-3117, the date the dairy operation stopped commercially marketing milk. CFAP 2 Application, Form AD-3117, Part C (January 19, 2021). If a dairy operation dissolves after enrolling in CFAP 2, the farmer may have to refund part of the CFAP 2 payment. CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 4-32, para. 96.C (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁰⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-32, para. 96.E (April 14, 2021). Farmers who have a seasonal dairy operation are required to report on the CFAP 2 application, Form AD-3117, the date the dairy operation stopped producing milk. CFAP 2 Application, Form AD-3117, Part C (January 19, 2021). If a dairy operation stops producing milk after enrolling in CFAP 2, the farmer may have to refund part of the CFAP 2 payment. CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 4-32, para. 96.E (April 14, 2021).

For a dissolved dairy, multiply the result of Step Two by the number of days the operation commercially marketed milk between September 1, 2020, and December 31, 2020. For a seasonal dairy, multiply the result of Step Two by the number of days the operation was actually producing milk between September 1, 2020, and December 31, 2020.

Step Four: Determine the farmer's total milk production—both actual and estimated—for April 1, 2020, through December 31, 2020. To do this, add together the results of Step One and Step Three.

Step Five: Determine the farmer's total CFAP 2 dairy payment by taking the result of Step Four (the farmer's total actual and estimated milk production) and multiplying it by the USDA payment factor of \$0.012.406

Examples of how dairy payments work can be found in the CFAP 2 Handbook. 407

2. Calculating Egg Payments

CFAP 2 payments for eggs are intended to compensate farmers for losses to shell, dried, liquid, and frozen eggs caused by market disruptions, low prices, and significant marketing costs due to COVID-19.408 To do this, USDA takes 75 percent of the farmer's 2019 eligible egg production and multiplies that by a pre-determined payment rate.⁴⁰⁹ For egg producers that began farming in 2020, the CFAP 2 payment will be calculated using the farmer's actual 2020 production numbers.⁴¹⁰ Only egg production that did not have a guaranteed price is eligible for CFAP 2.⁴¹¹

According to USDA, egg producers suffered at least a 5 percent price decline in the average price of eggs, when comparing the average for the week of January 13-17, 2020, with the average for the week of July 27-31, 2020. 412 USDA says the payment rates reflect the relative price decline of eggs.

a. Converting Eggs Still in the Shell to Pounds—Dried, Liquid, and Frozen Eggs Only

When farmers apply for CFAP 2 they must self-certify their shell, dried, liquid, and frozen egg production. ⁴¹³ The self-certification is for the farmer's 2019 production. For shell eggs, the certification is by the dozen. For dried, liquid, or frozen eggs, the certification is by the pound. Some farmers, such as those who sell their dried, liquid or frozen eggs still in the shell, will need to convert their eggs into pounds. If applicable, USDA provides the following conversion formulas.

⁴⁰⁶ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(g)(1)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 4-61, para. 111.B (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁰⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 4-62 through 4-65, para. 111.C (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁰⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-1, para. 125.A-B (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁰⁹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(h)(1)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-1, para. 125.B (April 14, 2021).

⁴¹⁰ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,381 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory remarks); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-31, para. 136.B (April 14, 2021).

⁴¹¹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-31, para. 136.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴¹² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-1, para. 125.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴¹³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-32, para. 137.A (April 14, 2021).

(i) Converting Eggs In the Shell to Pounds

USDA has a formula to follow to convert eggs still in a shell into pounds. 414 For the purpose of this formula, the standard weight assumed for thirty dozen eggs is forty-eight pounds. USDA assumes that 83 percent (0.83) of the shell egg is liquid egg. 415

(ii) Converting Eggs Sold by the Case to Pounds

For farmers who report eggs in cases, the number of pounds of egg production is equal to the number of cases multiplied by forty-eight pounds, multiplied again by 0.83.⁴¹⁶ For this formula, thirty dozen eggs are assumed to be in a case.

(iii) Converting Eggs Sold by the Dozen to Pounds

If the farmer reports eggs in dozens, instead of cases, a different formula is used. In that case, the number of pounds is equal to the number of dozen eggs multiplied by 1.6, and multiplied again by 0.83.417

(iv) Converting Liquid/Frozen Eggs to Dried Eggs

If a farmer needs to convert liquid or frozen eggs to dried eggs, or vice versa, the USDA conversion formula is one pound of dried eggs equals 2.25 pounds of liquid or frozen eggs.⁴¹⁸

b. Egg Payment Calculation

The following steps are taken to figure out a farmer's CFAP 2 egg payment. 419

Step One: Determine the farmer's total 2019 production for each eligible egg commodity. ⁴²⁰ For dried, liquid, and frozen eggs, this production should be in pounds. This may mean converting eggs to pounds, as is described above. For shell eggs, this production should be in dozens. If the farmer did not begin egg operations until 2020, the production is based on the farmer's actual 2020 production, through the date the farmer submits a CFAP 2 application for payment. ⁴²¹

⁴¹⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-32, para. 137.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴¹⁵ If a farmer separates egg yolks and egg whites, and sells them as different types (for example, yolks are frozen while the egg whites remain liquid), the following percentages should replace the 83 percent in any conversion formula: 57.6 percent for egg whites; and 25.4 percent for egg yolks. CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-32, para. 137.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴¹⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-32, para. 137.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴¹⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-32, para. 137.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴¹⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-32, para. 137.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴¹⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 5-61 and 5-62, para. 148 (April 14, 2021).

⁴²⁰ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9,202(h)(1)); CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 5-61 and 5-62, para. 148 (April 14, 2021).

⁴²¹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(h)(2)); CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 5-61 and 5-62, para. 148 (April 14, 2021).

Step Two: For each eligible egg commodity, multiply the production determined in Step One by 0.75.

Step Three: For each eligible egg commodity, multiply the result of Step Two by the appropriate USDA payment rate.⁴²²

Total Egg Payment: The farmer's total CFAP 2 egg payment is the found by adding together the totals from Step Three for each eligible egg commodity.

Examples of how egg payments work can be found in the CFAP 2 Handbook.⁴²³

USDA may adjust the farmer's certified production if USDA decides that the quantities are unreasonable or inaccurate. They may also make an adjustment to match the inventory based on evidence submitted by the farmer.

3. Calculating Payments for Broilers

CFAP 2 payments are intended to compensate farmers for losses to broilers that occurred because of market disruptions, low prices, and significant marketing costs due to COVID-19.425 To do this, USDA takes 75 percent of the farmer's 2019 eligible broiler production and multiplies that by a pre-determined payment rate of \$1.01 per bird.426 For farmers that began broiler operations in 2020, with no 2019 production, the CFAP 2 payment will be calculated using the farmer's actual 2020 production numbers.427

According to USDA, broilers suffered at least a 5 percent price decline when comparing the average for the week of January 13-17, 2020, with the average for the week of July 27-31, 2020. 428 USDA says the payment rates reflect the relative price decline of broilers.

To be eligible for CFAP 2, the farmer must be an independent grower and not a contract grower.⁴²⁹

The following steps are taken to figure out a farmer's CFAP 2 broiler payment.⁴³⁰

 $^{^{422}}$ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387-59,388 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(h)(1)); CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 5-61 and 5-62, para. 148 (April 14, 2021).

⁴²³ CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 5-62 to 5-63, para. 149.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴²⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-33, para. 137.D (April 14, 2021).

⁴²⁵ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-1, para. 125.A-B (April 14, 2021).

⁴²⁶ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(h)(1)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-1, para. 125.B, page 5-61, para. 148.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴²⁷ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,381 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory remarks); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-31, para. 136.B, page 5-61, para. 148.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴²⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-1, para. 125.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴²⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-31, para. 136.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴³⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-61, para. 148.A (April 14, 2021).

Step One: Determine the farmer's total 2019 production of broilers, by head, that were marketed for slaughter in calendar year 2019. 431 If the farmer did not begin broiler operations until 2020, the production should be based on the farmer's actual 2020 production, through the date the farmer submits a CFAP 2 application for payment.

Step Two: Multiply the production determined in Step One by 0.75.

Step Three: Multiply the result of Step Two by the USDA payment rate of \$1.01 to get the farmer's total CFAP 2 broiler payment.⁴³²

An example of how a broiler payment works can be found in the CFAP 2 Handbook. 433

USDA may adjust the farmer's certified production if USDA finds that the quantities are unreasonable or inaccurate.⁴³⁴ They may also make an adjustment to match the actual inventory based on evidence submitted by the farmer.

4. Calculating Payments for Price Trigger Livestock

CFAP 2 payments for eligible price trigger livestock—meaning cattle, hogs and pigs, and sheep and lambs—are calculated in the same way.⁴³⁵ The farmer's highest owned inventory of eligible livestock—on a date the farmer selects between April 16, 2020, and August 31, 2020—is multiplied by a pre-determined payment rate.

According to USDA, beef cattle, hogs and pigs, and sheep and lambs all suffered at least a 5 percent price decline when comparing average prices for the week of January 13-17, 2020, with the average for the week of July 27-31, 2020. 436 USDA says the payment rates are based on the market price decline for each type of eligible livestock.

The steps for livestock payment calculations are outlined below.⁴³⁷

Step One: For each species of eligible livestock, select the highest number of owned livestock inventory on any date between April 16, 2020, and August 31, 2020.⁴³⁸ This includes inventory of eligible beef cattle, hogs, pigs, sheep and lambs, but does not include breeding stock.⁴³⁹

⁴³¹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(f)(1)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-32, para. 137.B, page 5-61, para. 148.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴³² CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387-59,388 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(f)(1)); CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 5-61 and 5-62, para. 148 (April 14, 2021).

⁴³³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-63, para. 149.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴³⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 5-33, para. 137.D (April 14, 2021).

⁴³⁵ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(c)-(e)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 6-1, para. 165.A-B (April 14, 2021).

⁴³⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 6-1, para. 165.A-B (April 14, 2021).

⁴³⁷ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(c)-(e); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 6-1, para. 165.A-B, page 6-45, para. 188.B (April 14, 2021).

⁴³⁸ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(c)-(e); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 6-1, para. 165.B, page 6-45, para. 188.B (April 14, 2021).

For the applicable definition of breeding stock, see CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,386 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Breeding stock"); CFAP 2 Handbook, Exhibit 2, page 1, "Breeding Stock" (April 14, 2021).

Step Two: For each species of eligible livestock, multiply the result of Step One by the pre-set USDA payment rate for that species.⁴⁴⁰

Total Livestock Payment: A farmer's CFAP 2 payment for livestock is the sum of the Step Two results for each species of livestock.

Examples of how livestock payments work for a cow-calf operation, a feedlot operation, and a diversified livestock operation can be found in the CFAP 2 Handbook.⁴⁴¹

5. Calculating Payments for Price Trigger Crops

Price trigger crops include the following acreage-based row crops: (1) barley; (2) corn; (3) sorghum; (4) dual purpose sorghum; (5) soybeans; (6) sunflowers; (7) upland cotton; and (8) all classes of wheat. 442 USDA says additional price trigger crops may become eligible for CFAP 2 in the future. To be eligible, price trigger crops must fall within the intended use categories that USDA has set. 443

According to USDA, payments for eligible price trigger crops take into account five main factors: (1) eligible acres for the crop; (2) either the weighted 2020 APH-approved yield, or a percentage of the weighted 2019 ARC-CO benchmark yield; (3) the decline in average prices for the crop between the average for the week of January 13-17, 2020, and the average for the week of July 27-31, 2020; (4) an eighty percent coverage factor for each crop; and (5) an estimated share of 2020 crop marketing percentages from harvest through December 31, 2020 for each crop.⁴⁴⁴

a. Determining APH or ARC-CO Yields

CFAP 2 payments for price trigger crops are based on the specific type of crop. They also hinge on whether the farmer insured the crop with federal crop insurance. 445 Recent changes in 2021 now allow some farmers without a 2020 APH-approved yield to use 100 percent of the weighted 2019 Agriculture Risk Coverage-County Option (ARC-CO) benchmark yield. 446

⁴⁴⁰ For the applicable payment rates, see CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(c)-(e)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 6-45, para. 188.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁴¹ CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 6-46 through 6-49, para. 188.C (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁴² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-25, para. 261.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁴³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-26, para. 261.B (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁴⁴ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,380 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory remarks); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-3, para. 250.D, page 8-71, para. 284.A (April 14, 2021). Although USDA does not define precisely what a crop marketing percentage is, it seems that this percentage is intended to represent the estimated percentage for each crop that would likely be marketed through quarter four of calendar year 2020. See Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2, Cost-Benefit Analysis, page 11 (September 15, 2020), at: https://www.farmers.gov/sites/default/files/documents/CFAP 2-CBA-09252020.pdf.

⁴⁴⁵ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-3, para. 250.D, page 8-27, para. 262.A (April 14, 2021).

CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.203(a)(3)) (January 19, 2021). For an explanation of the logic of this change, see CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021).

(i) Farmer With a Weighted 2020 APH-Approved Yield

If the farmer insured the price trigger crop, and the farmer has a weighted 2020 APH-approved yield, that will be the basis of the calculation for the farmer's payment. ⁴⁴⁷ USDA has access to the information from crop insurance records.

(ii) Farmer Without a Weighted 2020 APH-Approved Yield

The 2021 changes to CFAP 2 apply when the farmer does not have a weighted 2020 APH-approved yield.⁴⁴⁸ If USDA is not able to obtain the 2020 APH approved yield, payments are based on the 2019 ARC-CO benchmark yield.⁴⁴⁹

Previously, every farmer who did not have a weighted 2020 APH-approved yield had to use 85 percent of the 2019 ARC-CO benchmark yield to get a 2020 actual production history (APH) approved yield for CFAP 2 purposes. ⁴⁵⁰

The 2021 changes to CFAP 2 allow some farmers that do not have a 2020 APH-approved yield to use 100 percent of the weighted 2019 ARC-CO benchmark yield. 451 That can be the case if the farmer meets one of four conditions. 452 First, 100 percent of the weighted 2019 ARC-CO can be used if the farmer has coverage under certain types of federal crop insurance. 453 Second, it can be used if the farmer is a landlord and the landlord's share is insured by the tenant under an RMA policy or a plan of insurance. Third, it can be used if the farmer is a tenant and the farmer's share is insured by the landlord with federal crop insurance. Finally, it can be used if the farm is a joint venture and the crop is insured by a member under an RMA policy or plan of insurance.

⁴⁴⁷ CFAP 2 handbook, pages 8-27 to 8-29, para. 262.B-D (April 14, 2021).

CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-27, para. 262.A, page 8-71, para. 284.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁴⁹ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks), 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.R. § 9.203(a)(3)) (January 19, 2021).

<sup>CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021);
CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. §
9.202(a)(3)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-3, para. 250.D, page 8-27, para. 262.A, pages 8-31 and 8-32, para. 262.F-G, pages 8-73 and 8-74, para. 284.C-D (April 14, 2021).</sup>

⁴⁵¹ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.203(a)(3)) (January 19, 2021). For an explanation of the logic of this change, see CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021).

⁴⁵² CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks), 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.203(a)(3)(i)(A)-(D)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-27, para. 262.A, page 8-30, para. 262.E (April 14, 2021).

The qualifying crop insurance plans include Area Risk Protection Insurance Plan, Margin Protection Plan, Stacked Income Protection Plan, Supplemental Coverage Option, or Whole-Farm Revenue Protection Plan.

In all other situations the rule is not changed, and farmers without a weighted 2020 APH-approved yield must use 85 percent of the 2019 ARC-CO benchmark as an approved yield.⁴⁵⁴

USDA provides several examples for how these calculations work.⁴⁵⁵

b. Eligible Acres for Price Trigger Crops

Eligible acres, for purposes of price trigger crops, means the farmer's share of 2020 determined or reported acres, as reported on form FSA-578, the Report of Acreage.⁴⁵⁶ Eligible acres do not include prevented planting or experimental acres.⁴⁵⁷ Failed acres are considered eligible.

c. Minimum Payment Rate for Price Trigger Crops

A farmer's CFAP 2 payment for price trigger crops will not be less than fifteen dollars per eligible acre of the farmer's price trigger crop. 458

d. Payment Calculation for Price Trigger Crops

The general payment calculation for price trigger crops involves the following steps.⁴⁵⁹

Step One: Determine the number of eligible acres of the price trigger crop, as described above. ⁴⁶⁰

Step Two: Determine the farmer's yield.

If the farmer has an RMA policy for that crop, use the farmer's 2020 APH-approved yield.⁴⁶¹

If the farmer does not have an RMA policy for the crop, use either 85 percent or 100 percent the weighted 2019 ARC-CO benchmark yield for the crop, as described above. 462

Step Three: Multiply the result of Step One by the yield from Step Two.

⁴⁵⁴ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.203(a)(3)(ii)) (January 19, 2021).

⁴⁵⁵ CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 8-31 to 8-34, para. 262.G-H, pages 8-73 and 8-74, para. 284.C-D (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁵⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-2, para. 250.C, "Eligible acres," page 8-3, para. 250.D (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁵⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-2, para. 250.C, "Eligible acres" (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁵⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-71, para. 284.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁵⁹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,388 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(a), (j)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-73, para. 284.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁶⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-3, para. 250.D, page 8-27, para. 262.A, page 8-73, para. 284.C (April 14, 2021)

⁴⁶¹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-3, para. 250.D, pages 8-28 and 8-29, para. 262.D (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁶² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-3, para. 250.D, pages 8-30 and 8-31, para. 262.E-G (April 14, 2021).

Step Four: Multiply the result of Step Two by the payment rate for the crop.⁴⁶³

Step Five: Multiply the result of Step Three by the crop marketing percentage for the crop.⁴⁶⁴

Step Six: Determine whether the result of Step Four is greater than fifteen dollars per eligible acre. To do this, first take the number of eligible acres from Step One and multiply those acres by fifteen dollars. ⁴⁶⁵

Total Price Trigger Crop Payment: Compare the results of Step Five with the result of Step Six—whichever amount is greater will be the farmer's CFAP 2 payment.⁴⁶⁶

Examples of how payments for price trigger crops work can be found in the CFAP 2 Handbook.⁴⁶⁷

e. Additional "Top-Up" Payment for Price Trigger Crops

In addition to the CFAP 2 payment for price trigger crops described immediately above, USDA is also providing what it calls "top-up" payments to farmers of eligible price trigger crops.⁴⁶⁸ These payments, which were authorized by the 2021 Appropriations Act, amount to twenty dollars per eligible acre.⁴⁶⁹

Any farmer who applies for CFAP 2 for the first time will receive the additional payment for price trigger crops. ⁴⁷⁰ For farmers who previously applied for and received a CFAP 2 payment for price trigger crops, USDA says there is no need to do anything further in order to receive the top-up payment—those payments should automatically be made to eligible farmers. ⁴⁷¹

⁴⁶³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-71, para. 284.A (April 14, 2021). Payment rates for price trigger crops can be found at: CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,388 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(a), (j)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-72, para. 284.B (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁶⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-71, para. 284.A (April 14, 2021). Crop marketing percentages for price trigger crops can be found at: CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,388 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(a), (j)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-72, para. 284.B (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁶⁵ USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I did not apply for CFAP 2, but I raise row crops that fall under the price-trigger or flat-rate crop category. Am I now eligible and do I get the additional payment?" (April 22, 2021).

⁴⁶⁶ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,388 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(a), (j)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-73, para. 284.C (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁶⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 8-73 and 8-74, para. 284.C-D (April 14, 2021).

FSA Notice CFAP-15, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) Policy Updates, page 2 (March 23, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I grow a commodity classified as a price trigger commodity. How is my payment calculated?" (April 22, 2021).

⁴⁶⁹ 2021 Appropriations Act § 751 (December 27, 2020); FSA Notice CFAP-15, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) Policy Updates, page 2 (March 23, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I grow a commodity classified as a price trigger commodity. How is my payment calculated?" (April 22, 2021).

⁴⁷⁰ USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I did not apply for CFAP 2, but I raise row crops that fall under the price-trigger or flat-rate crop category. Am I now eligible and do I get the additional payment?" (April 22, 2021).

⁴⁷¹ USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I applied for CFAP 2 and received payments for my flat-rate and price-trigger crops. Do I need to do anything to receive the \$20/acre payment?" (April 22, 2021).

В. **Payments for Flat-Rate Crops**

Eligible flat-rate crops for purposes of CFAP 2 are those acreage-based crops that USDA decided did not meet the five percent price decline, as well as crops for which USDA decided there was not enough data to decide if there was a five percent decline. 472

The following rules apply to payments for flat-rate crops.

1. Eligible Intended Uses for Flat-Rate Crops

Unlike price trigger crops, nearly all intended uses of flat-rate crops are eligible.⁴⁷³ Exceptions are crops intended for grazing, those left standing, or green manure crops, all of which are not eligible. Prevented planting crops and volunteer flat-rate crops are also not eligible.474

2. Eligible Acres for Flat-Rate Crops

Payments for flat-rate crops are based on the number of eligible acres. For this purpose, eligible acres means the farmer's share of 2020 determined or reported acres. as reported on form FSA-578, the Report of Acreage. 475 Eligible acres do not include prevented planting or experimental acres. ⁴⁷⁶ Failed acres are eligible.

3. Minimum Payment Rate for Flat-Rate Crops

A farmer's CFAP 2 payment for flat-rate crops will not be less than fifteen dollars per eligible acre of the farmer's flat-rate crop.477

4. Calculating Payments for Flat-Rate Crops

The following steps are followed to determine the payment for all flat-rate crops.

Step One: Determine the number of eligible acres of the flat-rate crop, as described above.478

Step Two: Multiply the result of Step One by fifteen dollars. 479

An example of how a payment for flat-rate crops works can be found in the CFAP 2 Handbook.480

⁴⁷² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-51, para. 273.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁷³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-52, para. 273.B (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁷⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-52, para. 273.C (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁷⁵ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-2, para. 250.C, "Eligible acres" (April 14, 2021). 476 CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-2, para. 250.C, "Eligible acres" (April 14, 2021).

^{477 2021} Appropriations Act § 751 (December 27, 2020); FSA Notice CFAP-15, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) Policy Updates, page 2 (March 23, 2021).

⁴⁷⁸ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(b)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-2, para. 250.C, "Eligible acres," 8-75, para. 285.A (April 14,

⁴⁷⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-75, para. 285.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁸⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-75, para. 285.B (April 14, 2021).

5. Additional "Top-Up" Payment for Flat-Rate Crops

In addition to the CFAP 2 payment for flat-rate crops described immediately above, USDA is also providing what it sometimes calls "top-up" payments to farmers of eligible flat-rate crops.⁴⁸¹ These payments, which were authorized by the 2021 Appropriations Act, amount to twenty dollars per eligible acre. ⁴⁸²

Any farmer who applies for CFAP 2 for the first time will receive the additional payment for flat-rate crops. 483 For farmers who previously applied for and received a CFAP 2 payment for flat-rate crops, USDA says there is no need to do anything further in order to receive the top-up payment—those payments should automatically be made to eligible farmers. 484

C. Payments for Sales Crops

Sales-based commodities include most specialty crops, as well as aquaculture, nursery and floriculture, goat milk, mink, mohair, wool, pullets, and turfgrass sod.⁴⁸⁵

1. Based on 2019 Sales and Certain Indemnities

Payments for sales commodities are based primarily on the farmer's certification of 2019 sales, meaning any sales received in calendar year 2019.⁴⁸⁶ USDA must determine that the sales are "reasonable."⁴⁸⁷

In addition, recent changes to CFAP 2 now allow the following indemnities to be added to a farmer's 2019 sales numbers: (1) federal crop insurance indemnities; (2) Noninsured Crop Disaster Assistance Program (NAP) payments; and (3) Wildfire and Hurricanes Indemnity Program Plus (WHIP+) payments.⁴⁸⁸

FSA Notice CFAP-15, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) Policy Updates, page 2 (March 23, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I grow a commodity in the flat rate category. How will my payments be calculated?" (April 22, 2021); USDA, CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 4 (April 27, 2021).

⁴⁸² 2021 Appropriations Act § 751 (December 27, 2020); FSA Notice CFAP-15, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) Policy Updates, page 2 (March 23, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I grow a commodity in the flat rate category. How will my payments be calculated?" (April 22, 2021).

⁴⁸³ USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I did not apply for CFAP 2, but I raise row crops that fall under the price-trigger or flat-rate crop category. Am I now eligible and do I get the additional payment?" (April 22, 2021).

⁴⁸⁴ USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I applied for CFAP 2 and received payments for my flat-rate and price-trigger crops. Do I need to do anything to receive the \$20/acre payment?" (April 22, 2021).

⁴⁸⁵ USDA, CFAP 2: Eligible and Ineligible Commodities (May 31, 2021), at: https://www.farmers.gov/cfap/commodities.

⁴⁸⁶ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.203(i)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-16, para. 22.A, page 7-22, para. 222.A, page 7-45, para. 235.A-B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What is included in the 2019 sales used to calculate payments?" (April 22, 2021).

⁴⁸⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-22, para. 222.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁸⁸ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.201, "Crop insurance," "NAP," "WHIP+"), 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.203(i)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook page 2-14, para. 21.B, page 2-16, para. 22.A, page 7-22, para. 222.A, Exhibit 2, page 3, "NAP," Exhibit 2, page 5, "WHIP+" (April 14, 2021). NAP rules are at 7 C.F.R. part 1437 (2021). WHIP+ rules are at 7 C.F.R. part 760, subpart O (2021).

2. Only Sales of Raw Commodities Count

The only eligible sales of commodities in this category are the sales of raw commodities grown by the farmer.⁴⁸⁹ Any sales from adding value to the commodity—such as through processing, packaging, or purchasing for resale—are not eligible for CFAP 2.⁴⁹⁰ Farmers may therefore need to convert value-added sales into raw sales.⁴⁹¹ Expenses for sales-based commodities, such as bin charges and transportation costs, may be included in eligible sales of sales-based commodities, but only if such expenses are broken out and can be distinguished.⁴⁹² If expenses are recorded as a single line item they cannot be included as eligible sales unless the farmer provides additional information to support the expenses.

3. Calculating Payments for Sales Crops

To determine the CFAP 2 payment for commodities in the sales category, USDA multiplies a pre-set payment factor by the farmer's 2019 sales. ⁴⁹³ The calculation is more complicated, however, because USDA has created five different sales ranges, with five different payment rates (from 8.8 percent to 10 percent) that are applied based on the amount of sales the farmer made in 2019. ⁴⁹⁴ The five sales ranges are: (1) up to \$49,999; (2) between \$50,000 and \$99,999; (3) between \$100,000 and \$499,999; (4) between \$500,000 and \$999,999; and (5) one million dollars and over.

The following steps are taken to determine a farmer's CFAP 2 payment for sales commodities.

Step One: Determine the total amount of sales of raw commodities made in calendar year 2019 within each of the five sales ranges. ⁴⁹⁵ The sales should include any crop insurance indemnities, NAP payments, or WHIP+ payments for eligible sales commodities in the 2019 crop year. ⁴⁹⁶ For farmers who began farming in 2019, and had no sales due to the immaturity of the commodity, the farmer can use their actual 2020 sales as of the date the CFAP 2 application is

⁴⁸⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-22, para. 222.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What is included in the 2019 sales used to calculate payments?" (April 22, 2021).

⁴⁹⁰ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks), 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.203(i)(1)) (January 19, 2021).

⁴⁹¹ USDA, CFAP FAQ, "How will producers who process their own crop instead of selling the raw commodity determine the farm gate value?," "Will FSA provide guidance on how to remove the processing or packaging value for producers with commodities that are sold with processing or packaging?" (April 22, 2021).

⁴⁹² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-24, para. 222.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁹³ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.203(i)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-45, para. 235.A-B (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁹⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-45, para. 235.A-B (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁹⁵ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.203(i)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-45, para. 235.A-B (April 14, 2021). An example of determining the amount of sales of raw commodities can be found at: CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-23, para. 222.A (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁹⁶ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.203(i)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-22, para. 222.A (April 14, 2021). A

submitted. ⁴⁹⁷ If actual 2020 sales are used, the total sales cannot include crop insurance indemnities, NAP payments, or WHIP+ payments. ⁴⁹⁸

Step Two: For each applicable sales range, multiply the result of Step One by the corresponding payment rate.⁴⁹⁹

Step Three: Add together the results of Step Two for each sales range in order to get the total CFAP 2 payment for sales commodities.⁵⁰⁰

As an example, if a farmer's 2019 sales of eligible commodities totaled \$75,000, the CFAP 2 payment would be calculated as [\$49,999 times 10.6 percent] plus [\$25,001 times 9.9 percent], for a total payment of \$7,775.⁵⁰¹

Additional examples of calculating CFAP 2 payments for sales commodities can be found in the CFAP 2 Handbook. ⁵⁰²

USDA may adjust the farmer's 2019 total sales if it decides the information is unreasonable or inaccurate. ⁵⁰³ USDA may also adjust the 2019 total sales to reflect the farmer's actual total sales, based on documentation provided by the farmer. Finally, USDA may adjust a new farmer's 2020 sales, based on documentation provided by the farmer.

D. Payments for Contract Producers

Contract growers of eligible swine and poultry—including hogs, pigs, broilers, pullets, layers, chicken eggs, and turkeys—are now eligible for CFAP 2 assistance. ⁵⁰⁴ However, as noted earlier, USDA has put a pause on payments for these producers "while the CFAP Program is under review." ⁵⁰⁵ USDA says it will still accept CFAP 2 applications from contract producers, and that once a decision has been reached by USDA it will provide at least an additional thirty days for contract producers to sign up for the program. This suggests that payments to contract growers will be made eventually.

⁴⁹⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-24, para. 222.B (April 14, 2021). USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I started farming in 2020 and grow a commodity that is part of the sales approach. I didn't have any 2019 sales. Can I participate in CFAP 2?" (April 22, 2021). Examples of determining the appropriate amount of sales of sales for new farmers can be found at CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 7-24 and 7-25, para. 222.B (April 14, 2021).

⁴⁹⁸ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.203(i)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-24, para. 222.B (April 14, 2021). A

⁴⁹⁹ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387-59,388 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(i), (j)). The sales ranges and corresponding payment rates can be found at CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-45, para. 235.B (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁰⁰ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387-59,388 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(i), (j)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-45, para. 235.B (April 14, 2021).

USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What commodities are included in the three different categories that USDA has established to assist producers impacted by COVID-19 and what are the payment rates?" (April 22, 2021).

⁵⁰² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-46, para. 235.B (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁰³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 7-24, para. 222.D (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁰⁴ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4882 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. §§ 9.201, "Contract producer," 9.202(b)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para. 15.A, page 9-1, para. 300.B, page 9-21, para. 311.A (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁰⁵ USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Are contract livestock producers eligible for CFAP?" (April 22, 2021).

Under the existing rules, the following steps are used to determine the CFAP 2 payment for contract producers of swine or poultry.

Step One: Determine the contract producer's eligible revenue received between January 1, 2020, through December 27, 2020.

Step Two: Determine the contract producer's eligible revenue received between January 1, 2019, through December 27, 2019.⁵⁰⁶

Step Three: Subtract the result of Step Two from the Result of Step One.

Step Four. Multiply the result of Step Three by 80 percent in order to determine the contract producer's CFAP 2 payment.⁵⁰⁷

II. Payments Not Subject to USDA Offset

Payments received under CFAP 2 are not subject to USDA offset.⁵⁰⁸ This means that CFAP 2 payments will not be withheld by USDA in order to satisfy a USDA debt.

III. Payments and Liens

USDA will make CFAP 2 payments to the farmer regardless of whether there are existing liens on the commodities that led to CFAP eligibility.⁵⁰⁹

IV. Accepting CFAP Payments Means Authorizing Inspections

Any farmer who receives a CFAP 2 payment must allow USDA to enter the farm during regular business hours to inspect and examine the farm.⁵¹⁰ The farmer must also permit USDA to make copies of books, records, or other items for the purpose of confirming the accuracy of the information the farmer provided.

⁵⁰⁶ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.203(l)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP Handbook page 2-16, para. 22.A, page 9-45, para. 326.B, Exhibit 20, page 5 (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁰⁷ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks), 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.203(l)(1)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP Handbook page 2-16, para. 22.A, page 9-45, para. 326.B, Exhibit 20, page 5 (April 14, 2021)

⁵⁰⁸ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,834 (May 21, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.7(c)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-15, para. 22.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Can CFAP payments be withheld to satisfy a USDA debt?" (April 22, 2021).

⁵⁰⁹ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,834 (May 21, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.7(c)).

⁵¹⁰ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,834 (May 21, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.6(b)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 1-11, para. 3.G (April 14, 2021). This includes authorized representatives of USDA and the Government Accountability Office (GAO).

V. Payment Limitations

USDA has a set of rules—often called payment limitations—that put caps on the payments that can be received under USDA programs. A form of these rules applies to CFAP 2.⁵¹¹ Payment limitations can be complicated, as can the strategies used by farmers to limit the effect of these rules.⁵¹² USDA describes the payment limitation rules that apply for CFAP 2 in detail.⁵¹³ For purposes of determining the applicable payment limitations, CFAP 1 and CFAP 2 are treated as entirely separate programs.⁵¹⁴ In other words, any payments received under CFAP 1 do not impact the payment limitations for CFAP 2.

A. General Rule-\$250,000

In general, no person may receive more than 250,000 dollars in CFAP 2 payments.⁵¹⁵ This limitation applies to the combined total of all CFAP 2 payments for all eligible commodities, including contract grower commodities. The same limit applies to contract growers as well as legal entities—except general partnerships and joint ventures.⁵¹⁶ The rules for joint operations, including general partnerships and joint ventures, are somewhat different.⁵¹⁷

B. For Some Entities—\$500,000 or \$750,000

For a corporation, LLC, LP, trust, or estate, the payment limit may be increased to 500,000 dollars, and in some cases to 750,000 dollars.⁵¹⁸ These added amounts are

⁵¹¹ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,834 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.7(e)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-3, para. 16.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP 2 Fact Sheet, at 5 (April 27, 2021).

For payment limitation rules, see 7 C.F.R. pt. 1400 (2020); FSA Handbook, 5-PL (Amendment 6), Payment Eligibility, Payment Limitation, and Average Adjusted Gross Income—Agricultural Act of 2014, pages 5-1 to 5-5, paras. 274 through 279 (October 2, 2019).

⁵¹³ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,834 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,381-59,382, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory comments; to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.7(e)); CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 2-3 through 2-8, para. 16 (April 14, 2021).

USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What are the payment limits for CFAP?" (April 22, 2021).

⁵¹⁵ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,834 (May 21, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.7(e)(1)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-3, para. 16.A (April 14, 2021).

CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4878 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021);
 CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,834 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.7(e)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-3, para. 16.A (April 14, 2021).
 CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-3, para. 16.A (April 14, 2021). Payments for joint operations, including a

⁵¹⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-3, para. 16.A (April 14, 2021). Payments for joint operations, including a general partnership or joint venture, cannot be more than \$250,000 per person or legal entity that comprise first-level ownership of the general partnership or operation. This rule does not apply if the first-level member is another joint operation.

CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,834 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.7(e)); CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 2-3 through 2-7, para. 16.B-D (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What are the payment limits for CFAP?" (April 22, 2021). For a corporate entity with one shareholder who contributes substantial labor or management, the limitation is \$250,000. For a corporate entity with two shareholders providing substantial labor or management, the limitation is \$500,000. For a corporate entity with three shareholders providing substantial labor or management, the limitation is \$750,000. Substantial labor or management requires that the shareholder provide at least 400 hours of active personal labor or active personal management, or a combination of the two, with respect to the eligible commodity, crop, or livestock.

possible if shareholders, members, or partners provide a certain amount of personal labor or active personal management.

Following recent changes to the CFAP 2 rules, some entities may be able to request an increase in their payment limitation to either 500,000 dollars or 750,000 dollars.⁵¹⁹

C. Attribution Rules

For CFAP, USDA will apply what are known as attribution rules that attempt to attribute payments to both direct and indirect ownership interests.⁵²⁰

VI. Federal Income Tax and CFAP 2 Payments

The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has said publicly it believes CFAP payments for tax year 2020 are agricultural program payments that need to be included as gross income.⁵²¹ It seems likely that CFAP 2 payments will be counted as taxable income by the IRS.

For its part, USDA says CFAP 2 payments will be reported to the IRS on Form CCC 1099-G.⁵²² USDA advises farmers to speak with the IRS or a tax preparer to determine exactly how a CFAP 2 payment might impact the farmer's taxes.

Many states have their own income tax, and those tax codes may or may not follow federal income tax rules.

VII. Heirs Property

Many people with heirs' property have had an extremely hard time gaining access to USDA programs. In general, heirs' property is land inherited by two or more people as tenants in common. If the property passes to other generations, there is not a clear title of ownership for the person farming the land. This problem would not appear to create difficulties for CFAP. The CFAP program does not require land ownership.⁵²³

⁵¹⁹ For more details on requesting a payment limitation increase, see CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-7, para. 16.D (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What are the payment limits for CFAP?" "Can our entity request an increase to our payment limitation now that these additional payments will be issued?" (April 22, 2021).

⁵²⁰ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,834 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.7(e)(1), (3)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-7, para. 16.D (April 14, 2021). The attribution rules at 7 C.F.R. § 1400.105 (2020) also apply.

Internal Revenue Service, Farmers' Tax Guide: For Use in Preparing 2020 Returns, Publication no. 225, pages 2, 8 (October 15, 2020), at https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/p225.pdf.

⁵²² USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Are CFAP payments going to be counted as taxable income?" (April 22, 2021).

⁵²³ Changes made in the 2018 Farm Bill sought to ease restrictions on USDA programs that flowed from failure to own farmland. See 7 U.S.C. § 2266b.

Chapter Five: CFAP 2 Sign-Up and Application

To apply for a CFAP 2 payment, a farmer must submit a completed application. The following sections outline the key aspects of the CFAP 2 application process.

I. Sign-Up Period Reopened April 5, 2021

The deadline to apply for CFAP 2 reopened on April 5, 2021.⁵²⁴ USDA says it will announce the end date of the signup period later, but it will remain open for at least sixty days.⁵²⁵

The signup had previously closed on December 11, 2020.526

In general, an application submitted or postmarked after the end of the signup period will not be approved.⁵²⁷ The application must be complete when submitted, and it must be signed.⁵²⁸ If the application is completed but never signed it is not considered filed. USDA says that once it announces a CFAP 2 application deadline, no late-filed applications will be accepted.⁵²⁹

II. CFAP Application—Form AD-3117

Farmers may apply for CFAP 2 for any commodity that is currently eligible under the program. ⁵³⁰ The CFAP 2 Application is form AD-3117 and can be downloaded from USDA's website. ⁵³¹

III. One Application—May be Revised by Farmer and FSA

Farmers should submit only one application for their entire operation.⁵³² The application can include any commodities that are then eligible. It may be revised later to add 2020 sales, production, or revenue, if applicable.⁵³³ So, for example, a farmer can complete a CFAP 2 application for corn and soybeans, and later also amend the application to include beef cattle.

FSA Notice CFAP-15, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) Policy Updates, (March 23, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "When does the reopening of the CFAP 2 signup start and end?" (April 22, 2021).

FSA Notice CFAP-15, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) Policy Updates, (March 23, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "When does the reopening of the CFAP 2 signup start and end?" (April 22, 2021); USDA, After Identifying Gaps in Previous Aid, USDA Announces 'Pandemic Assistance for Producers' to Distribute Resources More Equitably (March 24, 2021), at: https://www.fsa.usda.gov/state-offices/Minnesota/news-releases/2021/after-identifying-gaps-in-previous-aid-usda-announces-pandemic-assistance-for-producers-to-distribute-resources-more-equitably.

⁵²⁶ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(a)(2)).

⁵²⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.B, page 3-7, para. 51.E (April 14, 2021).

⁵²⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-3, para. 50.C, page 3-7, para. 51.E (April 14, 2021).

⁵²⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.B, Exhibit 6 (April 14, 2021).

USDA, Apply for Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2, at: https://www.farmers.gov/cfap/apply. CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.B (April 14, 2021).

The CFAP 2 Application, Form AD-3117 (January 19, 2021), as well as instructions for completing the application, are available at: https://www.farmers.gov/cfap.

⁵³² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-1, para. 50.A (April 14, 2021).

⁵³³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-1, para. 50.A, page 3-6, para 52.A (April 14, 2021).

A revision can also occur after an application was accepted and the payment disbursed, so long as it is revised before the application deadline.⁵³⁴ Such a revision can correct production, sales, revenue or inventory that was reported in error in the original application, or it can add production, sales, revenue or inventory that was not included on the original application. Any revision to an already-approved and paid CFAP 2 application that increases the farmer's payment will require that the farmer provide a new signature on the application.⁵³⁵

As explained below, FSA can also revise a farmer's application in ways that adversely impact the farmer's payment. ⁵³⁶ If this happens, FSA is not required to get the farmer's signature. FSA must, however, notify the farmer in writing of the revision and provide the farmer with appeal rights. ⁵³⁷

IV. Farmer Self-Certification Required

The CFAP 2 application largely involves farmer self-certification of information about the farming operation. ⁵³⁸ Information that is needed for establishing the CFAP payment—on production of crops and livestock, sales of commodities, and inventory at various times—is all self-certified by the farmer. ⁵³⁹ In addition, contract growers must self-certify their eligible 2019 and 2020 revenue. ⁵⁴⁰ USDA expects that farmers providing this information will need sales, inventory, revenue, and other records to complete the application. ⁵⁴¹ This documentation will not need to be submitted with the application. Instead, the farmer self-certifies that the information is true, but the farmer must still keep the documentation they used when filling out the application for three years after the approval date of the application. ⁵⁴² FSA has the authority to request that the farmer submit documentation used to support the farmer's application. ⁵⁴³

Contract growers, however, must provide a copy of their contract when applying for CFAP 2.544

Two additional points should be made about farmer self-certification for CFAP 2.

First, when signing the CFAP application, farmers are saying, under penalty of perjury, that the information they are providing on the application form is true and correct.⁵⁴⁵ A farmer that

⁵³⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-8, para. 52.A (April 14, 2021).

⁵³⁵ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-8, para. 52.B (April 14, 2021).

⁵³⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-8, para. 52.C (April 14, 2021).

If FSA's revision of a farmers CFAP 2 application results in decreased acres for payment, FSA must send the farmer what it calls a "reduced payment letter" along with a copy of the revised application. See CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-8, para. 52.C (April 14, 2021).

⁵³⁸ See CFAP 2 Application, Form AD-3117 (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-4, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).

⁵³⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-4, para. 51.B, page 4-33, para. 97.A, page 5-32, para. 137.A-B, page 6-22, para. 177.A, page 7-23. Para. 222.B (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁴⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 9-22, para. 312.A-B (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁴¹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-51, para. 36.B, pages 3-4 and 3-5, para. 51.B, page 9-22, para. 312.A (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What documents do I need to submit with my application?" (April 22, 2021).

⁵⁴² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 1-11, para. 3.G (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁴³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para. 15.A, page 3-4, para. 51.B, page 4-33, para. 97.A (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁴⁴ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4882-4883 (January 19, 2021) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.202(c)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-1, para 15.A, page 9-21, para. 311.A (April 14, 2021).

USDA says it is the farmer's responsibility to be aware of the program and to accurately report required information on the application form. See CFAP 2 Application, Form AD-3117, Part J

intentionally represents as true information that the farmer knows or believes is not true is possibly subject to criminal and civil fraud statutes.⁵⁴⁶

Second, USDA says it will use spot checks of famer applications.⁵⁴⁷ In the spot checks, USDA will ask for documentation that was used for the CFAP application.⁵⁴⁸ USDA expects farmers to keep documents that were used for the application.⁵⁴⁹ If the farmer provided inaccurate information on the CFAP application, the farmer may need to refund some of the payment.⁵⁵⁰ In some cases, for example, if a farmer misrepresented the total amount of the farmer's share of the crop, the head of livestock, sales or production, the application may be disapproved and the farmer may need to refund the money with interest.

V. Ways to Apply—Online, Manually, Through Local FSA Office

According to USDA, farmers should apply through their local FSA office—sometimes called a USDA Service Center. ⁵⁵¹ The CFAP 2 application can be submitted in-person (when available), by mail, email, or fax. ⁵⁵² Some farmers may be able to submit their CFAP 2 application online. ⁵⁵³ Other authorized methods may also be allowed. ⁵⁵⁴

The USDA website previously provided what it called a CFAP 2 "Application Generator and Payment Calculator." This was an Excel workbook that allowed farmers to input the required information about the farm's production, and that information is then automatically transferred into the CFAP 2 application, form AD-3117, which the farmer could then print and sign. The Application Generator and Payment Calculator is no longer discussed on the main USDA CFAP website so it might be that it is no longer in effect or is outdated.

⁽January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 1-11, para. 3.G, page 1-12, para. 4.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What documents do I need to submit with my application?" (April 22, 2021).

⁵⁴⁶ CFAP Handbook, page 1-12, para. 4.A-B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What documents do I need to submit with my application?" (April 22, 2021).

⁵⁴⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 3-4 and 3-5, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁴⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-4, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What documents do I need to submit with my application?" (April 22, 2021).

For examples of supporting documentation that farmers may need, see CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 3-4 and 3-5, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁵⁰ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,382 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory comments); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 1-12, para. 4.A (April 14, 2021).

See CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.B (April 14, 2021). See also USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Do all producers need to apply through the Farm Service Agency?" (April 22, 2021). The regulations, however, state that CFAP 2 applications may be submitted to "any FSA county office." See CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,382, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory comments; to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(a));

⁵⁵² CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,382, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory comments; to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(a)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.B, page 3-1, para. 50.A (April 14, 2021).

To apply for CFAP 2 online, farmers need to have what is called a "Level 2 eAuthentication" account with FSA. Farmers can register for this account at www.eauth.usda.gov. CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-1, para. 50.A (April 14, 2021). Farmers who are applying for CFAP 2 for acreage-based crops will only be able to apply online if they have a form FSA-578 (Report of Acreage) already on file with FSA. See CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-4, para. 251.A-C (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁵⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-1, para. 50.A (April 14, 2021). According to the CFAP 2 Handbook, any additional methods for submitting applications will be posted on www.farmers.gov.

VI. USDA Assistance with Application—Call Center Available

For some farmers who have worked with FSA in the past, many of the required forms may be on file with FSA already. For other farmers, these forms will be completely new. USDA has established a CFAP Call Center for any farmers who would like additional one-on-one support with their CFAP application. 555 USDA says that employees will be ready to assist farmers with one-on-one support for their CFAP 2 application if they call the call center.

VII. Receipt for Service

USDA rules say that the agency must provide a Receipt for Service to a farmer if the farmer makes a request of the FSA.⁵⁵⁶ The receipt must explain the request and how FSA responded. In the usual case, FSA does not provide a receipt for service when the communication is by phone. During this time of COVID-19, however, when so much of farmer-FSA interaction is by phone, FSA must provide the receipt for service when that business request is made over the phone.⁵⁵⁷ Farmers working with FSA to apply for CFAP should receive receipts for service from USDA.

VIII. USDA Process for Reviewing CFAP Applications

USDA will review the CFAP 2 application that the farmers submits.

A. Self-Certified by Farmer

As noted above, the CFAP application asks for information about the farmer's production, sales, inventories, revenue, and acreage. 558 That information is self-certified by the farmer.

B. USDA Reviews to See if Application is "Reasonable" and "Accurate"

USDA says it will look to see if the information on the CFAP 2 application is reasonable and accurate.⁵⁵⁹ The review will be based on the application itself.⁵⁶⁰

The local USDA office will review the application to check that all producer and program eligibility requirements have been met, as well as to ensure that the application was submitted on time—postmarked by the end of the signup period. ⁵⁶¹ The local USDA office will also review the production, sales, and inventory information provided on the application.

USDA says that any farmer who wishes to speak with a USDA employee and get assistance with the CFAP 2 application should call 1-877-508-8364. See USDA, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2, Assistance with Applying (May 31, 2021), at: https://www.farmers.gov/cfap.

For example, see USDA, Receipt for Service, at: https://www.usda.gov/partnerships/receipt-for-service; see also FSA Form AD-2088, Receipt of Request for Benefit or Service Offered by USDA, at: https://directives.sc.egov.usda.gov/OpenNonWebContent.aspx?content=34254.wba. And see, as well, FSA, Common Management and Operating Procedures, 1-CM (Revision 3), page 1-5, para. 4 (January 2, 2020).

Farm Service Agency (FSA), Clarifying Receipt for Service (RFS) During COVID-19, Notice AO-1751 (April 13, 2020), at: https://www.fsa.usda.gov/Internet/FSA Notice/ao 1751.pdf.

⁵⁵⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-51, para. 36.A, page 3-4, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁵⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-6, para. 51.D (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁶⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-6, para. 51.C (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁶¹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.B, page 3-6, para. 51.C-D (April 14, 2021).

C. USDA Can Ask for More Information

If the local USDA office thinks that the application is not reasonable or is questionable, USDA may request additional evidence from the farmer.⁵⁶²

When a farmer signs the CFAP 2 application, the farmer agrees to give USDA "all information that is necessary to verify that the information on the form is accurate." ⁵⁶³ The farmer also agrees to allow USDA to see all documents and records of the producer. This includes records that are in the possession of a third party, such as a warehouse, processor, or packer.

If USDA asks the farmer for more documentation of production, sales, acreage, or inventory for a commodity, and the farmer does not give USDA the documentation, USDA can adjust the application for that commodity, or USDA can deny the application altogether. 564

The kinds of additional supporting documentation that USDA might request is discussed below.

D. Possible USDA Steps After Review of Application

After reviewing the application, and any additional information that has been given by the farmer, the USDA can take one of three steps.

1. Approve Application

The local USDA office can approve the CFAP 2 application.⁵⁶⁵

2. Make "Adjustments"

USDA may make "adjustments" to the information that is reported on the application based on information that he the farmer gives USDA.⁵⁶⁶ These adjustments, according to USDA rules, should be based on documentation. An adjustment can result in a lower payment.

For contract growers, USDA may adjust the revenue numbers for both 2019 and 2020.567 The adjustment can be made if USDA decides that the revenue numbers are unreasonable or inaccurate. Revenue numbers may also be adjusted to reflect the actual 2019 or 2020 revenue, based on documentation, if USDA thinks the adjustment is necessary.568

⁵⁶² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-4, para. 51.B, page 3-7, para. 51.E (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁶³ CFAP 2 Application, Form AD-3117, Part A (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-2, para. 50.B (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁶⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-51, para. 36.B, page 3-4, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁶⁵ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-6, para. 51.C-D (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁶⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-4, para. 51.B, page 3-7, para. 51.E (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁶⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 9-22, para. 312.D (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁶⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 9-22, para. 312.D (April 14, 2021).

3. Deny Application

USDA can deny the application—the official term is disapprove the application. ⁵⁶⁹ USDA can deny the application if it decides the information on the application, or in the supporting documents provided by the farmer, is not accurate or reasonable.

USDA can also deny the application if: (1) the program eligibility rules are not met; (2) the producer is not eligible; (3) there is evidence that the farmer did not have an ownership interest in the commodity; (4) the application was late; or (5) the application was not properly signed.⁵⁷⁰ The CFAP application is not considered filed with USDA unless it is signed.

4. Notice and Appeal Rights if Application is Adjusted or Denied

If the CFAP 2 application is adjusted or denied by USDA, USDA must take several steps.

First, USDA must notify the farmer that USDA has either adjusted or denied the application.⁵⁷¹

Second, USDA must notify the farmer that the farmer may appeal the decision.⁵⁷² Appeals are discussed below.

Third, USDA must document the reason for the adjustment or denial in the minutes for the USDA county committee. ⁵⁷³ This information can become important if the farmer appeals the USDA decision.

⁵⁶⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 1-8, para. 3.D, page 3-7, para. 51.E (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁷⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-8, para. 51.E (April 14, 2021). The signature must be on Form AD-3117, in part J. Signature rules are discussed in FSA Handbook Common Management and Operating Provisions, 1-CM (Revision 3), pages 25-1 to 25-15, paras. 676 to 681 (January 2, 2020).

⁵⁷¹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-7, para. 51.E (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁷² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-7, para. 51.E (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁷³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-7, para. 51.E (April 14, 2021).

Chapter Six: Required Eligibility Forms, Supporting Documentation, and Additional Forms

A number of forms and considerable supporting documentation are required for CFAP 2.

I. Required Eligibility Forms

There are several forms that farmers must submit in order to eligible for CFAP 2.574 USDA calls these forms required eligibility forms. A CFAP 2 payment will not be issued until each of the required eligibility forms is submitted.575

Each of these eligibility forms must be submitted within sixty days from the date on which the farmer signs the CFAP 2 application.⁵⁷⁶ If they are not submitted within this timeframe, the farmer may receive a reduced payment or no payment at all.

The following are the eligibility forms a farmer must submit in order to receive a CFAP 2 payment.

A. CFAP 2 Application (Form AD-3117)

As described in more detail above, to be eligible for CFAP 2 the farmer must submit a completed and signed application, Form AD-3117.⁵⁷⁷

B. Farm Operating Plan (Form CCC-902)

A farm operating plan must be submitted.⁵⁷⁸ This is known as Form CCC-902. It must be submitted within sixty days of signing the CFAP 2 application.⁵⁷⁹

The farm operating plan is a commonly used USDA form, so most farmers that work with USDA will already have this form on file. Many farmers who have not worked with USDA will need to fill out the form for the first time.

⁵⁷⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-12, para. 20.A (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁷⁵ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-52, para. 37.A, page 3-29, para. 68.B (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁷⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-12, para. 20.A, page 3-6, para. 51.D (April 14, 2021). See, as well, CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,827, 30,831 (May 21, 2020) (prefatory comments; to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(b)).

⁵⁷⁷ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,382, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory comments; to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(a)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-52, para. 37.A, page 3-1, para. 50.A, page 3-7, para. 51.E (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁷⁸ CFAP 2 Application, Form AD-3117, Part A (January 19, 2021); CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(b)(1)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-12, para. 19.A, page 2-52, para. 37.A, page 3-6, para. 51.D (April 14, 2021). Form CCC-902 must be completed according to the Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL. Instructions for one version of Form CCC-902, and an example of the Form, can be found in the Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, pages 4-65 to 4-69, para. 195.A (October 2, 2019).

Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(b)(1)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-12, para. 20.A (April 14, 2021).

For CFAP 2 purposes, only parts A and B of Form CCC-902 are required.⁵⁸⁰ This means the farmer will need to give contact information, a social security or tax identification number, citizenship status, and information about other farming interests.

The USDA website says that USDA staff will help applicants complete the required parts of Form CCC-902.⁵⁸¹

C. Average Adjusted Gross Income Statements (Form CCC-941 and, if Applicable, Form CCC-942)

Farmers applying for CFAP 2 must certify their average adjusted gross income (AGI).⁵⁸² There are two potential forms that may be required to meet this requirement.⁵⁸³ First, a farmer must submit an Average Adjusted Gross Income Certification, form CCC-941, which provides a certification of AGI and a consent to tax disclosure. ⁵⁸⁴ If a farmer's income is more than the average AGI limitations for CFAP 2, a farmer should also submit a Certification of Income from Farming, Ranching, and Forestry.⁵⁸⁵ This is known as Form CCC-942.⁵⁸⁶

⁵⁸⁰ CFAP 2 Application, Form AD-3117, Part A (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-12, para. 19.A (April 14, 2021). Form CCC-902 asks if the farmer is a citizen, whether the farmer has a Resident Alien Card (I-551) or is a foreign person. Other parts of Form CCC-902, which are not required for CFAP 2, ask for information about the land to be used, including the farm number, equipment, labor, source of capital, and management of the farm.

See USDA, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2, CFAP 2 Application (May 31, 2021), at: https://www.farmers.gov/cfap.

⁵⁸² CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,832 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(b)(3)-(4)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-9, para. 17.A, page 2-52, para. 37.A (April 14, 2021). Tax years 2016, 2017, and 2018 are used to calculate AGI for 2020 CFAP 2. The form should be filled out according to FSA Handbook, 5-PL (Amendment 6), Payment Eligibility, Payment Limitation, and Average Adjusted Gross Income – Agricultural Act of 2014 (October 2, 2019).

⁵⁸³ USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Who must fill out forms to certify average AGI and Farm AGI?" (April 22, 2021).

Form CCC-941 is available in English at: https://www.farmers.gov/cfap/apply. For this requirement, see CFAP 2 Application, Form AD-3117, Part A (January 19, 2021); CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,832 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(b)(3)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-9, para. 17.A, page 2-52, para. 37.A (April 14, 2021). Instructions for Form CCC-941, and an example of a Form, can be found in the Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, pages 6-36 to 6-38, para. 302.E-F (October 2, 2019).

For this requirement, see CFAP 2 Application, Form AD-3117, Part A (January 19, 2021); CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,832 (May 21, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(b)(4)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-12, para. 19.A, page 2-52, para. 37.A (April 14, 2021).

A downloadable copy of form CCC-942, with instructions, is available at: https://www.farmers.gov/cfap/apply.

D. Member Information Form—Legal Entities Only (Form CCC-901)

If a legal entity is applying for a CFAP payment, a member information form must be submitted.⁵⁸⁷ This form, known as CCC-901, collects information on legal entities. ⁵⁸⁸ Form CCC-901 collects contact information on members, including citizenship status, as well as Tax Identification Numbers.

E. Highly Erodible Land and Wetland Conservation Certification (Form AD-1026)

To take part in most USDA farm programs farmers must meet what are commonly called conservation compliance requirements.⁵⁸⁹ This is true for CFAP 2, although the rules that apply are a bit unusual.⁵⁹⁰ When applying for CFAP, the application requires that farmers agree to comply with certain conservation compliance rules.⁵⁹¹

The following sections explain the conservation compliance rules for CFAP 2.

1. Form AD-1026

Generally, farmers meet the conservation compliance requirements for various USDA programs by completing Form AD-1026.⁵⁹² That often also means providing documentation about the farmland.⁵⁹³

Some farmers will only need to certify their conservation compliance on the CFAP 2 application, while other farmers may need to fill out part or all of Form AD-1026 when applying.⁵⁹⁴ As with the other required eligibility forms for CFAP 2, if Form AD-1026 is required, a farmer must submit it within sixty days of signing the CFAP 2

⁵⁸⁷ CFAP 2 Application, Form AD-3117, Part A (January 19, 2021); CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(b)(2)); USDA, Apply for Coronavirus Food Assistance Program 2, Additional Application Materials (May 31, 2021), at: https://www.farmers.gov/cfap/apply.

Form CCC-901 is available at: https://www.farmers.gov/cfap/apply. Instructions for Form CCC-901, and an example of a Form, can be found in the Payment Eligibility Handbook, 5-PL, pages 2-254 to 2-261, para. 140 (October 2, 2019).

USDA, CFAP FAQ, "Do the Farm Bill's conservation compliance requirements apply to CFAP?" (April 22, 2021). Conservation compliance rules can be found in FSA Handbook, Highly Erodible Land Conservation and Wetland Conservation Provisions, 6-CP (Revision 4) (June 21, 2019).

⁵⁹⁰ CFAP 2 Application, Form AD-3117, Part A (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-10, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁹¹ CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 2-10 and 2-11, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021). On the CFAP 2 application, the conservation compliance sections are found at Form AD-3117, Part A, numbers 8, 8A, 8B, and 9 (January 19, 2021).

⁵⁹² CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,832 (May 21, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(b)(5)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-12, para. 19.B, page 2-52, para. 37.A (April 14, 2021). The rules for this form are in FSA Handbook, Highly Erodible Land Conservation and Wetland Conservation Provisions, 6-CP (Revision 4) (June 21, 2019). Form AD-1026, Highly Erodible Land Conservation (HELC) and Wetland Conservation (WC) Certification, is available in English and Spanish, at: https://www.farmers.gov/cfap/apply.

Highly Erodible Land Handbook, 6-CP, page 6-122, para. 641.D (June 21, 2019).

⁵⁹⁴ See CFAP 2 Application, Form AD-3117, Part A (January 19, 2021); CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,832 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(b)(5)); CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 2-10 and 2-11, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021).

application.⁵⁹⁵ If the farmer does not meet this deadline, the farmer's CFAP 2 payment may be reduced or denied.⁵⁹⁶

2. Farmers That Already Have a Certified Form AD-1026 on File

Some farmers have an ongoing certification of conservation compliance. Once a Form AD-1026 is certified by USDA, it remains in effect.⁵⁹⁷ FSA calls this continuous certification. Even with continuous certification, farmers must complete a new Form AD-1026 if certain changes are made to the farming operation.⁵⁹⁸

Most rules for continuous certification are applicable to farmers applying for CFAP 2.⁵⁹⁹ In other words, farmers who have previously filed Form AD-1026, and who have not undergone changes to their farming operation that require a new Form AD-1026 to be submitted, will not need to file AD-1026 when applying for CFAP 2.

3. Farmers That Must Only Complete Part of Form AD-1026

Some farmers will not need to fill out the entire Form AD-1026. 600 They can instead fill out a part of the Form and not respond to a number of additional questions. In general, this rule applies to: (1) farmers that have no interest in agricultural land; and (2) many farmers that raise perennial crops.

In addition, if farmers are able to meet either of these two exceptions, they would seem not to need to have farm records established—which would mean the farmer would not need to get a farm number from USDA.⁶⁰¹ Farm numbers are discussed more below.

a. No Interest in Agricultural Land

Farmers do not need to fill out the entire Form AD-1026 if they do not have interest in land devoted to agriculture. 602 This means the farmer does not own and does not rent agricultural land, including cropland, rangeland, pasture, and forestland. Further, it means the farmer does not raise a commodity by sharing in a crop. 603

In general, for this exception to apply, the farmer must be a producer of livestock, nursery crops, aquaculture crops, honey, or other commodities that are not

⁵⁹⁵ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,831 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(b)(5)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-12, para. 20.A, page 3-6, para. 51.D (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁹⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-6, para. 51.D (April 14, 2021).

⁵⁹⁷ See Highly Erodible Land Handbook, 6-CP, page 3-8.6, para. 303.E (June 21, 2019); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-10, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021); Form AD-1026, Part D.

See Highly Erodible Land Handbook, 6-CP, page 3-8.6, para. 303.E (June 21, 2019); Form AD-1026, Part D.

⁵⁹⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-10, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021).

⁶⁰⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-10, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021). The farmer would only need to complete Part A and Part D of Form AD-1026, and check box 5B.

⁶⁰¹ Highly Erodible Land Handbook, 6-CP, page 6-122, para. 641.D (June 21, 2019); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-11, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021).

⁶⁰² CFAP 2 Application, AD-3117, Part A (January 19, 2021). On Form AD-1026 that means the farmer checks box 5A. See CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-11, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021).

⁶⁰³ Form AD-1026, Part A, Item 5A.

produced from the tillage of land.⁶⁰⁴ Under this exception, USDA has in mind farmers that keep bees on someone else's land but do not rent the land.⁶⁰⁵ USDA also thinks it applies if the farmer produces crops in a greenhouse, or if the farmer is a producer of aquaculture. In each of these examples, the farmer must not own or lease any agriculture land.

If a farmer meets this exception, the farmer must only fill out a portion of Form AD-1026 in order to participate in CFAP 2.606

b. Perennial Crops and No Farm Program Payments Except for CFAP 2

Farmers will only need to fill out part of Form AD-1026 if they can certify that three things are true. 607

First, the farmer must be able to certify that the only USDA programs subject to conservation compliance that the farmer participates in are CFAP 2 or federal crop insurance. 608

Second, the farmer must be able to certify that the farmer only has interest in land that produces perennials. ⁶⁰⁹ In general, a perennial crop, for the purposes of conservation compliance, is a crop that is planted once and produces a crop over multiple years. ⁶¹⁰ This includes fruit trees, native pasture, and perennial forage. For the purposes of Form AD-1026, perennial crops include, but are not limited to, tree fruit, tree nuts, grapes, native pasture and perennial forage. ⁶¹¹ Perennial crops, for this purpose, do not include sugar cane. ⁶¹²

Third, the farmer must be able to certify that the farmer has not converted a wetland after December 23, 1985.⁶¹³

The farmer must check Box 5A of Form AD-1026 as well as self-certify compliance with the conservation rules. See CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-11, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021); CFAP 2 Application, AD-3117, Part A, Items 8B, 9 (January 19, 2021).

⁶⁰⁴ Form AD-3117, Part A, Item 8B (January 19, 2021); see also CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-11, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021).

⁶⁰⁵ Form AD-1026, Part A, Item 5A.

Farmers that meet these requirements must check Box 5B on Form AD-1026 as well as self-certify compliance with the conservation rules. See CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-10, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021); CFAP 2 Application, AD-3117, Part A. Items 8A, 9 (January 19, 2021).

⁶⁰⁸ Form AD-1026, section 5; CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-10, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021).

⁶⁰⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-10, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021); Form AD-1026, Part A, Section 5, Appendix, no. 3. If the farmer produces alfalfa this may qualify, but it might not. The farmer must check with USDA if the farmer produces alfalfa. USDA provides a list of perennial crops, at: www.nrcs.usda.gov/compliance.

⁶¹⁰ Form AD-1026, Appendix, no. 3.

⁶¹¹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-10, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021); Form AD-1026, Part A, Section 5.

⁶¹² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-10, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021).

⁶¹³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-10, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021); Form AD-1026, Part A, Section 5. The CFAP 2 Handbook says the farmer must not have converted a wetland after December 23, 1985. Form AD-1026 says the farmer has not converted a wetland after February 7, 2014.

4. Farmers That Must Complete the Entire Form AD-1026

Any farmers who have not filled out a complete Form AD-1026 in the past will need to do so if they apply for CFAP 2 and do not qualify for either of the two above exceptions. ⁶¹⁴

Usually, filling out a complete Form AD-1026 would require additional documents and would mean establishing farm records. ⁶¹⁵ Establishing a farm record means the farmer must receive a farm number from USDA. ⁶¹⁶

For CFAP 2, however, the rules are less strict. Once USDA receives a Form AD-1026, USDA will consider the Form AD-1026 to be certified. Later, the farmer will be contacted to establish the required farm records. ⁶¹⁷ It is unclear whether FSA will require farmers to create a farm record in order to receive a CFAP 2 payment.

II. Supporting Documentation

As noted above, although farmers self-certify their CFAP 2 applications, in some cases USDA will request that a farmer provide additional supporting documentation to verify the information given on the CFAP 2 application.⁶¹⁸ This can occur if USDA thinks that the application is not reasonable or is questionable.⁶¹⁹

If USDA requests additional documentation to substantiate the production, sales, revenue, or inventories for any of the commodities on a farmer's application, and the farmer does not submit that additional documentation, USDA may adjust the application or disapprove it. ⁶²⁰ A disapproval means a denial.

The following are the types of information that USDA may request additional documentation for in order to substantiate.

A. Farmer's Intent to Harvest, Transport, or Market

If asked by USDA, a farmer must provide documentation to demonstrate that the farmer has the ability and intent to harvest, transport, and market the commodity for its intended market or for its expected production. ⁶²¹

⁶¹⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-11, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021); CFAP 2 Application, AD-3117, Part A. Item 8 (January 19, 2021). When filling out form AD-1026, farmers must follow the rules in the Highly Erodible Land Handbook, 6-CP (June 21, 2019).

⁶¹⁵ Highly Erodible Land Handbook, 6-CP, page 6-122, para. 641.D (June 21, 2019).

See, for example, FSA Handbook, Farm Records and Reconstitutions for Current Year, 10-CM (Revision 1), page 1-4, para. 3.B, pages 2-8 and 2-9, para. 24.A-C, page 2-35, para. 33.A (September 11, 2019).

⁶¹⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-11, para. 18.A (April 14, 2021).

⁶¹⁸ CFAP 2 Application, Form AD-3117, Part A (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,382 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory comments); CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,832 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(c)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-4, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).

⁶¹⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 3-4 and 3-5, para. 51.B, page 3-7, para. 51.E, page 9-22, para. 312.A (April 14, 2021).

⁶²⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-4 para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).

⁶²¹ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,832 (May 21, 2020), amended by amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(c)(1)).

Similarly, a farmer may be required to provide documentation to verify the crop's expected production in a quantity based upon the farmer's approved yield, expected level or production, or inventory of the livestock, crop, or commodity. 622

B. Farmer's Ownership in Commodity

If requested by USDA, a farmer must provide documentation to show the farmer's ownership share in an eligible commodity. 623

C. Farmer's Risk in the Commodity

If requested by USDA, a farmer must provide documentation to show the farmer's value that is at risk in an eligible commodity.⁶²⁴

D. Verification of Information Provided on Application

If requested by USDA, a farmer must provide documentation that substantiates the information provided on the farmer's CFAP 2 application.⁶²⁵ For example, the sales of specialty crops, aquaculture, nursery and floriculture, and "other" livestock must be based on sales records. Production for various commodities, including dairy, eggs, and broilers, must be based on production records. Similarly, a farmer's inventory for livestock must be based on inventory records.

The following are examples of the supporting documentation that USDA has in mind to substantiate a farmer's inventory, production, sales, revenue, and acreage for specific commodities.

1. Dairy-Cow's Milk

According to USDA, the following are examples of production evidence for dairy: (1) milk marketing statements for April, May, June, July, and August 2020; (2) records documenting that milk was dumped in April, May, June, July, and August 2020. 626

USDA says it will also accept other records that it decides are acceptable. 627

2. Eggs

For eggs, the following are examples of production evidence that can provide supporting documentation: (1) egg marketing statements from 2019; (2) contracts; and

⁶²² CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,832 (May 21, 2020), amended by amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(c)(1)).

⁶²³ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,832 (May 21, 2020), amended by amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(c)(2)).

⁶²⁴ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 3,0832 (May 21, 2020), amended by amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.4(c)(3)).

⁶²⁵ CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,382 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory comments); CFAP 2 Handbook, pages 3-4 and 3-5, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).

⁶²⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-4, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).

⁶²⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-4, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).

(3) sales receipts. 628 If the egg framer was a new producer after December 19, 2019, the farmer can use 2020 documentation.

USDA will also accept other records that it decides are acceptable. 629

3. Broilers

For broilers, the following are examples of production evidence that can provide supporting documentation: (1) broiler marketing statements from 2019; (2) contracts; and (3) sales receipts. ⁶³⁰ If the broiler farmer was a new producer after December 31, 2019, the farmer can use 2020 documentation.

USDA will also accept other records that it decides are acceptable. ⁶³¹

4. Livestock

For livestock, USDA gives examples of sources of evidence that would be acceptable to USDA to verify a farmer's owned inventory. ⁶³² They include: (1) breeding records; (2) feeding records; (3) inventory records; (4) rendering receipts; (5) sales receipts; and (6) veterinary records. USDA will also accept other records that USDA thinks are acceptable. ⁶³³

For inventory in particular, USA says examples of evidence for verification purposes include: (1) livestock purchase receipts; (2) veterinarian records; (3) records that verify livestock production costs; and (4) contemporaneous diaries that are acceptable to USDA. ⁶³⁴ Contemporaneous means that the diary was written at the time the events took place.

As noted below, USDA has the power to adjust the livestock inventory listed on the farmer's application if USDA decides the quantity is unreasonable or not accurate. GSDA can also change the inventory based on the documents the farmer gives to USDA.

5. Sales Commodities

For sales commodities—including specialty crops, aquaculture, nursery and floriculture, "other" livestock, and certain miscellaneous commodities—USDA gives examples of the supporting documentation to verify production. ⁶³⁶ They include: (1) schedule F; (2) sales receipts; (3) other sales documents indicating when a commodity was forward priced; (4) ledgers of income; (5) income statements and deposit slips; (6) register tapes; (7) invoices for custom harvesting; (8) records verifying production costs; (9) truck sale tickets; and (10) crop insurance, NAP, and WHIP+ records.

636 CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-5, para. 35.B (April 14, 2021).

<sup>CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-4, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).
CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-4, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).
CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-4, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).
CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-4, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).
CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-5, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).
CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-5, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).
CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-5, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).
CFAP 2 Handbook, page 6-22, para. 177.A (April 14, 2021).
CFAP 2 Handbook, page 6-23, para. 177.C (April 14, 2021).</sup>

USDA will also accept contemporaneous diaries that USDA decides are acceptable, as well as contemporaneous measurements. ⁶³⁷ Contemporaneous means that the diary was written at the time the events took place. A contemporaneous measurement of inventory for October 1, for example, would be a measurement that took place on October 1, and was not estimated later.

In addition, USDA says it will accept other records that it thinks are acceptable. 638

If the farmer was a new producer after December 31, 2019, the farmer may provide 2020 documentation. ⁶³⁹

6. Contract Grower Commodities

For contract growers of swine or poultry, USDA says that contract grower agreements, ledgers of commerce, income or revenue statements, and reports issued by the owners of the commodity can be used as supporting documentation. ⁶⁴⁰

In addition, MISC-1099 forms from 2019 and 2020 are a source of documentation for contract producers. ⁶⁴¹ USDA notes that these forms document calendar year income. ⁶⁴² For CFAP 2, the period for revenue losses does not quite match the calendar year. Revenue to be certified by the farmer is from January 1 through December 27. Revenue received between December 28 and December 31 in either year is not relevant for CFAP 2.

USDA says that contract grower agreements, ledgers of commerce, income or revenue statements, and reports issued by the owners of the commodity can be used as supporting documentation for contract growers. ⁶⁴³

USDA may also accept other records that it decides are acceptable. 644

III. Additional Forms

The following forms may also be needed in order to complete the CFAP 2 application.

A. Customer Contact Information (Form AD-2047)

USDA may require that farmers submit form AD-2047, which provides basic customer contact information.⁶⁴⁵

⁶³⁷ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-5, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).

⁶³⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-5, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).

⁶³⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-5, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).

⁶⁴⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-5, para 51.B (April 14, 2021).

⁶⁴¹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-5, para 51.B (April 14, 2021).

⁶⁴² CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-5, para 51.B (April 14, 2021).

⁶⁴³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-5, para 51.B (April 14, 2021).

⁶⁴⁴ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-4, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021).

⁶⁴⁵ Form AD-2047 is available at: https://www.farmers.gov/cfap/apply.

B. Payment Eligibility and Payment Limitation (Form CCC-903)

A farmer may also need to submit a worksheet that provides information to help USDA determine if the farmer meets the CFAP 2 requirements for producer, payment limitations, and foreign person eligibility.⁶⁴⁶ This is known as form CCC-903.

C. Banking and Direct Deposit Information Form (Form SF-3881)— Optional

If farmers wish to receive a CFAP 2 payment by direct deposit, they should complete form SF-3881, which provides the needed banking and direct deposit information.⁶⁴⁷

D. Socially Disadvantaged, Limited Resource, Beginning, and Veteran Farmer or Rancher Certification (Form CCC-860)—Optional

Farmers who want to inform USDA that they fall within the category of a socially disadvantaged, limited resource, beginning, or veteran farmer or rancher, may submit a certification to that effect using form CCC-860. ⁶⁴⁸ This certification is completely optional. ⁶⁴⁹ According to an FSA Notice released in May 2020, the information on form CCC-860 does not affect eligibility for CFAP 1 or impact a farmer's potential CFAP 1 payment in any way. This is probably true for CFAP 2 eligibility and payments as well, though FSA has not said so directly.

IV. Spot Checks

USDA says it will do some spot checks of farmers to confirm that information given to USDA is accurate. 650

How spot checks will work is unclear. For CFAP 1, USDA says that the national FSA office will randomly select CFAP 1 applications for spot checks. ⁶⁵¹ In addition, local USDA officials can select some applications to be spot checked by the national FSA office. It appears that USDA expects local offices to request national office spot checks of applications where the local office questions the validity of the farmer certification. The odd aspect of this is that local offices would have had the chance to ask the farmer for documentation for the CFAP 1 application, and the spot checks will be for CFAP 1 applications that have already been approved.

There is no guarantee that spot checks for CFAP 2 will work the same way as spot checks for CFAP 1.

⁶⁴⁶ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-12, para. 19.A (April 14, 2021).

⁶⁴⁷ Form SF-3881 is available at: https://www.farmers.gov/cfap/apply.

⁶⁴⁸ Form CCC-860 is available at:

https://forms.sc.egov.usda.gov/efcommon/eFileServices/eFormsAdmin/CCC0860 140402V01.pdf. FSA Notice CFAP-4, page 18, para. 6.B (May 20, 2020).

⁶⁵⁰ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-4, para. 51.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "What documents do I need to submit with my application?" (April 22, 2021).

⁶⁵¹ FSA Notice CFAP-12, Compliance Reviews of Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) Applications (October 15, 2020).

V. Keep Documents for Three Years

Farmers who are approved for a CFAP 2 payment must keep the documentation used in support of their application for three years after the date of approval. ⁶⁵² This includes documentation of production, sales, inventory, and acreage. ⁶⁵³

VI. Farm Numbers

As it stands right now, USDA says it is not requiring farmers to establish a farm number with FSA in order to apply for CFAP. For many other USDA programs, a farm number is required. In general, a farm number is a number that can be assigned by FSA when the land is part of a single farming operation, although it is possible for land with different owners to be combined into a single farm.⁶⁵⁴

⁶⁵² CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,834 (May 21, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.6(a)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 1-11, para. 3.G (April 14, 2021).

⁶⁵³ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-51, para. 36.B (April 14, 2021).

For a short discussion, see FSA, What is the Definition of a Farm Number and a Farm? at: https://askfsa.custhelp.com/app/answers/detail/a_id/1870/~/what-is-the-definition-of%3A-a-farm-number-and-a-farm%3F. For the official rules for creating or changing a farm number, see FSA Handbook, 10-CM, Farm Records and Reconstitutions for 2013 and Subsequent Years (September 11, 2019), at https://www.fsa.usda.gov/Internet/FSA_File/10-cm_roo_ao5.pdf.

Chapter Seven: Modifying Existing CFAP 2 Applications

As discussed throughout this Guide, there have been various recent changes to CFAP 2. Some of these changes may affect farmers who previously applied to CFAP 2 during the original signup period that ran from September 21, 2020, through December 11, 2020. Some changes to CFAP 2 will require that farmers modify their existing CFAP 2 applications in order to take advantage of the new rules. Other changes, such as the increased payment rate of twenty dollars per acre for price trigger and flat-rate crops, will not require any additional action on the part of farmers.

The sections below describe which farmers may be eligible to modify an existing CFAP 2 application. If eligible, USDA says that farmers should contact their local USDA Service Center to begin the modification process.⁶⁵⁷

I. Farmers Who Previously Applied for Sales-Based Commodities and Received Indemnities in 2019

Farmers who raised sales-based crops can amend already-submitted CFAP 2 applications to include additional income listed in their 2019 crop year sales. ⁶⁵⁸ This is helpful because benefits are based in part on the amount of those sales. Specifically, income can be added to 2019 crop sales from: (1) federal crop insurance indemnities; (2) Noninsured Crop Disaster Assistance Program (NAP) payments, and (3) Wildfire and Hurricanes Indemnity Program Plus (WHIP+) payments. ⁶⁵⁹ The payments must have been for crop year 2019. ⁶⁶⁰

II. Farmers Who Raise Pullets or Grow Turfgrass Sod

Farmers who raise pullets or grow turfgrass sod can amend already-submitted CFAP 2 applications to include those commodities.⁶⁶¹

⁶⁵⁵ See, for example, USDA, Modify Existing CFAP 2 Application (May 31, 2021).

⁶⁵⁶ For example, USDA says it will automatically issue new payments for farmers who previously submitted a CFAP 2 application for price trigger or flat-rate crops. See FSA Notice CFAP-15, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) Policy Updates, page 2 (March 23, 2021).

⁶⁵⁷ Local service centers may be found at: https://www.farmers.gov/service-center-locator.

⁶⁵⁸ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 2-14, para. 21.B, page 3-8, para. 52.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I grow or raise a CFAP 2 sales-based commodity that suffered a loss covered by crop insurance indemnity, NAP, or WHIP+ in crop year 2019. I applied for CFAP 2, and my payment calculation only included eligible sales. Can I revise my application to update how the payment is calculated?" (April 22, 2021); USDA, Modify Existing CFAP 2 Application (May 31, 2021).

⁶⁵⁹ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-3, para. 5.B, page 3-7, para. 51.E, page 3-8, para. 52.B (April 14, 2021); USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I grow or raise a CFAP 2 sales-based commodity that suffered a loss covered by crop insurance indemnity, NAP, or WHIP+ in crop year 2019. I applied for CFAP 2, and my payment calculation only included eligible sales. Can I revise my application to update how the payment is calculated?" (April 22, 2021).

⁶⁶⁰ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021).

⁶⁶¹ USDA, CFAP FAQ, "I applied for CFAP 2, but I also raise pullets or grow turfgrass sod. Do I submit a new application or modify an existing one for payments on those newly eligible commodities?" (April 22, 2021).

III. Farmers Who Previously Applied for Price Trigger Commodities but Did Not Have a 2020 APH Approved Yield

Farmers who raise price trigger crops may be able to amend already-submitted CFAP 2 applications. This is true if the farmer grows barley, corn, sorghum, soybeans, sunflowers, upland cotton, or wheat, and the farmer had crop insurance but did not have an available 2020 APH approved yield. 662 For some of these farmers, FSA is now using 100 percent of the 2019 ARC-CO benchmark yield, instead of the original 85 percent. 663 As described earlier in this Guide, 100 percent of the 2019 ARC-CO benchmark yield can be used if the farmer meets one of four conditions. 664 First, 100 percent of the weighted 2019 ARC-CO can be used if the farmer has coverage under certain types of federal crop insurance. 665 Second, it can be used if the farmer is a landlord and the landlord's share is insured by the tenant under an RMA policy or a plan of insurance. Third, it can be used if the farmer is a tenant and the farmer's share is insured by the landlord with federal crop insurance. Finally, it can be used if the farm is a joint venture and the crop is insured by a member under an RMA policy or plan of insurance.

IV. Contract Growers

It is currently unclear whether farmers who previously applied for CFAP 2—and who would now also be eligible for a CFAP 2 payment as a contract grower—can modify their previous CFAP 2 application.⁶⁶⁶

⁶⁶² FSA Notice CFAP-15, Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) Policy Updates, page 3 (March 23, 2021); USDA, Modify Existing CFAP 2 Application (May 31, 2021).

<sup>CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks) (January 19, 2021);
CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,387 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. §
9.202(a)(3)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-3, para. 250.D, page 8-27, para. 262.A, pages 8-31 and 8-32, para. 262.F-G, pages 8-73 and 8-74, para. 284.C-D (April 14, 2021).</sup>

⁶⁶⁴ CFAP Additional Assistance Rule, 86 Fed. Reg. 4877, 4879 (prefatory remarks), 4883 (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.203(a)(3)(i)(A)-(D)) (January 19, 2021); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 8-27, para. 262.A, page 8-30, para. 262.E (April 14, 2021).

The qualifying crop insurance plans include Area Risk Protection Insurance Plan, Margin Protection Plan, Stacked Income Protection Plan, Supplemental Coverage Option, or Whole-Farm Revenue Protection Plan.

USDA's Frequently Asked Questions discussion seems not to answer the question. See USDA, FAQ, "I raise swine and applied under CFAP Additional Assistance when it was announced in January 2021. Why haven't I received my additional payments for CFAP 1." USDA's answer to this question is: "The swine additional payments announced with the CFAP Additional Assistance remain on hold until further notice while the CFAP program is under review."

Chapter Eight: CFAP 2 Appeals

Farmers have the right to appeal certain adverse decisions that USDA makes with respect to CFAP 2.667 USDA programs, including CFAP 2, are required to inform farmers, in writing, of any adverse decision that is made with respect to the farmer.668 This adverse decision letter should explain the reasons for the adverse decision and it also should provide the farmer with details on how to appeal the decision.669 There are multiple options for appealing to USDA—some options are informal, while others follow a more formal appeals process.

The following sections describe what type of decisions are appealable, as well as the various options that a farmer has for appealing an adverse decision.

I. Appealable Adverse Decisions

In general, only adverse decisions are appealable.⁶⁷⁰ Adverse decisions are decisions that result either in a farmer not receiving program benefits for which the farmer believes he or she was entitled to receive, or decisions that result in a farmer receiving fewer funds than the farmer believes should have been paid.⁶⁷¹

There are three main types of USDA adverse decisions that are appealable and that apply to CFAP 2. First, a farmer can appeal the denial of participation in certain programs, including CFAP 2. 672 Second, a farmer can appeal a decision related to the farmer's compliance with a program's requirements. 673 Third, a farmer can appeal a decision related to a program's payments or benefits. 674 With respect to CFAP 2 specifically, a farmer is also entitled to an appeal if FSA adjusts or disapproves any of the information on the farmer's CFAP 2 application. 675

In order for any of these types of decisions to be appealable, it must result in an individual determination for the farmer.⁶⁷⁶ In other words, the decision has to relate specifically to the

<sup>CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30825, 30834 (May 21, 2020), amended by CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,385 (September 22, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.7(b)); CFAP 2 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 59,380, 59,382 (September 22, 2020) (prefatory comments); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-7, para. 51.E (April 14, 2021). The appeal regulations that apply to CFAP 2 are found at 7 C.F.R. pts. 11 and 780. Also applicable is FSA Handbook, 1-APP (Revision 2), Program Appeals, Mediation, and Litigation (September 12, 2016), at: https://www.fsa.usda.gov/Internet/FSA_File/1-app_ro2_a15.pdf.
7 C.F.R. § 11.6(b) (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 2-8, para. 12.A (September 12, 2016).</sup>

⁶⁶⁹ 7 C.F.R. § 11.6(b) (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 2-8, para. 12.A, pages 2-12 through 2-15, para. 14 (September 12, 2016). The letter should provide: (1) a background explaining the reason for the letter; (2) the general program rules; (3) FSA findings about the facts and evidence used; (4) an explanation of how the facts fit the program rules; and (5) the FSA decision.

⁶⁷⁰ FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 2-6, para. 11.A (September 12, 2016).

⁶⁷¹ 7 C.F.R. § 780.2, "Adverse decision" (2020).

⁶⁷² 7 C.F.R. § 780.4(b)(1) (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 6-1, para. 71.B (September 12, 2016). See also CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,827 (prefatory remarks), 30834 (May 21, 2020) (to be codified at 7 C.F.R. § 9.7(b)); CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-7, para. 51.E (April 14, 2021).

⁶⁷³ 7 C.F.R. § 780.4(b)(2) (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 6-1, para. 71.B (September 12, 2016).

^{674 7} C.F.R. § 780.4(b)(3) (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 6-1, para. 71.B (September 12, 2016).

⁶⁷⁵ CFAP 2 Handbook, page 3-7, para. 51.E (April 14, 2021).

⁶⁷⁶ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30,825, 30,827 (May 21, 2020) (prefatory comments); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 2-4, para. 10.A (September 12, 2016).

farmer and not be a decision that is generally applicable to other farmers. ⁶⁷⁷ Under CFAP 2, for example, if USDA decided that the production listed by the farmer on the CFAP 2 application was not accurate, that is an appealable decision. On the other hand, the decision by USDA not to include breeding stock as an eligible commodity for CFAP 2 is not appealable by a farmer that raises breeding stock because the decision by USDA applies to all farmers and not just that single farmer owning the breeding stock.

II. Non-Appealable Decisions

There are several types of decisions that are not appealable. For example, as mentioned above, a decision that is generally applicable to similarly-situated farmers is not appealable. For example, a farmer cannot appeal how a program defines eligible crops, prices, or signup deadlines, because such decisions apply to all farmers who apply for the program. With respect to CFAP 2, this means a farmer cannot appeal USDA's decision to include or exclude certain commodities from eligibility. It also means a farmer cannot appeal the payment rates that USDA determined for each of the CFAP 2-eligible commodities.

In addition, farmers cannot appeal any statutory or regulatory requirements that apply to USDA programs.⁶⁸¹ This includes statutory or regulatory formulas that are used when calculating a farmer's potential payments or benefits under a program.⁶⁸²

Farmers also are unable to appeal the denial of program benefits due to a lack of funding.⁶⁸³ Therefore, if CFAP 2 funds run out, and a farmer is denied a payment for that reason, the farmer cannot appeal the denial.

Finally, the USDA appeals process does not allow for appeals that relate to discrimination.⁶⁸⁴ If a farmer has a discrimination issue to raise, the farmer must follow the USDA discrimination complaint process, which is described below.

III. Overview of Appeals Process and Options

In general, there are five main avenues that a farmer can take to appeal an adverse decision by USDA: (1) mediation; (2) reconsideration; (3) appealing to the FSA county committee; (4) appealing to the FSA state committee; and (5) appealing to the National Appeals Division (NAD) of USDA. In many cases, a farmer may take advantage of more than one of the appeals options. An overview of each of these appeals options is described in the sections that follow.

⁶⁷⁷ 7 C.F.R. § 780.5(a)(1) (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 2-4, para. 10.A (September 12, 2016).

⁶⁷⁸ 7 C.F.R. § 780.5(a)(1) (2020); CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30825, 30827 (May 21, 2020) (prefatory comments); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 2-4, para. 10.A (September 12, 2016).

⁶⁷⁹ FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 2-4, para. 10.A (September 12, 2016).

⁶⁸⁰ CFAP 1 Rule, 85 Fed. Reg. 30825, 30827 (May 21, 2020) (prefatory comments).

^{681 7} C.F.R. § 780.5(a)(1) (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, pages 2-6 and 2-7, para. 11.A-B (September 12, 2016)

⁶⁸² 7 C.F.R. § 780.5(a)(2) (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, pages 2-6 and 2-7, para. 11.A-B (September 12, 2016).

⁶⁸³ 7 C.F.R. § 780.5(a)(7) (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, pages 2-6 and 2-7, para. 11.A-B (September 12, 2016).

⁶⁸⁴ FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 2-50, para. 27.A, page 6-3, para. 72.B (September 12, 2016).

A. Request Mediation

If a farmer has been subject to an adverse decision, the farmer may request a mediation of that decision. Mediation is an informal appeals process, and the farmer may be required to pay for the cost of the mediation. To request mediation, the farmer must make a written request for reconsideration within thirty calendar days of when the farmer received the written adverse determination. A farmer may only mediate the same adverse decision once. Mediate the same adverse decision once.

A farmer cannot request mediation if the farmer first seeks to appeal the decision through NAD. 687

B. Request Reconsideration

If a farmer has been subject to an adverse decision, the farmer may request reconsideration of that decision. ⁶⁸⁸ To do so, the farmer must make a written request for reconsideration within thirty calendar days of when the farmer received the written adverse determination. The request should explain why the farmer believes FSA's decision was in error. If a farmer requests reconsideration, the farmer is entitled to have an informal hearing, either in person or over the telephone.

A farmer cannot request reconsideration if the farmer first seeks an appeal through any of the other four appeals avenues.⁶⁸⁹

C. Appeal to FSA County Committee

If a farmer has been subject to an adverse decision, the farmer may appeal to the farmer's local FSA county committee. ⁶⁹⁰ To do so, the farmer must write a letter to the county committee within thirty calendar days of receiving the adverse decision. The letter must explain why the farmer believes the committee's decision was in error. Under this type of appeal, the farmer would have a right to an informal hearing. If the farmer does not prevail on this appeal, the farmer can still appeal to the state committee or NAD.

D. Appeal to FSA State Committee

If a farmer has been subject to an adverse decision, the farmer may appeal to the farmer's state FSA committee, so long as the farmer has not already appealed to NAD. ⁶⁹¹ To appeal to the state committee, the farmer must write a letter to the state committee within thirty calendar days of receiving the adverse decision. The letter must explain why the farmer believes the committee's decision was in error.

^{685 7} C.F.R. § 780.9 (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 2-14, para. 14.E (September 12, 2016).

⁶⁸⁶ 7 C.F.R. § 780.9(b) (2020).

⁶⁸⁷ 7 C.F.R. § 780.7(a) (2020).

^{688 7} C.F.R. § 780.7 (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 2-13, para. 14.C (September 12, 2016).

⁶⁸⁹ 7 C.F.R. § 780.7(b) (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 2-13, para. 14.C (September 12, 2016).

⁶⁹⁰ 7 C.F.R. § 780.8 (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 2-12, para. 14.B (September 12, 2016).

⁶⁹¹ 7 C.F.R. § 780.10 (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 2-13, para. 14.D (September 12, 2016).

If the farmer does not prevail on an appeal to the state committee, the farmer can still request mediation (if the farmer has not already) or appeal to NAD.⁶⁹² The farmer may not, however, appeal to the county committee after having appealed to the state committee.

E. Appeal to National Appeals Division (NAD)

If a farmer has been subject to an adverse decision, the farmer may appeal to the National Appeals Division (NAD) of USDA.⁶⁹³ Although NAD is an organization within USDA, it is independent from all other offices and agencies within USDA.⁶⁹⁴ This means that NAD appeals are not handled by any of the same agencies that make the determinations for USDA programs, such as CFAP.

A NAD appeal generally begins when a farmer formally requests an appeal of an adverse decision. ⁶⁹⁵ This request must be in writing. If the request for a NAD appeal is accepted, the appeal will follow a specific process that is outlined, in detail, in an FSA Handbook. ⁶⁹⁶ In the typical case, there will be a pre-hearing conference, a time to submit evidence, and eventually an official hearing that can be by phone, in-person, or based only on the written record of what happened. ⁶⁹⁷

A NAD appeal is the final appeal within USDA that a farmer may make.⁶⁹⁸ Once a NAD appeal is over, the farmer cannot later attempt to mediate or appeal to the county or state committees. A lawsuit, however, may still be possible.

⁶⁹² 7 C.F.R. § 780.10 (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 2-13, para. 14.D (September 12, 2016).

⁶⁹³ 7 C.F.R. § 11.3 (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 2-15, para. 14.F (September 12, 2016). The rules for NAD appeals can be found in FSA Handbook, 1-APP (Revision 2), Program Appeals, Mediation, and Litigation (September 12, 2016). See also 7 C.F.R. pts. 11 and 780.

⁶⁹⁴ 7 C.F.R. § 11.2(a) (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 6-1, para. 71.B (September 12, 2016).

^{695 7} C.F.R. § 11.6(b) (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 6-7, para. 74.A (September 12, 2016).

⁶⁹⁶ For more details on how a NAD appeal works, see FSA Handbook, 1-APP, pt. 6 (September 12, 2016).

⁶⁹⁷ FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 6-41, para. 81.A, page 6-57, para. 88.B (September 12, 2016).

^{698 7} C.F.R. § 11.3 (2020); FSA Handbook, 1-APP, page 2-15, para. 14.F (September 12, 2016).

Chapter Nine: Discrimination is Illegal -- Filing a Complaint Against USDA

By law, USDA is prohibited from discriminating against the farmers is serves.⁶⁹⁹ USDA allows farmers and others to file discrimination complaints. The Office of the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights (OASCR) is responsible for investigating farmer discrimination complaints.

I. The Bases of Illegal Discrimination

USDA is prohibited from subjecting any person to discrimination.

USDA says USDA discrimination is prohibited if it is based on race, color, religion, sex, age, national origin, marital status, sexual orientation, familial status, disability, limited English proficiency, or because all or part of an individual's income comes from a public assistance program.⁷⁰⁰ USDA regulations add to that list: parental status, political beliefs, and gender identity.⁷⁰¹ USDA regulations say discrimination means the unlawful treatment or denial of benefits, services, rights or privileges.⁷⁰² Discrimination can mean being excluded from participation in programs or denial of benefits.

II. Right to File a Complaint

If someone feels they have been discriminated against by USDA for any of the above reasons, the person may file a discrimination complaint with the USDA Office of the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights (OASCR).⁷⁰³

III. Discrimination Complaint Form

USDA has a discrimination complaint form.⁷⁰⁴ The complaint form is available online.⁷⁰⁵ Farmers may also get a copy of the form by sending an email to USDA.⁷⁰⁶ Otherwise, farmers may write USDA to get a copy of the form.⁷⁰⁷

⁶⁹⁹ As USDA put it, "USDA prohibits discrimination against its customers." Filing a Program Discrimination Complaints as a USDA Customer, at: https://www.usda.gov/oascr/filing-program-discrimination-complaint-usda-customer (May 31, 2021).

USDA OASCR, Filing a Program Discrimination Complaint as a USDA Customer (November 4, 2020); USDA, Departmental Regulation no. 4330-003, Nondiscrimination in USDA-Conducted Programs and Activities § 5(j) (October 5, 2015), at: https://www.ocio.usda.gov/sites/default/files/docs/2012/DR%204330-003%20Nondiscrimination%20in%20USDA%20Conducted%20Programs%20and%20Activities.pdf.

⁷⁰¹ 7 C.F.R. §§ 15d.2, "Discrimination," 15d.3(a) (2020); USDA Complaint Form, AD-3027 (January 19, 2012). Political beliefs and gender identity have been a part of USDA regulations since 2014. See 79 Fed. Reg. 41406 (July 16, 2014) (codified at 7 C.F.R. part 15d).

⁷⁰² 7 C.F.R. § 15d.2, "Discrimination" (2020).

⁷⁰³ USDA, Nondiscrimination Regulation § 7(a)(1) (October 5, 2015). See USDA OASCR, How to File a Program Discrimination Complaint (May 31, 2021), at: https://www.usda.gov/oascr/how-to-file-a-program-discrimination-complaint.

The complaint is form AD-3027, USDA Program Discrimination Complaint Form.

⁷⁰⁵ USDA, Program Discrimination Complaint Form, AD-3027 (January 19, 2012), at https://www.usda.gov/sites/default/files/documents/usda-program-discrimination-complaint-form.pdf.

⁷⁰⁶ To receive a complaint form by email, send a request to <u>OAC@usda.gov</u>.

Written requests for the USDA Program Discrimination Complaint Form can be mailed to: U.S. Department of Agriculture Director, Center for Civil Rights Enforcement

Alternatively, farmers can write a letter instead of using the official USDA complaint form. ⁷⁰⁸ The letter needs to have all of the information that is requested on the complaint form, including information on when the discrimination took place, who discriminated against the farmer and how, and the basis of the discrimination (race, color, religion, sex, age, etc.). ⁷⁰⁹ Regardless of whether a farmer uses the official form or writes a letter, the complaint needs to describe the discrimination in enough detail for investigators to understand the nature and date of the discrimination. ⁷¹⁰ Either the farmer or an authorized representative must sign the form or letter.

IV. Filing a Complaint

To file a complaint, a person can use one of several methods.⁷¹¹ If the complaint goes to the wrong agency, the agency should forward it to OASCR within five calendar days of the date on which it was received.⁷¹²

A. Mail

A farmer can mail the complaint to USDA at this address:713

U.S. Department of Agriculture Director, Center for Civil Rights Enforcement 1400 Independence Avenue, SW Washington, DC 20250-9410

B. Fax

The complaint can be faxed to USDA at: (202) 690-7442.714

¹⁴⁰⁰ Independence Avenue, SW Washington, DC 20250-9410

^{708 7} C.F.R. § 15d.2, "Complaint" (2020); USDA OASCR, Filing a Program Discrimination Complaint as a USDA Customer (November 4, 2020); USDA OASCR, Program Discrimination Complaint Filing: Frequently Asked Questions (May 31, 2021), at: https://www.usda.gov/oascr/program-discrimination-complaint-filing.

⁷⁰⁹ See USDA Complaint Form, AD-3027 (January 19, 2012).

⁷¹⁰ 7 C.F.R. § 15d.2, "Complaint" (2020); For specific details on what to include in the letter, see USDA OASCR, How to File a Program Discrimination Complaint (May 31, 2021); USDA, Nondiscrimination Regulation § 5(f), "Complaint" (October 5, 2015).

USDA, Filing a Program Discrimination Complaint as a USDA Customer (May 31, 2021).

⁷¹² USDA, Nondiscrimination Regulation § 7(a)(3) (October 5, 2015).

USDA OASCR, How to File a Program Discrimination Complaint; USDA, Program Discrimination Complaint Filing: Frequently Asked Questions, "Where do I mail my program discrimination complaint?" (May 31, 2021).

For specific details on what to include in the letter, see USDA, How to File a Program Discrimination Complaint (May 31, 2021).

C. Email—With Signed Complaint Attached

The USDA website says farmers may use email to send in a complaint.⁷¹⁵ Complaints should be emailed to the following email address: program.intake@usda.gov. Farmers should make sure to attach a signed copy of the complaint to the email as well.⁷¹⁶

V. Help with the Discrimination Complaint Form

USDA says that for help filling out the discrimination complaint form, and for further information on filing a discrimination complaint, farmers can contact the Office of the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights (OASCR) at USDA.⁷¹⁷ Calls can be made to the following numbers:

Local: (202) 260-1026 Toll Free: (866) 632-9992

Local or Federal Relay: (800) 877-8339 Relay Voice User: (866) 377-8642

People who are deaf, hard of hearing, or have speech disabilities, may contact USDA through the Federal Relay Service at (800) 877-8338 or (800) 845-6136 (Spanish).⁷¹⁸

USDA says that persons with disabilities who require alternative means of communication of program information (Braille, large print, audiotape, etc.) should contact USDA's TARGET Center at (202) 720-2600.⁷¹⁹

Farmers also can email USDA for help at <u>CR-INFO@ascr.usda.gov</u>.

VI. Deadline to File a Discrimination Claim: 180 Days

Any discrimination complaint against USDA must be filed within 180 days of when the person complaining knew or should have known of the discrimination. The is possible to receive a waiver of this 180-day requirement if: (1) the discriminatory act could not reasonably have been expected to be known within 180 days; (2) illness or incapacitation prevented the filing of the complaint within 180 days; (3) the same complaint was filed with another Federal, state, or local

USDA Complaint Form, AD-3027 (January 19, 2012). At one point on the USDA website, USDA says that a complaint can be filed using email. See USDA, OASCR, Filing a Program Discrimination Complaint as a USDA Customer (May 31, 2021). At another place, however, USDA says that a program discrimination complaint may not be sent by email. See USDA, Program Discrimination Complaint Filing: Frequently Asked Questions, "Can I send my USDA program discrimination complaint to the Office of Adjudication by email?" (May 31, 2021).

⁷¹⁶ See USDA Complaint Form, AD-3027, page 1 (January 19, 2012).

USDA, Filing a Program Discrimination Complaint as a USDA Customer (May 31, 2021); USDA, Program Discrimination Complaint Filing: Frequently Asked Questions, "Who may I contact for further information on filing a program discrimination complaint?" (May 31, 2021).

⁷¹⁸ USDA, Filing a Program Discrimination Complaint as a USDA Customer (May 31, 2021).

⁷¹⁹ USDA, Filing a Program Discrimination Complaint as a USDA Customer (May 31, 2021).

^{720 7} C.F.R. § 15d.5(a) (2020); USDA, Filing a Discrimination Complaint (November 4, 2020); USDA, Program Discrimination Complaint Filing: Frequently Asked Questions, "How long do I have to file a USDA program discrimination complaint?" (May 31, 2021); USDA Complaint Form, AD-3027 (January 19, 2012); USDA, Nondiscrimination Regulation § 7(b)(1) (October 5, 2015).

agency; or (4) any other reason allowed by the Director of the Center for Civil Rights Enforcement.⁷²¹

VII. USDA Responses to Discrimination Complaints

After receiving the complaint, USDA says it will first decide if the complaint meets the legal requirements for processing.⁷²² It is possible USDA will ask the farmer for more information.⁷²³ If so, the farmer has thirty days to respond, although the farmer may ask for more time.⁷²⁴ If USDA decides the complaint is not to be accepted, USDA should send a letter to the farmer explaining why.

If USDA accepts the complaint, USDA will send a letter letting the farmer know this has happened, and that the complaint will be investigated.⁷²⁵ The USDA agency that is the basis of the discrimination complaint will write a response to the complaint. USDA will assign an investigator. The investigator will contact those involved, and get statements and documents relating to the complaint. The investigator will write a report about the investigation.⁷²⁶ According to USDA, a complaint investigation is an impartial process designed to obtain the facts and evidence relevant to whether there was discrimination.⁷²⁷

USDA will then analyze the complaint and the report to reach a final decision on the complaint.⁷²⁸ The decision should include an analysis of the claims and whether discrimination was found. USDA may conclude that the local USDA agency has adequately corrected the discrimination.⁷²⁹

If discrimination was found, USDA may try to settle the complaint and may take other corrective action.⁷³⁰ If not, discrimination is found the case is closed. The final decision will be mailed to the farmer.

VIII. Mediation

Along the way, USDA may offer mediation to the farmer.⁷³¹

⁷²¹ See USDA OASCR, How to File a Program Discrimination Complaint (May 31, 2021); USDA, Program Discrimination Complaint Filing: Frequently Asked Questions, "How do I request a waiver of the 180-day filing deadline?" (May 31, 2021); USDA, Nondiscrimination Regulation § 7(b)(2) (October 5, 2015). To request a waiver, contact USDA at (202) 260-1026 (local) or (866) 632-9992 (toll free), or email CR-INFO@usda.gov.

USDA, How to File a Discrimination Complaint (May 31, 2021); USDA, Nondiscrimination Regulation § 7(c)(1)-(2) (October 5, 2015).

⁷²³ USDA, Nondiscrimination Regulation § 7(c)(2) (October 5, 2015).

⁷²⁴ USDA, Nondiscrimination Regulation § 7(c)(4) (October 5, 2015).

USDA, Filing a Program Discrimination Complaint as a USDA Customer (May 31, 2021); 7 C.F.R. 15d.5(b) (2020); USDA, Nondiscrimination Regulation § 7(c)(6) (October 5, 2015).

⁷²⁶ The Report of Investigation will be available to the farmer through the Freedom of Information Act.

USDA, Nondiscrimination Regulation § 5(g), "Complaint Investigation" (October 5, 2015).

⁷²⁸ USDA, Nondiscrimination Regulation §§ 5(k), "Final Agency Decision," 7(f) (October 5, 2015).

USDA, Nondiscrimination Regulation § 7(f) (October 5, 2015).

⁷³⁰ USDA, Nondiscrimination Regulation §§ 5(1), "Settlement Agreement," 7(f) (October 5, 2015).

⁷³¹ USDA, Nondiscrimination Regulation § 7(d) (October 5, 2015).

IX. Disability Claims Somewhat Different

Claims of discrimination based on disability operate under somewhat different rules.⁷³²

X. Checking the Status of a Complaint

Farmers may check the status of a complaint by either calling or emailing USDA.733

Calls should be made to the Information Research Service of OASCR at either (202) 260-1026 (local), or (866) 632-9992 (toll free). ⁷³⁴ Individuals who are deaf, hard of hearing, or have speech disabilities, may contact OASCR using the Federal Relay Service, at (800) 877-8339 or (800) 845-6136 (Spanish).

Emails should be sent to the Information Research Service of OASCR, at <u>CR-INFO@usda.gov</u>.735

XI. Reprisals

USDA is not allowed to subject a person to reprisal for filing a complaint or opposing a discriminatory practice.⁷³⁶ That means USDA may not intimidate, threaten, harass, coerce, discriminate against, or otherwise retaliate against that person.⁷³⁷

XII. USDA Reporting on Discrimination Complaints

The 2008 Farm Bill required USDA to report on civil rights matters.⁷³⁸ USDA rules give responsibility for those reporting requirements to OASCR.⁷³⁹ USDA is required to report every year on discrimination complaints for each USDA agency. The report should describe, among other things: (1) the number of program complaints filed (this means farmer complaints, not employee complaints); (2) the time it took to process each complaint; and (3) the number of complaints that resulted in a finding of discrimination.⁷⁴⁰ Congress directed USDA to send the report to Congress and to make it available to the public on the USDA website. USDA regulations say that the responsibility for making these reports goes to the OASCR.

The last report was for the fiscal year 2019 and was completed in September 2020.741

⁷³² USDA, Nondiscrimination Regulation, § 7(f), (i) (October 5, 2015).

USDA, Program Discrimination Complaint Filing: Frequently Asked Questions, "How do I check the status of my program discrimination complaint?" (May 31, 2021).

USDA, Program Discrimination Complaint Filing: Frequently Asked Questions, "How do I check the status of my program discrimination complaint?" (May 31, 2021).

USDA, Program Discrimination Complaint Filing: Frequently Asked Questions, "How do I check the status of my program discrimination complaint?" (May 31, 2021).

^{736 7} C.F.R. § 15d(3)(b) (2020).

⁷³⁷ USDA Complaint Form, AD-3027 (January 19, 2012).

⁷³⁸ Food, Conservation, and Energy Act of 2008, Pub. L. 110-246, section 14007 (codified at 7 U.S.C. § 2279-2).

⁷³⁹ 7 C.F.R. §§ 2.25(a)(22), 15d.4(c) (2020).

⁷⁴⁰ 7 C.F.R. § 15d.4(b) (2020); Food, Conservation, and Energy Act of 2008, Pub. L. 110-246, section 14007 (codified at 7 U.S.C. § 2279-2). The number of personnel actions taken as a result should also be reported.

USDA, Report of Civil Rights Complaints, Resolutions, and Actions for Fiscal Year 2019 (2020), at: https://www.usda.gov/sites/default/files/documents/fy2019-civil-rights-complaints-report.pdf.

According to the September 2020 report, in fiscal year 2019, 260 program discrimination complaints were filed against USDA.⁷⁴² In fiscal year 2018, 277 program discrimination complaints were filed against USDA.

At the end of fiscal year 2019, there were 392 outstanding program discrimination complaints at USDA agencies.⁷⁴³ At the end of fiscal year 2018, there were 425 outstanding program discrimination complaints at USDA. These include complaints of discrimination based on race as well as other bases, such as age and disability.

The average processing time for a program complaint at USDA in fiscal year 2019 was 989 days.⁷⁴⁴ For the Farm Service Agency (FSA), the agency that implements CFAP 2, the average processing time for a discrimination complaint in 2019 was 2,293 days. For fiscal year 2018, the average processing time for a USDA program discrimination complaint was 1,030 days. For FSA, the average processing time for a discrimination complaint in fiscal year 2018 was 1,915 days.

In fiscal year 2019, USDA found discrimination in four cases. ⁷⁴⁵ In fiscal year 2019, thirty-eight program complaints were resolved with a settlement agreement. In fiscal year 2018, USDA found discrimination in a total of two cases. In fiscal year 2018, thirty-three program complaints were resolved with a settlement agreement.

XIII. Proposed Realignment at USDA in 2018

In 2018, USDA announced in the Federal Register that it was proposing a "realignment" of the Office of the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights (OASCR).⁷⁴⁶ In this document, USDA announced its intention to strengthen civil rights at USDA. Included in the intended proposals was the implementation of a timely, fair, transparent, and consistent approach to addressing discrimination complaints filed by farmers.⁷⁴⁷ At about the same time, USDA issued a Memorandum from the Secretary of Agriculture that described USDA's intention to strengthen civil rights management functions at USDA.⁷⁴⁸ The Memorandum describes some aspects of a bureaucratic realignment of USDA civil rights programs. It also says that OASCR plans to implement a timely, fair, transparent, and consistent approach to farmer discrimination complaints.⁷⁴⁹

There does not appear to be any public discussion from USDA of a follow-up to the Federal Register announcement or the Secretary's Memorandum.

⁷⁴² USDA, Report of Civil Rights Complaints, at 4 (2020).

⁷⁴³ USDA, Report of Civil Rights Complaints, at 4 (2020).

⁷⁴⁴ USDA, Report of Civil Rights Complaints, at 10 (2020).

⁷⁴⁵ USDA, Report of Civil Rights Complaints, at 12-13 (2020).

⁷⁴⁶ USDA, Strengthening Civil Rights Management, 85 Fed. Reg. 10,825 (March 13, 2018), at: https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2018/03/13/2018-05051/strengthening-civil-rights-management.

⁷⁴⁷ Strengthening Civil Rights Management, 85 Fed. Reg. 10,825, 10,826 (March 13, 2018).

⁷⁴⁸ USDA, Secretary's Memorandum 1076-023, Strengthening Civil Rights Management Functions (March 9, 2018), at https://www.ocio.usda.gov/sites/default/files/docs/2012/SM1076-023 Strengthening Civil Rights.pdf.

USDA, Secretary's Memorandum 1076-023, Strengthening Civil Rights Management Functions, para. 3 (March 9, 2018).

XIV. A Realistic View of the USDA Discrimination Complaint Process

On paper, and in theory, USDA has a discrimination complaint process that can work, OASCAR investigates discrimination complaints filed by farmers and decides if discrimination has taken place.

In the past USDA has had a great deal of difficulty conducting timely and effective civil rights investigations. 750 As the September 2020 report shows, USDA tends to have a hard time keeping up with discrimination complaints and is not often finding discrimination when they are completed. There are a number of settlements of complaints, but it is difficult to know the extent to which they provide relief for farmers. Long delays and gaps in USDA reporting on discrimination complaints is also not encouraging.

Lawsuit Also Possible: Beware of Statue of Limitations XV.

Filing a federal lawsuit is also possible. 751 There can be strict deadlines based on what is called the statute of limitations for a discrimination lawsuit. In addition, once a federal lawsuit is filed, USDA will close the discrimination complaint claim that is about the same issue as the lawsuit.752

⁷⁵⁰ See *Pigford v. Glickman*, 185 F.R.D. 82 (D.D.C. 1999).

USDA, Nondiscrimination Regulation § 7(a)(4), "Complaint Investigation" (October 5, 2015).
 USDA, Nondiscrimination Regulation § 7(a)(4), "Complaint Investigation" (October 5, 2015).